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ABSTRACT

This thesis investigates the impact of the Zaporozhian and Don Cossacks, particularly their
naval raids on the Biack Sea, on the relations between the Ottoman Empire, the Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealth, and Muséovy between the War of Xotyn’ and the fall of Khan
Mehmed Gerey and Kalga $ahin Gerey. In 1522, the Porte and the Commonwealth
attempted to settle their differences that had led to the Xotyn’ War, which proved
impossible because neither side could control their border populations, that is, the Tatars
and the Cossacks. Moreover, in 1623, the Bucak Tatar horde under Kantcmi; emerged
‘from the war stronger than ever and as a heightened threat to the Commonwealth no less
the Crimean Khanate. Meanwhile, by 1624, the Zaporozhiar Cossacks, often in
coogeration with the Don Cossacks, resumed raiding the Black Sea with an intensity at
least as great as pricr to the war. In 1624, the new rulers of the Crimea, Mehmed and
Sahin Gerey, defeated an Ottoman force sent to unseat them by obtaining the support of the
Zaporozhian Cossacks. After this incident, a mutual non-aggression and mutual defense
agreement was reached between Sahin Gerey and the Zaporozhian leadership. This was a
near alliance although it was only the Cossacks who aided their ally militarily, mostly on a
mercenary basis. In 1625, Cossack naval raiding activity on the Black Sea reached its all-
time height and there were even instances in which the Cossacks coordinated their raids
with Crimean interests. After a Polish suppression of the Ukrainian Cossacks in 1625-
1626, the Ottomans decided to take advantage of the consequent reduction in Cossack raids
to strengthen their defenses of the Black Sea by constructing two new fortresses on the
lower Dnieper. However, because of the difficulty to supply sufficient men and materiel
for such a task, they had to forego this project. Instead, they set about reorganizing the
finances of the lower Danubian basin in order to transfer tax revenues from it to the

fortresses guarding the northern frontier.
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Note on Transcription and Place Names

Ottoman phrases and texts are given in boldface type in a full transcription based on
the modern Turkish alphabet. Ottoman terms are rendered in italics in a simplified
transcription, that is, without the diacritics. However, the ‘ayn and hamza are retained in .
the simplified transcription. Full diacritics are used for the occurrences of the first
bibliographic references to Ottoman works. Terms in East Slavic are transcribed according
to the International System.

Terms which have become part of the English language (e.g., hetman, pasha, '
firman, and Islamic months) are not italicized. The English reference standard is
Webster's Third International Dictionary of the English Language Unabridged,
Springfield, Mass.: Merriam-Webster, 1966

- Passages cited in the Polish, French, and English are rendered in modern
orthography. Occasionally, plurals of Ottoman or Turkish terms are given with the Turkish
(-ler/-lar), rather than the English, plural suffix. Ottoman or Turkish terms in indefinite
izafet construction are also given in the original form (e.g., Ozi beglerbegi rather than Ozi
beglerbeg). Plurals of terms of Arabic origin are usually given in the Turkish rendering of
the Arabic form (e.g., mukata‘at and evkaf, rather than mukata‘as and vafks). All
Arabic plurals are cross-referenced to the singular form in the glossary.

Dates occurring in the sources according to the Muslim lunar calendar (hicri) are
usually given first in the original form and then in their Gregorian calendar equivalent.
When hicri years are given without the equivalent Gregorian date, they are usually
preceded by A.H. (Anno Hegirae). Dates occurring in the sources according to the Julian
calendar are given first in that form, and then followed by the contemporary Gregorian
form. For the period of this study, the Julian calendar was ten days behind the Gregorian
calendar.

Most place-names are rendered in their modern form according to the language of

the given country. However some important or well-known place-names, especially those
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in the Ottoman Empire, are given in their historical form (e.g., Azak for Azov, Ozi for
Ogakiv, Akkerman for Bilhorod-Dnistrovs’kyj). In all such cases, on first occurrence, the

modern form is given in parentheses.
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PART I

THE RELATIONS OF THE PORTE
AND
THE NORTHERN COUNTRIES, 1622-1628

— - — -
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INTRODUCTION

From the second half of the fifteenth until nearly the end of the eighteenth century, the
northern Black Sea region, from Bessarabia and Moldavia in the west to the Don and the
Kuban’ River basirs in the east, was the frontier zone between the Ottoman Empire, on one
side, and the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth and the Muscovite State, on the other.
During this period, none of these powers had serious, long-term ambitions of :king full
control of the northern Black Sea steppes, although at times, groupings within these
empires attempted to bring about an active, expansionist Black Sea policy.

After the fall of Constantinople in 1453, the entry of the Ottomans into the Black
Sea region (including the Sea of Azov) and the takeover of strategic fortresses on all its
coasts (especially those on the northwestern and northern shores) led to virtually
unchallenged Ottoman control of the sea until the end of the sixteenth century.! The
Ottoman Porte, having strategic and economic control of the sea, had no interest in
expanding north from the rim of the Black Sea and beyond. As for the northern powers,
their ambitions in other directions, problems with neighbors and between themselves, and
in the case of Muscovy in particular, internal problems (and the subsequent necessity of

rebuilding from within), precluded systematic expansion to the shores of the Black Sea.

10n Ottoman concerns in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries that no power north of the Black Sea
become powerful enough to challenge its dominion over the Black Sea, see Halil Inalcik, “The Origin of
the Ottoman-Russian Rivalry and the Don-Volga Canal (1569),” Annales de I’ Université d’Ankara 1
(1947): 47-110; on the Ottoman closing of the Black Sea see Halil Inalcik, “The Question of the Closing
of the Black Sea Under the Ottomans,” Apyeiov ITovrov, Athens, 1979: 74-110.
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However, there was another factor determining the posture of these empires toward
the northern Black Sea frontier zone. Looking at the map of the southern, steppe Ukraine
and adioining territories, today a developed and populated region, it is easy to overlook
what 2 barrier it was for all three powers, from the perspective of our sedentary and
urbanized civilization. This region, known to the Slavs as “the Wild Field” (e.g., in
Polish, Dzikie Pola), and to the Turkic peoples as “the Kipchak steppe” (Degt-i Kipgak),
was from time immemorial a region that major sedentary powers, such as the Byzantine
Empire or Kievan Rus’, could not conquer and settle, though there were periods in which '
they achieved some degree of control over it. There are two basic reasons why the steppe
was so formidable: First, its physical characteristics—its vastness, harsh extremes of
climate, and the difficulty of keeping large armies supplied there for any length of time, and
second, its inhabitants—illusive nomadic peoples capable of combining into confederaticns
with a military prowess that, together with their mobility and knowledge of the terrain,
made them challenging opponents to their often militarily superior sedentary neighbors.

On entering the Black Sea in the fifteenth ceniury, the Ottomans demonstrated an
understanding of the nature of the northern Black Sea steppe. Having established a
beachhead on the coast by taking key fortress stronghoids, they did not even attempt
congquest beyond. Instead, they estabiished a suzerain-vassal relationship with the
combined sedentary and nomadic Tatar state, the Crimean Khanate. The relationship,
although not without its pericdic and serious problems, afforded the Porte sufficient
influence among the Crimean and Nogay Tatars north of the Crimea to manipulate the
steppe region in its favor. This was achieved above all by establishing a mutually
beneficial economic relationship with the Tatars. Soon after the Ottoman entry ints the
Black Sea, the Tatars, who previously engaged in sporadic raiding for slaves, began to
mount perennial raids into the southern regions of Poland-Lithuania (mainly the Ukraine)
and Muscovy to obtain captives for the large Ottoman slave market. This important

development set the stage for the ensuing centuries. Once the Ottomans managed to be thic
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first not only to take control of the Black Sea but to establish a relationship with the
inhabitants of the steppe region adjoining the sea, they in effect locked their northern
neighbors out of the Black Sea region for several hundred years.

More than a century after their takeover of the Biack Sea, the Ottomans faced a
serious challenge, not from their mighty northern neighbors, Poland-Lithuania and
Musco;ly, but from their neighbors’ steppe frontier subjects, the Ukrainian Zaporozhian
Cossacks and the Russian Don Cossacks. Descending down the Dnieper and Don river
basins by land and water, the Cossécks raided the northern possessions of the Ottoman
Empire, at times causing serious problems on the northern coast throughout the sixteenth
century. However, beginning with the last decade of the sixteenth century, the Cossacks
began regularly to raid Ottoman settlements and fortresses, as well as commercial and
military sea traffic, on all shores of the Black Sea. During the first half of the seventeenth
century, the Cossacks repeatedly raided and even sacked many important cities (not to
mention towns and villages), such as Akkerman, Kili, and Varna on the Rumeli coast,
Sinop, Samsun, and Trabzon on the Anatolian coast, and even the suburbs of Istanbul in
the Bosphorus. The prosperous “Ottoman lake” became a very dangerous region and its
economy faced a serious threat. No longer could the Porte take the Black Sea for granted
as a region for its exclusive exploitation.

The Cossack and Tatar raids had serious repercussions on the relations between the
Porte and the northern countries. Each state tried to exert diplomatic pressure on the other
to control its frontier subjects. And when one power claimed that the subjec:: of the other
were responsible for an incursion, the response would often be that it was in fact the
accuser's subjects who had provoked the incursion by one of their own. The real problem
was that neither the Ottomans nor the Poles and Muscovites could consistently control their

_ frontier populations. One reason for this situation was that the central powers were usually

unwilling or unable to devote the necessary resources to move in and take control of their

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



unruly ﬁonﬁe;smen because of interests or problems on other fronts. The remoteness of
the frontier zone made such attempts seem costly and impractical.

Another problem was that, in the case of the Porte and the Crown, they relied on
the existence of the Tatars and Cossacks. The demand for slaves by the Ottoman market
has aiready been mentioned. As for Poland-Lithuania, the Ukrainian Cossacks, as a
musket-bearing infantry force, were a relatively inexpensive source of troops, and when
the need arose, the Crown actively recruited them to participate in its foreign wars.
However, when there was no longer a need for the services of the Cossacks, the Crown
tried to demobilize them, not only refusing to pay them, but insisting that they leave the
Cossack way of life and return to their previous station, which usually meant serfdom.
Most Cossacks refused to return, however, and lived instead by robbery and pillage,
particularly on Iands of the Crown 2nd the nobility.

During the first half of the seventeenth century, it seems to have been a universal
phenomenon that once a peasant left the land and took up the profession of the musket, it
was nearly impossible to force him to return to the land. During the same period, the
Ottoman Empire faced a similar problem with its segbans, that is, peasants who in times of
need were hired to serve as musket-bearing troops. Halil Inalcik has shown how the
segbans formed mercenary-type companics, which in time of peace, rather than
demobilizing and returning to the land, would maintain their organization, living off the
land by plunder and expropriation, and challenging the central government and its army.2
The same “mercenary syndrome” applied to the Ukrainian Cossacks, prior to the formation
of the Hetmanate (1648). In the Ukraine, the efusal of Cossacks to leave their way of life
also led to periodic revolts against the central government from the 1590s through thie

middle of the seventeenth century. In the 1570s, the Crown tried to compromise with

2Halil Inalcik, “Military and Fiscal Transformation in the Ottoman Empire, 1600-1700,” Archivum
Ottomanicum 6 (1980): 283-337, esp. pp. 288-311.
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Cossack demands by recognizing a limited number of them as military servants of the state
who would be on its payroll. Because the list was known as “the register,” these Cossacks
became known as registered Cossacks. Originally the register had 300 names, then 1,000,
and in the second decade of the seventeenth century, the number was raised to 6,000.
However, these low figures mean that the vast majoriiy of those who had adopted the
Cossack way of life were beyond the register, and their status was illegal in the eyes of the
state.

Population pressure appears to have been one of the basic underlying causes of the
Cossack probler;x in the Commonwealth. During the first half of the seventeenth century,
there was a great increase in the population of the Ukraine. This population increase,
combined with increased demands on the serf populations by the landlords, resulted in a
great number of serfs leaving the landlords’ estates and moving into the steppe to colonize
or beyond the Dnieper rapids, that is, to thc Zaporizhia3 Subsistence living in the
Zaporizkia, both through raids on the neighboring Tatars and on caravans, as well as
through hunting, fishing, and beekeeping, was an old and viable mode of escaping the
restrictions of the state.4 However, in the first half of the seventeenth century, the great
population increase meant that living off the steppe was no longer a viable escape valve, for
the steppe as it was being exploited then simply could not support so many new arrivals,
Thus the increase in population pressure, combined with the attempts of the Crown to
restrict the number of Cossacks, helps explain why there was such an increase in the
number of Cossack raids on Tatar and Ottoman lands to the south in the first half of the

seventeenth century.

3E.g., O. L. Baranovy&, Ukraina nakanune osvoboditel'naj vojny serediny XVII v., Moscow:
Izdatel’stvo Akademii niauk SSSR, 1959, pp. 51-131.

4See Myxajlo Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 7, Kiev, 1909; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-
spilka, 1956, pp. 48-88.
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The case of the Don Cossacks was somewhat different from that of the
Zaporozhians. Although they were also largely fugitives from serfdom and oppression, in
the first decades of the seventeenth century there was obviously no comparable population
pressure in Muscovy. During this time, there were far fewer Don Cossacks than
Zaporozhians,® and, as will be seen, there was in fact an influx of Zapbrozhians into the
Don River basin. Without the population surge and because the Don Cossacks were on the
whole much more isolated from Muscovy than were the Zaporozhians from the
Commonwealth, the mercenary syndrome does not really apply to the Don Cossacks.
Unlike the Z;aporozhian Host, which was a highly organized military confraternity, the Don
Cossacks were much more of a bandit-type of phenomenon. They were satisfied to rob or
protect merchant caravans, raid the Nogays for livestock, and attack Ottoman shipping.
These activities were also characteristic of the Zaporozhians, but unlike the Don Cossacks,
the former, in the first half of the seventeenth century, had pretensions of being an order of
knights or séparate estate, and were invoived in the politics of the Commonwealth, most
significantly, in the religious-national movement of the Orthodox Ruthenians (Ukrainians
and Belorussians). The “vistas for raiding” of the Don Cossacks were also much broader
than those of the Zaporozhians. While for the latter the great attraction was the Black Sea,
along with the Crimea and Moldavia, for the Don Cossacks, in addition to the Black Sea
and the Crimea, there were the Sea of Azov and the Caspian Sea as well as the Great and
Lesser Nogays and their horse herds. In an appendix compiled by Ju. P. Tusin listing
Cossack raids of the Black Sea, Sea of Azov, and Caspian Sea in the seventeenth century,
for the Black Sea there is a preponderance of Zaporozhian raids in the first three decades of
the century, while in the fourth and fifth decades, the balance shifts to the favor of the Don

51. F. Bykadarov, Donskoe Vojsko v bor’be za vyxod v more (1546-1646 g.), Paris: Izdatel’ A. E.
Alimov, 1937, pp. 55-56.
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Cossacks.6 Although given the state of the study of the Cossack naval raids, it is
premature to make a hard and fast conclusion, from the evidence to be presented below, it
appears that at least in the 1620s the Zaporozhians were much more active on the Black Sea
than the Don Cossacks.

As a basic problem in the history of the Black Sea region, it would be appropriate to
study the phenomenon of the Cossack raids for the entire period of Cossack ascendancy on
the Black Sea, namely, from the last decade of the sixteenth to the middle of the
seventeenth century.” That, however, is a task too large to undertake here. Instead my
objective is to treat in detail the better part of a decade in which Cossack activity on the
Black Sea reached new heights and the new power and assertiveness of the Zaporozhians
in particuiar coincided and resonated with an attempt by the rulers of the Crimea, Khan
Mehmed Gerey and his brother, kalga Sahin Gerey, to wrest their polity from Ottoman
control and forge a more independent path. Although during this period the Don Cossacks
were not nearly as active on the sea as the Zaporozhians, they are also included in the
survey of events. Particularly during the 1620s, the Zaporozhian and Don Cossacks often
sailed together on raiding expeditions while in certain years, the former often used the Don
River as a convenient base of operations. In the Ottoman éc;urces, there is often no
indication of which Cossacks executed a particular raid. Moreover, from the point of view
of the Ottomans, the Cossacks comprised one problem even though at this time the Don
and Zaporozhian Cossacks had very different attitudes toward their respective suzerain

states.

6Yu, P. Tusin, Russkoe moreplavanie na Kaspijskom, Azovskom i Cernom morjax (X VII vek), Moscow:
Izdatel’stvo «Nauka», Glavnaja redakcija vostotnoj literatury, 1978, pp. 162-70, esp. 162-66.

7 After 1648 the Ukrainian Cossacks were no longer a factor on the Black Sea because in that year
Hetman Xmel’nyc’kyj burned all the Cossack boats as a condition of his treaty with Khan Islam Gerey IIl
(Omeljan Pritsak, “Das Erste Tiirkisch-Ukrainische Biindnis (1648),” Oriens 6 (1953): 266-98, esp. pp.
269-70).
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Part I of this work is devoted to presentation of the problems of the Black Sea
frontier, in particular, the Cossack raids in the context of relations between the Porte and
the northern powers from 1622 to 1628. Chapter I treats the attempts by the Crown and
Porte to reconcile their differences after the War of Xotyn’, a conflict which failed to
resolve any of the problems that brought it about. The issue of the Bucak Tatar horde and
its effe.ct on the relations between the Porte and Crown is introduced. Chapter II chronicles
the coming to power of Mehmed and Sahin Gerey in 1623, and in 1624, their conflict with
the Ottomans and the Bucak and their rapprochement with the Zaporozhian Cossacks. In
Chapter III, the complex situation in the region is portfayqd in the context of the new
relationship berweeﬂ‘&.-a-@ri‘fffga; i(hémate and the Zaporoszians, the un;;fecedented height
of Cossack activity in the Black Sea in 1625, and the suppression of the Cossacks by the
Commonwealth and its aftermath in late 1625 and 1626. Chapter IV presents the Ottoman
attempt to come to terms with the Cossack problem by strengthening their defenses of the
Black Sea in 1627, and the new emergency the Otiomans faced in the region in 1628
caused by a renewal of conflict between Sahin Gerey and Kantemir, chief of the Bucak

Tatars.

For an understanding of the impact of the Black Sea raids on the Ottoman state and
economy, it is necessary to have some idea of what the Ottoman response to the raids was,
both militarily and administrative. Until now, there have been no works on the subject of
the Ottoman defense of the Black Sea against the Cossacks. Part II is devoted to such an
inquiry based on Ottoman sources that have been little or not at all used in general, and
never before used for a study of this topic. The main source is a register of orders or
firmans (defter-i ordu-i miihimme, see below) issued by grand admirai vizier Hasan
Pasha during two consecutive campaigns to the northern Black Sea, in 1627 and 1628.

" The firmans provide a different perspective on the events recounted in Chapter IV. That is,

they give a detailed insider’s view of the intricacies and difficulties of an Ottoman
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commander’s role cn an expedition in the Black Sea designed to bolster the region’s
defense and reassert control in a portion of it. Another register examined in Chapter IV is
of tax revenues assigned to pay for the salaries of fortress garrisons guarding the northern
shore of the Black Sea. This Ottoman tax register has not hitherto been encountered i
Ottoman stndies. In addition, there is a muster register (yoklama defteri) listing provincial
troops that reported for duty on Hasan Pasha’s campaigns. Much of Part II is devoted to
an analysis of these original sources. Without such an analysis, the contents of these
sources would remain inaccessible and their significance unappreciated. Because our
understanding of many Ottoman institutions in the seventeenth century is still rudimentary,

the interpretation of some aspects of these sources will necessarily remain open to question.

The end of the sixteenth century saw a marked deterioration in the relations between
the Ottoman Empire and the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth. The sources of friction
between the twc states remained the same as before—the incursions of the Tatars and
Cossacks and disagreements over the status of Moldavia. Peace and stability on the Black
Sea frontier was a high priority for the Porte, since during this period it was involved in the
most difficult wars it had ever faced—in Hungary, with the Habsburé Empire (1593-
1606), and in the east, with the Safavids (1578-1590, 1603-1618). During this period,
most of the trouble originated with the subjects of the Commonwealth, namely, from raids
of the Zaporozhian Cossacks. Given the increasing toll the Cossack raids were taking in
Ottoman lives and on the economy of the Black Sea, relations between the Porte and the
Commonwealth could only deteriorate. But during this period, there were also frequent
interventions in Mo'davia by Polish as well as by Cossack forces, both with and without
Warsaw’s sanction. n general, there was a marked increase in the Commonwealth’s

influence in both Moldavia and Wallachia—the voyvodas were appointed and dismissed
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according to the will of the Crown and at times were even obliged to pay tribute to the
Crown.8

The massive participation by the Ukrainian Cossacks in Warsaw’s adventures in
Muscovy during the Time of Troubles had an eventual adverse effect on the relations
between the Commonwealth and the Porte. Tens of thousands of Cossacks helped fill the
demand for troops by joiring the cause of the Crown. The attraction to the freebooting
warrior existence was such that, despite casualties, the Cossack population swelled during
the Troubles. At the end of the Commonwealth’s intervention in 1613, the government
acted as a typic'al client no longer in need of the services of his mercenary force, and
attempted to demobilize the Cossacks. The government attempted to use military force to
pacify the Cossack armies who were returning from Muscovy and plundering noble estates
and other property in Belorussia and the Ukraine, albeit with the usual scant success.
Faced with unemployment and repression, many Cossacks were left with no choice but to
head south in search of a living at the cost of their Tata'r, Moldavian, and above all, Turkish
neighbors. Just as the campaigns in Muscovy began to wind down, a surge began in the
raiding activity of the Ukrainian Cossacks that would reach unprecedented and indeed
tremendous proportions. This was true even though during the Time of Troubles itself, the
level of Cossack activity in the Black Sea had already reached an all-time high. Thus, thg
period after 1613 has been referred to as the “heroic age” of the Zaporozhian Cossacks. In

the years leading up to the War of Xotyn’ (1621) even the larger cities, such Kefe, Varna,

$This introductory discussion of Ottoran-Polish-Lithuanian relations, from the late sixteenth century
through the war of Xotyn’ (1621), is based on the following: N. Jorga, Geschichte des Osmanischen
Reiches, 3, Gotha: Friedrich Anrd:zas Perthes, 1910, pp. 358-76; D. Doro$enko and J. Rypka, “Polsko,
Ukrajina, Krym a Vysoka Porta v prvni pol. XVIL. stol,” Casopis Narodniho Musea 109 (1935) [Prague):
19-49; C. Max Kortepeter, Ottoman Imperialism during the Reformation: Europe and the Caucasus,
New York/London: New York University Press/London University Press, 1972, pp. 104-244; A. A,
Novosel'skij, Bor'ba Moskovskogo gosudarstva s tatarami v pervoj polovine XVII veka. Moscow and
Leningrad: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, 1948, pp. 45-46, 98-104; Dorothy M. Vaughan, Europe and
the Turk: A Pattern of Alliances, 1350-1700, Liverpool: At the University Press, 1954, 191-204; Henryk
Wisner, “Dyplomatyka polska w latach 1572-1648,” in Historia dyplomacji polskiej, 2: 1572-1795, ed.
Zbigniew Wojcik, Warsaw: Pafistwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1982, pp. 70-87.
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Trabzen, and Sinop, were sacked, and for the first time, Cossack flotillas appeared in the
Bosphorus, the very threshold of the Sublime Porte.?

As if the Cossack depredations in Ottoman territories were not enough, at the same
time, the interventions into Moldavia by Polish nobles also escalated. An unsuccessful
Moldavian campaign in 1612 headed by Stefan Potocki, who had just returned from
campaigning in Muscovy, was answered with a large and devastating Tatar raid into
Podolia in 1613. In the following years, despite attempts by the Commonwealth to bridle
their Cossacks and discourage szlachta intervention in Moldavia, a full-scale Ottoman
military reaction seemed unavoidable. A common scenario: the Crown manages to placate
the Porte, reassuring it that, in the case of the Cossacks, a strong hand would be applied to
them. No sooner than the assurances have been proffered, news arrives (often while the
Crown diplomat is still at the Porte), that a large Cossack raid has occurred somewhere in
the Black Sea. (A similar situation had existed in the sixteenth century with regard to the
Tatars, that.is, Ottoman reassurances in Warsaw that unprovoked raids by the Crimean
Tatars would definitely cease would often be followed by news of a new incursion). By
the second half of the 1610s, the relations between the Porte and Crown deteriorated to
open conflict. In 1617, armies were mobilized on both sides and brought face to face.
Only last minute negotiations.managed to avert the outbreak of open war. However, in
1620, a Polish army led by Crown hetman Zétkiewski entered Moldavia to defend its
client, the Moldavian voyvoda Gratiani, who faced deposition by the Porte, only to be
destroyed in a battle at Cecora (near Iagi). This incursion, combined with 'unccasing
Zaporozhian activity on the Black Sea, was the last straw. In the following year, Sultan
‘Osman II mounted a full expedition against the Commonwealth, which he led personally.
The result was the War of Xotyn’ in which the Ottomans and the Crimean and Bucak

Tatars faced the Crown army and the Ukrainian Cossacks. ‘Osman’s stated goal was to

9See Hrusevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 342 ff.
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punish and destroy the Commonwealth for its unending provocations. After several weeks

of intense fighting, neither side was ciearly ihe vicior and an armistice was reached.

Although the war was a military standoff, the real losers were the Ottomans since they had

mobilized a large force, suffered great losses but achieved nothing. Eventually this loss
would lead to the fall of the young sultan who was the inspiration behind the campaigning.
As for the Commonwealth, it was the Cossacks who played a crucial role in enabling the

Crown to withstand the Ottoman onslaught.

In the last decade of the sixteeh£h and Ecginning of the seventeenth centuries,
relations between Muscovy and the Ottoman Empire improved. In the prior decade, the
Ottomans, alarmed at the strengthened position of Muscovy in the northern Caucasus, their
resubjugation of the Great Nogay horde, and intrigues in the affairs of the Crimean
Khanate, began to revive their active policy of almost two decades prior and even made
preparations for another expedition to take Astrakhan, this time proceeding across the
steppes of the northern Caucasus. However, the situation was deffused by a combination
of peace overtures by Muscovite envoys sent to Istanbul and Ottoman loss of interest in
further expansion in the Caucasus, the latter being satisfied to consolidate their gains in the
region at the expense of the Safavids. In 1590, peace was concluded with Iran and in the
following years (1592, 1594), as the Ottomans prepared for war in Hungary, peace with
Muscovy was confirmed through a series of embassies. 10

From the 1590s until the Time of Troubles, a status quo was maintained in the
relations between the Porte and the Tsardom. In the early 1590s, Moscow spurned offers

from both the west (Papacy, the Empire) and east (Iran) to participate ir: an anti-Ottoman

10This introductory discussion of Ottoman-Muscovite relations is based on N. A. Smimov, Rossija i
Turcija v XVI-XVII vv., 1, Utenye zapiski, 94, Moscow: Izdanie MGU, 1946, pp. 125-59; A. A.
Novosel’skij’s review article of Smirnov, Rossija i Turcija in Voprosy istorii 1948, no. 2: 131-38; Halil
inalcik, “The Origin of the Ottoman-Russian Rivalry and the Don-Volga Canal (1569),” Annales de
I'Université d’'Ankara 1 (1947): 47-110, esp. pp. 92-97; Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, pp. 9-104; W. E. D.
Allen, Problems of Turkish Power in the Sixteenth Century, London: Central Asian Research Centre,
1963, pp. 34-38; Kortepeter, Ottoman Imperialism, pp. 90-233.
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league, considering them unrealistic and dangerous. Moreover, Moscow traditionally
sought to have good relations with the Porte. Of the three powers in the region, Muscovy
had the least interest in expanding toward the Black Sea. Its main priorities lay in other
directions, namely the Baltic, the Volga, and Siberia. Particularly important was its luxury
trade with Safavid Iran whose textiles, clothing, rugs, saddles, and other precious items
were iﬂ great demand in the Muscovite court. Moscow took great pains to maintain its
neutrality in the struggles between the Ottomans zid the Safavids, avoiding at all costs
situations that might provoke the Otiomans to, for example, make a move against Muscovy
in the Caucasus which could cut off access to Iran. As far as the Ottomans were
concerned, the Don Cossacks were a serious cause for concern. In the 1590s the Don
Cossacks increased their raiding activity in the vicinity of Azak, affecting the Ottoman local
trade and economy. To Ottoman protests in Moscow, the usual reply was that these
Cossacks were criminals and vagabonds, disobedient to the tsar. Indeed, Moscow wanted
to have nothing to do with the Don Cossacks, who only complicated its relations with the
Porte.. In fact, during Tsar Boris Godunov’s years, Moscow pursued a harsh and
repressive policy toward them.

Until the early seventeenth century, the Tatars were engaged on behalf of the
Ottomans, with ample opportunities for raiding in Hungary, Moldavia, and even the
Commonwealth. However, during the Time of Troubles, Muscovy’s situation vis-a@-vis
the Tatars changed drastically. In 1607 the Commonwealth managed to draw the Khanate
into attacking Muscovy as its own forces prepared to intervene on behalf of the second
False Dimitrij. Throughout the Troubles, Muscovy was the target of annual Crimean and
Nogay Tatar raiding activity, which played a definite role in the successes of the
intervening armies of the Commonwealth. In fact, Muscovy saw no respite from Tatar

_ raids until 1617, when deteriorating relations between the Porte and Crown brought a shift
in the Tatar raids toward the Commonwealth. During the Troubles, there were no

diplomatic missions, in either direction, between the Porte and Moscow.
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In the late 1610s, relations between Muscovy and the Poite improved and the
Commonwealth loomed increasingly as the common enemy. While the Ottomans were
edging toward war with the Crown, Moscow saw an early opportunity to regain its
territories lost to the Commonwealth in the previous years. In 1621, as ‘dsman’s army
moved on the Commonwealth, an envoy, Toma Kantacuzin, was sent tc Moscow to obtain
a military alliance against Warsaw. In Moscow this proposal was very seriously
considered and an assembly of the land (zémskij sobor) was even called to approve joining
the Ottomans in their war with the Crown. However, the Xotyn’ War ended, and
Kantacuzin arrived in Moscow tco late for Moscow to begin operations. And so the plan
for an anti-Commonwealth alliance had to be set aside, although negotiations would
continue in the following years.

With the accession of Tsar Mixail Fedorovi€ to the throne, Muscovite policy toward
the Don Cossacks changed. Instead of persecuting and restricting them, they were again
allowed to travel and trade in Muscovy and were even paid regualar subsidies by the state
consisting of food products, wine, textiles, and cash. However, this policy was not
motivated by a newfound sympathy for the Don Cossacks, whose raids near Azak and on
the Sea of Azov still elicited angry rebukes from Moscow. Rather it was a pragmatic move
brought about by an admission that nothing could be done to stop the Don Cossack raids
completely, but that by paying them annual subsidy, Moscow could induce them to make
peace with Azak and ihe Tatars in its vicinity (the so-called Azovskie ljudi). At the very
least, Moscow required that in return for these subsidies the Cossacks promise to escort
Muscovite envoys to the Ottomans and to the Crimea to and from Azak and to above all
refrain from any raiding while Muscovite envoys were on a diplomatic mission to the Porte

or the Crimea.

The problems of the Cossack raids on the Black Sea, their effect on the relations

between the Porte, Commonwealth, and, Muscovy, and iii¢ Citoman defense of the region
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in the first half of the seventeenth century have never been the subject of full treatments.
However, in Ukrainian, Polish, and Russian historiography, there are a few excellent
studies on the period which either touch upon or focus on the problem of the Cossacks and
the relations of the northern powers to the Ottomans in the 1620s. Deserving first mention
is the earliest modern historian who dealt with the problems of the Ukrainian Cossacks
during the 1620s, Stefan Rudnyc’kyj. In two long articles, he provided a survey of the
published sources as well as a critical analysis of the main problems facing Ukrainian
Cossackdom during this decade, and its relationship with the Polish-Lithuanian Crown and
neighboring co'untries.11 Although some of his views are today outdated, these two
ground-breaking articles provided part of the foundation for the relevant work of Myxajlo
HruSevs’kyj, the dean of modern Ukrainian historiography. In the seventh and eighth
volumes of his History of the Ukraine-Rus’, HruSevs’kyj gave a thorough and synthetic
treatment of the Ukrainian Cossacks on the basis of the published sources and most of the
relevant Polish manuscript material extant at hi§ time in Lviv, Cracow, and St.
Petersburg.!?2 In his work, Ukrainian Cossackdom in the 1620s comes forth as a new
player on the international scene, confident from its recent exploits in Muscovy during the
Time of Troubles, in the Black Sea, and during the War of Xotyn’, and eager to enter into
various alliances with its neighbors, as well as to intervene in their affairs. It was
HruSevs’kyj who first appreciated the international significance of the rapprochement,
which he considered a full-fledged alliance, between the Zaporozhian Cossacks and the
Crimean Khanate. He documented the Zaporozhian Cossack raids on the Black Sea as
thoroughly as his sources allowed him (mainly the Polish sources, the published French

ambassadorial reports, the English ambassadoriai reports as available in excerpted

11gtefan Rudnyc’kyj, “Kozacko-pol’ska vijna r. 1625,” Zapysky Naukovoho Tovarystva im. Sevienka
17 (1897): 1-42; , “Ukrajins’ki kozaky v 1625-30 rr.,” Zapysky Naukovoho Tovarystva im.
Sev&enka 31-32 (1899): 1-76.

12Myxajlo HruSevs'kyj, Istorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 7-8. Kiev, 1909-1922; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-
Spilka, 1956.
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published translations, and the selected sections relevant to Polish history in the Ottoman
chronicle of Na‘ima translated by Sekowski). From his chronicling of Cossack naval
raiding activity, the degree to which they were capable of upsetting relations between the
Crown and the Porte, and how the policies of the Crown often left them with no alternative
but to “ply their trade on the sea” become evident. However, even HruSevs’kyj was
limited in his ability to fully assess the degree to which the Cossacks threatened the
Otioman Empire because he was not concerned with the history of the Ottoman Empire per
se. ‘
After the Second World War, an important work by the Polish historian Bohdan
Baranowski appeared on the relations of Poland and the Tatars from 1624-1629.13 This
work provides an excellent account of the difficulties and opportunities the Commonwealth
faced on its Ukrainian borderlands in connection with the political upheaval in the Crimea
during the reign of Mehmed and $ahin Gerey. Baranowski was the first to fully appreciate
the significance of the rise of a new Tatar power in the Bucak (southern Bessarabia),
headed by Kantemir. His development of the notion of two usually hostile “Tatardoms” is
an important and original contribution to our understanding of the region’s history.
Baranowski not only covered much the same Polish source base as Rudiiyc’kyj and
Hrusevs’kyj, but went further. He added some new Polish material, particularly from the
Kérnik Library near Poznan, and more important, utilized some of the Ottoman and Tatar
originals as well as official Crown translations held today in the Main Archive of Ancient
Acts in Warsaw. Although Baranowski deals with Polish-Ottoman relations in the context
of Polish-Tatar relations, his treatment of the Ukrainian Cossacks is limited to their
connection to Mehmed and Sahin Gerey, vigorous though it was, and the scope of his

work does not include close examination of the Black Sea exploits of the Cossacks.

13Bohdan Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna w latach 1624-1629, L.6dz: LE6dzkie Towarzystwo
Naukowe, 1948,
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Although the Muscovite archives make up one of the richest bodies of source
material on not only Muscovite-Ottoman relations and the Don Cossacks, but on the
Crimean Khanate and the Nogays and on our topic as a whole, these archives are
surprisingly underutilized by Russian and other historical scholarship. Because of the
inaccessibility of and lack of relevant source publications from the Muscovite archives (see
below), S. M. Solov’ev’s History of Russia from the Earliest Times is still an important
work on Muscovy and the Ottomans. Since the Second World War there are two
monograph treatments, both important though of greatly unegual worth for our topic. The
first, Russia and Turkey in the Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuﬁ'es, by N. A.
Smirnov, is a useful contribution primarily for the author’s use of some of the Muscovite
archival material, including some of the surviving Ottoman documents, and his survey of
an entire range of topics in Muscovite-Ottoman relations from the first diplomatic missions,
to matters of trade, Crimean affairs, and the important role of Azak (Azov) as a target for
the Don Cossacks.14 Smirnov provides in his introductory chapter an interesting and
useful (and the only available) guide to the Ottoman material in the Muscovite archives. A
good outline of the differer.t types of Muscovite diplomatic documentation is also included.
However, Smirnov’s entire work is greatly marred by a pervading Turkophobic and
Russocentric attitude that resulted in many misinterpretations and distortions.!> A contrast
is provided by the monumental work of A. A. Novosel’skij, somewhat inaptly entitled The
Struggle of the Muscovite State with the Tatars in the First Half of the Seventeenth
Century.}6 The main top.ics of the work are Muscovite-Crimean and Nogay Tatar

relations, the

~ 2 2

it

aids of the Tatars on the southern borderiands of Russia, and the

development of the Russian defense system. However, it is a mine of information on

148mimov, Rossija i Turcija.
15See Novosel'skij's review article in Voprosy istorii 1948, no. 2: 131-38.

16Novosel’skij, Bor’ ba.
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matters connected to Muscoviie-Giiomans reladons (particuiarly on Muscovite and Ottoman
diplomatic missions between Moscow and Istanbul), has an excellent survey of the role of
the Don Cossacks in Muscovite-Crimean and to some extent on Muscovite Ottoman
relations, and has some important material on the Ukrainian Cossacks and their relations
with the Crimea in the 1620s as well. The value of Novosel’skij’s work lies in his for the
most part unbiased approach to his subject matter, although at times he falls back on
traditional Russian and Sovist historical iargon applied to matters dealing with the Turks
and Tatars. |

There are no studies in Turkish historiography on the probiem of the Black Sea
frontier and the Cossack raids in the seventeenth century. However, Halil Inalcik has
drawn attention to the great importance of the Cossack problem in seventeenth-century
Ottoman history.17 In addition, the works of Inalcik on the Ottoman Black Sea in the
fifteenth and sixteenth centuries are of great significance for our understanding of the
important role of the Black Sea for the Ottoman Empire and its economy, and consequently
help us to better assess the impact of the raids in the seventeenth century.!8 In recent
years, important steps have been made in opening the Ottoman archives for the history of
Eastern Europe, in particular, by French scholars under the leadership of Alexandre
Bennigsen. With regard to the period of this study, the ground-breaking article on the

Cossack naval raids by Mihnea Berindei!? and the publication of Tatar and Ottoman

17E.g., Halil Inalcik, “The Heyday and Decline of the Ottoman Empire,” The Cambridge History of
Islam, vol 1, London, 1970: 324-53, esp. 350-53; . The Ottoman Empire: The Classical Age,
1300-1600, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1973, pp. 44, 105; , “Closing of the Black Sea,” p.
110.

18{nalcik, “Closing of the Black Sea”; , Sources on the Economic History of the Black Sea, 1:
The Customs Register of Caffa, 1487-1490 (forthcoming).

19Mihnea Berindei, "La Porte ottomane face aux Cosaques zaporogues, 1600-1637," Harvard Ukrainian
Studies 1 (1977): 273-307.
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documents relating to the Crimean Khanate?0 should be singled out for their use of Turkish
archival sources.

The extant and available source base for this study is large but uneven in its
coverage of various events and phenomena. Official affairs such as diplomatic relations are
better recorded than, for example, information relating to the frontier zone and its Cossack,
Tatar, and other inhabitants. In the manuscript collections of Poland, there is a great wealth
of material on the Black Sea frontier, as well as the Cossacks, Tatars, and the Ottomans.
Many of these manuscripts are so-called silvae rerum, that is, manuscript books kept by
nobles with entries on a broad variety of topics including personai letters and records, state
decrees, interesting or important correspondence of third parties, works of literature, and
so forth. However, the majority of the manuscript books that this author consulted were
not strictly speaking silvae rerum, since their content is political and often includes official
correspondence as well as other documents such as pay registers of troops, diaries of diets
and dietines, relations of ambassadors, and so forth. The official correspondence includes
letters to and from foreign states. Aithough these “political manuscript books” have not
been the subject of a source study analysis, it appears that many of them originated in both
the public chanceries of officials and private chanceries of noblemen. The amount of space
devoted to Ottoman and Tatar affairs is striking. As a rule it can be said that nearly every
such manuscript contains at least several copies of letters to or from the szitan, khan, and
other officials. Aside from copies of diplomatic correspondence, there are many letters
describing the situation on the frontier by commanders assigned to the region or noblemen
with landholdings in or near the borderlands. Tracts describing the situation on the frontier
and prescribing measures to be taken to alleviate the Tatar and Cossack problems contain

interesting insights and information. Other important sources include the reports of spies

20L¢ Khanat de Crimée dans les Archives du Musée du Palais de Topkap:. Eds. Alexandre
Bennigsen, Pertev Naili Boratav, Dilek Desaive, Chantal Lemercier-Quelquejay, Paris and The Hague:
Mouton, 1978.
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and confessata of captured informants. The frequency of these materials is testimony to
both the importance of their contents and the interest in them in noble society. Although
most of the manuscript books consulted have already been used by  historians such as
HruSevs’skyj and Baranowski, they did not exhaust them for information on the Black Sea
frontier. For a list of Polish manuscripts consulted in this work see the bibliography.2!
Although the Muscovite sources on Ottoman and Black Sea affairs, as stated above,
arc among the richest for our topic, they are also in the most negiccied siaie as far as
publications are concerned. Access to the materials of the Muscovite foreign office
(posol’ skij prikaz) has been very restricted, especially to foreign researchers, and the last
major publications on Don Cossack, Crimean, and Turkish affairs (Donskie, Krymskie,
Tureckie dela) were in the nineteenth century.22 Because of the soiry siate of publication
activity with regard to the Black Sea region, Novosel’skij’s work takes on an even greater
importance thanks to his use of citations from unpublished Muscovite archives. In effect,
Novosel’skij’s work has been used also as a source book. However, it is important to
remember that, although one must be grateful that these sources were used and are

presented in the form that they are (inadequate though that form may be) by a most

21The most important publications from these manuscript materials for this study are: Zerela do istoriji
Ukrajiny-Rusi, 8: Materijaly do istoriji ukrajins’koji kozacCyny, 1: Dokumenty po rik 1631 ed. Ivan
Krypjakevy¢, Lviv: Naukove Tovarystvo imeni Sevienka, 1908; Listy ksi¢ciaJerzego Zbaraskiegokasztclana
krakowskiego z Iat 1621-1632, ed. August Sokotowski, in Scriptores rerum polonicarum/Pisarze dziejéw
polskich, 5§ = Archiwum Komisyi historycznej, 2, Cracow: Nakladem Akademii Uiniejetnosci, 1880;
Documente privitoare la istoria Roménilor, ed. Eudoxiu de Hurmuzaki, 4-1: 1600-1649, Bucharest: Sub
auspiciile Ministeriulu1 Cultelor si Instructiunii publice §i ale Academier Romane, 1882; Documente
privitoare in istoria Romanilor. Urmare la colegtiunea-Eudoxiu de Hurmuzaki, supplement 2-2: 1601-
1640, documente culese din archive gi biblioteci Polone, ed. Ioan Bogdan, tr. I Skupiewski, Bucharest:
Sub auspiciile Ministeriutu1 Cultelor gi Instructiuni1 publice i ale Academier Romane, 1895.

22ponskie dela, 1, ed. B G. Druzinin, St. Petersburg: Arxeografiteskaja kommisija, 1898 =Russkaja
istoriCeskaja biblioteka, 18; IstoriCeskoe opisanie zemli Vojska donskogo, 1, Novoterkassk: Izdanie
Vojskovogo statistiteskogo komiteta, 1869 (this publication contain, aside from Don affairs, many excerpts
from the Crimean and Turkish affairs); Vossoedinenie Ukrainy s Rossiej. Dokumenty v tréx tomax, 1:
1620-1647, Moscow: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, 1953, reprints both materials already published as
well as some new materials.
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competent historian, one is still dependent on his selection of citations and therefore
incvitébly dependant to some degree on his biases and interpretation.

Of the Ottoman sources used here, the most significant are the documentary ones
from the Bagbakanhk Argivi (Archive of the Prime Minister) in Istanbul. Unfortunately, .
this researcher was able to consult only one register of the Miihimme defterleri or
“Registers of Important State Affairs.” However, the one that was consulted, Miihimme
defteri 83, proved to be an important find for the study of the Ottoman defense of the
Black Sea. It is a register of firmans issued by an Ottoman commander for two expeditions |
to the northern Black Sea, which have already been mentioned above. Details on this
register are in Chapter V and some documents from it are in the appendix. Also used were
several smaller registers connected to the same campaigns, which served to complement the
information in Miihimme defteri 83. They are discussed in Chapters V and VL

Diplomatic reports, especially those from Istanbul, are very good sources on affairs
in the Black Sea, especially the Cossack raids. Outstanding among these are the reports of
the English amabassador, Sir Thomas Roe. Highly intelligent and very much involved in
Polish-Ottoman affairs, Roe managed to present a level of analysis as well as richness of
content that outdid his contemporaries, such as French ambassador de Cezy.2 A relatively
new published source that has not yet been widely used on the Cossack naval raids are the

dispatches of papal nuncios from Istanbul, Venice, Warsaw, and other places.?4

23The Negotiations of Sir Thomas Roe in His Embassy to the Ottoman Porte, from the Year 1621-
1628 Inclusive . . . London, 1740.

241 itterae Nuntiorum Apostolicorum historiae Ucrainae illustrantes (1550-1850), 3: 1609-1620, 4:
1609-1620, ed. Athanasius G. Welykyj, Rome: Basiliani, 1959-1960.
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CHAPTER I
The Aftermath of the War of Xotyn’, 1622-1623

On 9 October 1621 the hostilities at Xotyn’ (Chocim) between the forces of the Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealih and those of the Ottoman Empire came to an end. It was agreed
that a grand ambassador (poset wielki) of the Commonwealth would travel to Istanbul to
conclude a final peace and remain there as a resident ambassador (agent in the Polish
sources) in accordance with the “practice of other Christian states.” Thereupon the sultan
would send his envoy to Warsaw to confirm the peace. Meanwhile, Stanistaw Suliszewski
was to travel immediately to the Porte while the sultan was to send his ¢avug to the king.

The armistice known as the “Xotyn’ Pact” consisted of the following points:

1. "{..c Dnieper is to be cleared of all Cossacks so that they can not go out
onto the sea and raid the sultan’s domains and they are to be punished for
the slightest transgression against the sultan. .

2. Neither the Moldavians nor the Tatars of Dobrudja, Akkerman, Bender,
Kili, Ozi (OBakiv), or of the Crimea are to raid the fortresses, towns,
estates, properties, or people of the Commonwealth. The sultan is to forbid
the Tatars from fording the Dnieper at Ozi. If the Tatars bring any harm to
the Commonwealth and do not provide compensation, the compensation is
to be granted (by the sultan) and the khan is to be punished.

3. If, before boundaries are agreed upon, those who go into the steppe to
fish or hunt should come into conflict, as is often the case, this is not to be
the cause for breaking the peace between the king and the sultan. If the
khan or his army are called upon to go on campaign with the sultan, they are
to proceed along roads distant from the Commonwealth and undertake no
raids, and any damages incurred are to be compensated according to agreed
upon terms.
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4. To better discern and establish the boundaries between the states of the
sultan and king, people who are competent and knowledgeable about those
places are to be appointed.

5. The Commonwealth will pay the Tatar khan the usual yearly pay which
is to be delivered at Iasi to the Moldavian hospodar who is to turn it over to
the khan’s men. According to the old custom, when called upon, the khan
is the come with his army to the aid of the king .

6. Because many of the conflicts between the Porte and the Commonwealth
were caused by the wrath and greed of some Moldavian hospodars,
individuals well disposed and loyal to both sides are to be appointed to this
office.

7. Upon the the conclusion of the peace agreement, Xotyn’ is to be
returned to the Mcidavian kiospodar in the condition in which it was when it
was taken over.

8. The king and sultan promise to be the friend of the others friend and
enemy of his enemy and keep to the peace that was between their
grandfathers and great grandfathers.1

In the Ottoman chronicle tradition there is a brief entry giving a general and incomplete
relation of the terms: Xotyn’ is to be returned to the Moldavians, the Cossacks are to cease
raiding the Ottoman dominion, and several prominent individuals were to be sent to the

Porte as hostages so as to insure the payment of “presents” (vergii) to the sultan.2

1For the Polish text of the treaty see Pamigtniki o wyprawie chocimskiej r. 1621 Jana hrabi z Ostroroga,
Prokopa Zbigniewskiego, Stanisliwa Lubomirskiego i Jakéba Sobieskiego, ed. Zegota Pauli, Cracow:
Nakladem i drukiem J6zefa Czecha, 1853, pp. 33-36. For a modern edition, see the Russian transiation in
Osmanskaja imperija v pervoj Cetverti XVII veka. Sbornik dokumentov i materialov, eds. X. M.
Ibragimbejli, N. C. Rasba, Moscow: Izdate!’stvo «Nauka», Glavnaja redakcija vosto¥noj literatury, 1984,
pp. 189-90. Among the several existing manuscript copies of this document the following were consulted:
AGAD, AZ 3037, fol. 129-30; BCz 345, pp. 309-12; BK 983, fol. 128-29.

2Katib Celebi, Fezleke, 2, Istanbul: Ceride-i Havadis Matba‘asi, 1287/1870-1871, p. 4; Collecteanea z
dziejopiséw tureckich 1. Ed. J. J. S. Sckowski, Warsaw: Nakladem Zawadzkiego 1 Weckiego, 1824, p.
172. It should be noted that although the Polish translation by Sekowski is from Na‘ima’s chronicle, here
citations of the chronicle of Katib Celebi are given since the former is usually dependent on the latter for
these years. In what follows, any substantive divergences between these two chronicles will be noted.
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Differing interpretations of the promise to deliver gifts to the sultan would become a serious

point of contention during the grand ambassador’s negotiations at the Porte.3
The Embassy of Krzysztof Zbaraski to the Porte

For two and a half years after the disengagement of forces at Xotyn’, the Ottoman Empire
and Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth could not come to terms on a final peace treaty. To
start with, there was a delay by the Commonwealth of nearly a year in sending an
ambassador beca’mse of tie serious disturbances in Istanbul following Sultan ‘Osman’s
return from Xotyn’. It was not until 9 September 1622, nearly a year after the armistice,
that Prince Krzysztof Zbaraski was appointed and set out for Istanbul.4 Zbaraski, was the
Crown master of the horse (koniiiszy koronny), and brother of Prince Jerzy Zbaraski, the
castellan of Cracow. In size and splendor, Zbaraski’s legation was one of the greatest that

was ever assembled to the Porte.5 Upon the very arrival of Zbaraski’s legation at Istanbul

L3

3In the reports of Sir Thomas Roe, the English resident at the Porte, there is a slightly different version
of these terms: Kantemir, the head of the Akkermzan horde (see beiow) -ad Canbeg Gerey, ihe Crimean
khan, were to withdraw their forces that were raiding the Commonwealth during the war; the Crown would
make an annual yearly payment of 40,000 florins to the Tatars; the king was to maintain a resident at the
Porte and send gifts comparable to those sent by other Christian states; the Tatars would stop all incursions
if the Cossacks would do the same; to obtain the privilege of free trade in the empire for Polish merchants,
100,000 chequins in  sables and bulgar leather; the treaty would not be valid until the sulian sent his ¢avus
to the king and the sejm approved the treaty (The Negotiations of Sir Thomas Roe in His Embassy to the
Ottoman Porte, from the Year 1621-1628 Inclusive . . . London, 1740, p. 11).

47anusz Wojtasik, “Uwagt ksiecia Krzysztofa Zbaraskiego, posla wielkiego do Turcyji z 1622 r.—O
paiistwie ottomariskim i jego sitach zbrojnych,” Studia i materialy do historii wojskowosci 8: 1 (1961):
321-46, esp. p. 326.

SAccording to Roe, Zbaraski’s train consisted of 1,200 men (Negotiations, p. 115); according to Katib
Celebi, 700 mounted men (Katib, Fezleke, 2, p. 31; Collectanea, p. 176). Aside from the considerable
amount of information in Roe’s dispatches, there are two major relations of Zbaraski’s embassy, one by
Samuel Kuszewicz, the secretary to the missicn, entitled Poselstwo ksigcia Zbarawskiego do Turek w t.
1622 [The Embassy of Prince Zbaraski to the Turks in the year 1622}, published in Zbidr pamigtnikéw
historycznych o dawnej Polszcze z rekopismdw, tudziez dziet wréznych jezykach o Polszcze wydanych, oraz
z listami oryginalnych kr6léw i znakomitych ludzi w kraju naszym, 2, ed. J. U. Niemcewicz, Leipzig:
Breitkopf and Haertel, 1839, pp. 211-40. The other is by Krzysztof Zbaraski himself, entiiled Diariusz
albo relatia X Jeo Mci Zbarawskiego koniuszego koronnego posia wielkiego do cesarza ottomanskiego
w roku pafiskim 1622 [The Diary or Relation of His Majesty’s Prince Zbaraski, the crown master of the
horse, the grand ambassador to the Ottoman Ceasar in the year of the Lord 1622] published in Russian
translation in Osmanskaja imperija, pp. 102-48. It has been published in the original Polish only once, in
Dziennik Wileriski [Vilnius], 1827, v. 3, Historia i literatura, pp. 3-27, 101-25, 237-73, 339-357 which is
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in late October/early November 1622,5 relations with the grand vizier, Giircii Mehmed
Pasha, commenced on a very negative rote. Part of the motive for sending such a large
embassy was to impress and intimidate the Ottomans with the wealth and might of the
Commonwealth’ and thereby gain a psychological advantage in the negotiations. Instead,
the size of the embassy antagonized the Turks. According to Zbaraski’s account, when his
servant was sent ahead to announce the embassy’s arrival, instead of being awarded a
kaftan, as would have been the usual procedure, he was met with reproachful irony from
ihe grand vizier, who asked what was the purpose of sending such an army: Did Zbaraski
plan to conquer Constantinople or to rob the sultan’s treasury?® Moreover, the vizier
claimed that as Zbaraski’s retinue included an inordinate number of merchants, it thereby
forfeited the exemption from customs duties usually extended to members of diplomatic
missions and owed 50,000-60,000 thalers for the goods brought with them. It would take
several days of haggling before the vizier finally agreed to let the train enter the capital on
11 November 1622% without paying customs. 19

At the time of Zbaraski’s embassy to the Porte, the Otioman capital was in a state of

great disarray. Several months prior, in May 1622, a revolt by the janissaries resulted in

today a bibiiographic rarity and was not seen by this author. The latter work became one of the most
popular works in the seventeenth-century Commonwealth and even beyond and exists in many manuscript
copies, although an original copy has not beer lecated (here aside from the Russiag translation only BCz
361, pp. 263-97 was consuited).

60nly the approximate date of Zbaraski’s arrival to Istanbul is known, see de Cezy, dispatch of 13
November 1622 (Historica Russiae monumenta/Akty istoriCeskie otnosjasCiesja k Rossi, 2, ed. A. L.
Turgenev, St. Petersbura: Tinografiia Eduarda Praca, 1842, p. 421).

7Cf. Kuszewicz, Poselstwo, p. 240.

8Zbaraski, Diariusz, p. 105. The latter part of the question with regard to the treasury is an ironic
reference to the fact that according to the rules of diplomatic protocol of the time, the host was expected to
maintain the visiting legation. Roe was of the opinion that Zbaraski was overdoing it a bit (*. . . he
entered with a great [perhaps too much] train . . .") and (Negotiations, p. 115); this combined with his
haughty attitude towards the Ottomans was one of the reasons his relations with them were so strained (cf.
Kuszewicz, Poselstwo, p. 224).

SWojtasik, “Uwagi . . . Zbaraskiego,” p. 326.

107 baraski, Diariusz, p. 105-107.
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the murder of Sulian ‘Osman I, and the return to the throne of feeble-minded Mustafa.
During Zbaraski’s stay, intrigues from the court and unrest among the janissaries and other
troops resulted in a change of grand vizier in the middle of the negotiations—the
replacement of Giircii Mehmed Pasha by Hiiseyn Pasha. Exacerbating the difficult
situation was the fact that because of false rumors, at several points Zbaraski’s embassy '
itself was drawn into the intrigues of the capital. The source of trouble was the differing
interpretation by the Ottoman and Polish sides of the promise made by the latter at Xotyn’
to bring gifts to the sultan. The Ottoman side insisted that this meant that the
Commonwealth had agreed to pay harag, in other words, the annual tribute which subject
princes such as the hospodars of Moldavia and Wallachia paid to the Porte. Of course for
the Commonwealth, any action in any way implying tributary status was out of the
~ question and thus Zbaraski insisted that the gifts that he brought for the sultan were merely
part of normal diplomatic protocol. In the midst of the wrangle over this matter, a rumor
spread among the janissaries, who were in a state of discontent because they had not
received their latest quarterly wages, that Zbaraski had brought money for them. As a
result the mission was in danger of attack and plunder at the hands of the janissaries.
Because of the controversy over the payment of harac, the grand vizier would not allow
Zbaraski his initial audience with the sultan. After many arguments, threats, and delays,
the documents relating to the Xotyn’ armistice were examined by both sides in common
session and the vizier was forced to back down and allow an audience with sultan.11
Both the French resident ambassador to the Porte, de Cezy, and the English
resident ambassador, Roe, actively intervened on behalf of Zbaraski and the
Commonwealth, Their support included financial aid and, above all, intercession before
various Ottoman officials. On the basis of their dispatches as well as the observations of

the Muscovite ambassadors who were in Istanbul at the same time (Kondyrev and

1’ zZbaraski, Diariusz, pp. 115-17.
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Bormosov , see below), Novosel’skij points out how, by coming to the aid of Zbaraski,
the French and English ambassadors promoted the traditional interests of their ~ountries in
the Black Sea. The strategic interest of both the French and English was that there be peace
in the Black Sea which wculd serve to harm the position of their rival, the Hahsburg
Empire vis @ vis the Ottomans—peace between the Porte and the Commonwealth meant
that the former would be freer to engage their forces against the Empire and its allies in
central Europe and the Mediterranean.i? On the other hand, the Habsburgs were interested
in continued turmoil for the Ottomans in the Black Sea, particularly in the diversion of their
forces by the naval raids of the Cossacks.!3 Throughout these years, Western diplomats
residing at the Porte were keenly aware of the connection between developments in the
Black Sea and those in the Mediterranean and central Europe, and .thereforc they followed

closely and attempted to infiuence in their favor events in the Black Sea region.

The Raids of the Cossacks, 1622. Despite the various intrigues and misunderstandings
that surrounded Zbaraski’s embassy, it was clear to all parties that the main problems that
needed to be resolved were related to the Black Sea frontier.}4 To the Ottoman side this
meant the naval raids by the Cossacks, and to a lesser extent, Cossack and szlachta
intervention into the affairs of Moldavia. To the Commonwealth this meant the raids of the
Tatars. Already by the spring of 1622 Zaporozhian Cossack incursions into the Black Sea
and Tatars raids into Podolia and Pokuttja (Pokucia) made it clear to both sides that since

the Xotyn’ War the situation on the frontier was essentially unchanged.

127, A. Novosel’skij, Bor'ba Moskovskogo gosudarstva s tatarami v pervoj polovine XVII veka,
Moscow and Leningrad: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, 1948, pp. 105-106.

13 Although presenily there arc no available sources on Habsburg action to this end during the aftermath
of Xotyn’, below there will be such examples.

14 Aside from this Zbaraski was to gain the release of nobles and gentry that fell into Ottoman hands
since the debacle at Cecora (Negotiations, p. 19).
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There was good reason to expect a major Zaporozhian Cossack presence in the
Black ¥ea following Xotyn’. For the defense of the Commonwealth, the authorities had
made every effort to mobilize the Zaporozhians, and as was the typical pattern in times of
war, the ranks of the Cossacks swelled. Thus, at Xotyn" there were more than forty
thousand Cossacks officially,!5 more than ten times the legal limit set by the register
(rejestr) of that time. Even taking into account Cossack casualties, which are recorded as
have been at least 5,000,16 the war left the Crown with a great mass of Cossacks that it
was not willing or even able to maintain. For thcir.services in the war, the Cossacks
demanded 100,000 zfsiy, whilc the goverinment was willing to pay only 40,000 in
principal and in fact was dragging its feet even with the delivery of the lesser sum because
the treasury was nearly empty. Moreover, the authorities planned to return to the 3,000-
Cossack register once they paid off the Cossack participants of the war. Given this
situation, a truly a large presence of Zaporozhian Cossacks cn the Black Sea in search of
their “livelihood” could be expected in 1622, To deal with this situation, the government
hoped to dispatch the Cossacks to service in Livonia against the Swedes, and in the winter
of 1621-1622, a reported 20,000 Cossacks did indeed set out for the Baltic lands.
However, because of the lack of funds and the fear that they would plunder the Belorussian
countryside, only a thousand were taken on and the rest were sent back.l? The only
remaining recourse was repression—as early as late October 1621 the authorities had
drawn up instructions for a royal commission to deal with the Cossack problem and in
particular pressure the Cossacks to forego their Black Sea raids. For example, should they

fail to desist, the Cossack commission threatened to withhold the 40,000 zloty that the state

15Myxajlo Hrusevs'kyj, Istorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 7, Kiev, 1909; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-spilka,
1956, pp. 472-73; Leszek Podhorodecki and Noj Raszba [Rasbal, Wojna chocimska 1621 roku, Cracow:
Wydawnictwo Literackie, 1979, pp. 135-37.

16podhorodecki and Raszba, Wojna chocimska, p. 136.

17Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 488-89.
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had already agreed io pay them!® and even to go as far as mounting a military campaign
against them.,19

There are no sources ihai deal directly with the effectiveness of the Pelish
authorities in stopping the Cossacks from going out on to the Black Sea in 1622—whether,
for example, many or any boats were burned, as was intended.i0 The Cossack
commission was unable to suppress thé Zaporozhians completely for lack of funds for a
sufficient military force. However, it was apparently somewhat successful in intimidating
them, for it seems that an unusually small number of raids were mounted from the Dnieper
in 1622. But by no means did the Zaporozhians that year abstain from their “hunt on the
sea.” Some chose to go at least temporarily to the Don River and thereby avoid conflict
with the state. In late March or early April, Muscovite authorities noticed that bands of 15,
20, or 50 Zaporozhians had begun to arrive at the Don.2! The archives of the Muscovite
posol’ skij prikaz or foreign office record that at about this time 1,500 Don Cossacks went
to sea along with 300 Zaporozhians. Once at sea, «his expedition was joined by five
Zaporozhian boats from the Dnieper.22 On 1 May, in the last days before the murder of
Sultan ‘Osman II, the French ambassador de Cesy reported that Cossacks were in the
Black Sea very close to the Bosphorus and had taken several ships. This drove the young
sultan into such a rage that he threatened to decapitate the grand vizier and the defterdar if

within the next day they did not send galleys to the Black Sea to pursue the Cossacks.?3

181 etter from Zygmunt 111 to the Zaporozhian Host, 15 March 1622, Warsaw (BR 2, pp. 1142-1144),
1SHrusevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, 491-92.
20Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 484.

2 [storiceskoe opisanie zemli Vojska Donskogo, 1, NovoCerkassk: Izdanie Vojskovogo statistieskogo
komiteta, 1869, p. 158.

225storiceskoe opisanie, p. 161 (Tureckie dela).

2 Historica Russiae, p- 417.
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On 8 May Jerzy Zbaraski reported to the king from Cracow that many Zaporozhians had
slipped away to the Don and that soon they would surely irritate the Turks.24 Exactly a
month later Zbaraski, on the basis of two independent sources, reported to the king that
five Zaporozhian Cossack boats had gone to sea (perhaps the five that had joined the Don
Cossacks earlier) and taken one Turkish ship and that by now they had returned to their
stations (wlosci).25 A few days later, on 14 June, the Moldavian voyvoda wrote a letter
from Iagi {Ott. Yas) that the Cossacks were causing great harm including the destruction of
several towns in Anatolia.?6 Meanwhile on 18/28 June, on the Crimean coast, the Don
Cossacks (péssibly the same flotilla that included Zaporozhians) captured two ships at Kefe
and then moved on to Balaklava where they took captives.2” In late June or early July,
1,000 Don Cossacks and 300 Zaporozhians (500 Don Cossacks and 70 Zaporozhians in 30
boats in another version) attacked the city of Trabzon (Trebizond) and other setilements

closer to the Bosphorus.28 On 1/11 July, the English ambassador, Thomas Roe, recorded

241 jsty ksiecia Jerzego Zbaraskiego kasztelana krakowskiego z lat 1621-1632, ed. August Sokotowski, in
Scriptores rerum polonicarum/Pisarze dziejéw polskich, 5 = Archiwum Komisyi historycznej, 2, Cracow:
Naktadem Akademii Umiejetnoscei, 1880, no. 27, p.54.

257baraski urges the king to order the Cossacks strictly to turn over these “thieves” (fotry), have them
sent to Lviv and, if the Turks complain, have them executed before a ¢avug (Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 28,
p.56); also published by Krypjakevy€ from the Teki Naruszewicza series of the Czartoryski Library where
the author and place of issue of the document is not given (Zere!a do istoriji Ukrajiny-Rusi, 8: Materijaly do
istoriji ukrajins’kojikozalCyny, 1. Dokumenty po rik 1631 ed. Ivan Krypjakevyc, Lviv: Naukove Tovarystvo
imeni SevZenka, 1908, no. 161, pp. 262-64). A letter from June by Zygmunt }iI to an unknown person
confirms that the Turkish ship in questior. was indeed taken by the Zaporozhians (Zerela, 8, no. 165, pp.
266-67).

26Documente privitoare in istoria Romdnilor. Urmare la colegtiunea Eudoxiu de Hurmuzaki,
supplement 2, volume 2: 1601-1640, documente culese din archive §i biblioteci Polone, ed. Ioan
Bogdan, Tr. I Skupiewski, Bucharest: Sub auspiciile Ministeriului Cultelor si Instructiunii publice i ale
Academiei Romine, 1895, no. 234, pp. 522-24,

2 storigeskoe opisanie, pp. 161-62 (Krymskie dela).

28500n after this, 200 Zaporozhians returned to the Don with great booty (IstoriCeskoe opisanie, pp. 161,
162 [Tureckie dela]). The claim in the Muscovite reports of that year that the Cossacks captured and
sacked Trabzon is not confirmed in the Ottoman sources. More likely is the version given in a gramota of
the tear to the Don Cossacks issued 10/20 March 1623 that 500 Don Cossacks and 70 Zaporozhians in 30
boats nearly took the city, burning its suburbs, seizing captives , ships and equipment, and merchants of
the suitan (Donskie dela, 1, ed. B G. DruZinin, Si. Petersburg: ArxeografiCeskaja  kommisija, 1898
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in Istanbul that the Cossacks “have taken many Turkish ships . . . have put Caffa (Kefe) in
danger and given us at this port an alarm.” On the state of the capital’s defenses in the year
after the Xotyn’ War he wrote, “They [the Turks] now prepare to send out a few frigates??

against them, but with so much difficulty and so poorly furnished, that they scarce will
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serve to make a show. They have no munition in their o
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De Cesy reported
that a day later the Cossacks came in 30 boats within 15 leagues of the capital and took an
Anatolian town called Caudria five leagues inland from the Black Sea. “Leaving their
marks of destruction,” they took away more than a thousand captives in captured kara
miirsel cargo ships.3! Probably referring to the same raiding party, on 12/22 July Roe
mentioned that in the previous week the Cossacks were in the mouth of the Bosphorus.32
In that summer of 1622 the Don Cossack presence on the Black Sea was certainly
very large. On 12/22 July the Muscovite envoys, I. Kondyrev and T. Bormosov, along
with the Ottoman envoy Toma Kantakuzin, while on their way to Istanbul, stopped at
Monastyrskij Gorodok, one of the main bases of the Cossacks on the Don. They were
surprised to find very few Cossacks in town and learned that indeed most of them were on

campaign at sea and that a flotilla had gone out as recently as five days earlier. On the next

=Russkaja istoriCeskaja biblioteka, 18, col. 219; also in Vossoedinenie Ukrainy s Rossiej. Dokumenty v
tréx tomax, 1: 1620-1647, Moscow: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk, 1953, no. 18, p. 42).

29Probably firkata (see glossary).

30Roe proceeds io t2ll a story of how the Turks sent to him for two barrels of powder which he refused to
turn over, only to relent after his hosts took an English ship as hostage (Negotiations, p. 61).

3Historica Russiae, p. 420. The destruction of this town by burning is confirmed by Muscovite
envoys Kondyrev and Bormosov who, because of a storm, were forced to land near there while on their way
to the Porte in early October 1622. The disruption caused by the Cossack raids of that year is further
attested to by the envoys who described the villages near Caudria as being completely empty, with their
inhabitants hiding in the forests out of fear of the Cossacks (IstoriCeskoe opisanie, pp. 170-71, [Tureckie
dela))

32Negotiations, pp. 64-65.
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day, five more boats set off, passing right in front of the camp of the Ottoman envoy.33
Because of the Cossack presence on the Black Sea, the joint Muscovite-Ottoman party of
envoys did iiot immediately proceed for Ottoman territory, for fear of reprisals against the
Muscovite members. They were still at Monastyrskij Gorodok two weeks later when on
20/30 July ataman Isaj Martem’janov returned from the sea with 800 Cossacks, having left
behind a small detachment to grard the mouth of the Don. Soon after a messenger arrived
with word that the flotilla of Turkish ships heading for Azak, which the Cossacks were
expecting, had been sighted, and immediately the ataman and his troops boarded thcir
boats and set off to intercept it. By 26 July/5 August Martern’janov and hié men returned,
having taken an Ottoman ship along with its three cannons, relat;d equipment, and two
smaller boats (komjaga, “dugout”). The Cossacks proudly passed directly by the camps of
the Muscovite and Ottoman diplomats and divided their booty in full view.34 Finally on
8/18 August the joint Don and Zaporozhian expedition that had gone out in the spring35
returned, having raided many villages and hamlets in the “precincts of Constantinople” (v
Carygradskom uézdé). However, only half of them returned, having been tricked during

negotiations with an Ottoman flotilla—of the original 1,500 Cossacks no more than 700

and 25 boats returned.36

33Istoriceskoe opisanie, pp. 163-66 (Tureckie dela). The situation in fact bordered on the ridiculous—
the Muscoviie envoys had brought money, cloths, fur products, and food provisions and wine for the
Cossacks but there were not enough Cossacks present to accept the payment.

34 storiceskoe opisanie, pp. 164-67 (Tureckie dela). In the following year the Don Cossacks were
given a serlous reprimand for linking up with the Zaporozhians and raiding the Black Sea; one of the
accusations levied against them was dividing their booty in the presence of the Ottoman envoy (Donskie
dela, 1, col. 222).

35Here given as originally having 40 boats and 1150 men; from the conlext it is clear that only the Don
Cossacks are included in these figures.

36A day and a half’s sail from the capital, they raided a Jewish village. Then they were met by sixteen
galleys and the Ottoman side entered into negotiations with the Cossacks offering a high ransom for the
captives. However the Turks purposely dragged out the negotiations for thre¢ days and made a surprise
attack on the Cossacks, capturing half of them. The half that managed to escape brought back a number of
captives (IstoriCeskoe opisanie, pp. 166-68 [Tureckie dela)).
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The Raids of the Tatars, 1622. The main Tatar raid into the Commonwezlih in 1622 was
carried out by the Bucak horde of Kantemir. Rather than being a response to the raids of
the Cossacks, it was mounted afier a razzia near Akkerman by an insubordinate raiding
party of nobies and Cossacks—retainers of the Braclav (Bractaw) starosta—who seized
many horses belonging to Kantemir or his horde. In early June Kantemir’s forces
apparently struck in or near the Pokuttja (Pokucie) region.3? On 14 June the Moldavian
voyvoda wrote to Zygmunt III that several thousand Tatars had devastated several powiats
along the Dnieper above Soroky.3® The voyvoda informed the Polish king that he had
notified the Ottoman governor in the region (probably of Bender) and that the governor had
captured the leader of this expedition and was keeping him in the fortress of Akkerman.3?
In a letter from the king to an unknown person, it is clearly stated that the recent Tatar raids
were provoked by the incursions of the frontier subjects of the Kam”janec’ (Kamienec) and
Braclav starostwas.#® The Ottoman chronicle version of these events is similar in its
general features, although with some divergences: When about twenty thousand “Poles”
(Leh ta’ifesi) raided Wallachia and Moldavia, the voyvodas asked Kantemir for aid. The
latter routed the invaders and then proceeded to mount a large raid on Poland (Leh
vilayeti) which yielded a “limitless number of captives (esir).”!

This major raid by Kantemir’s forces put the Commonwealth on notice that the

Bucak horde was a force to be reckoned with. In fact, it was Kantemir who benefitted the

373, Zbaraski to Zygmunt II1, 8 VI 1622, Cracow (Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 28, p. 56).

38According to a Ksigga grodzka (“castle record book™) of Halyg, the regions of Sniatyn’ (Sniatyn) and
Dolyna (Dolina) were devastated (Bohdan Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna w latach 1624-1629, ¥.6dz:
E.6dzkie Towarzystwo Naukowe, 1948, p. 21, n. 20).

39Documente Hurmuzaki, suppi. 2, vol. 2, no. 234, pp. 522-24.
40yune 1622, Warsaw (Zerela, 8, no. 165, pp. 266-67).

41Katib Celehi, Fezleke, p. 32; Collectanea, pp. 176-71.
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most from the War of Xotyn’. During the war he had rendered the Ottomans invaluable
service by his effective raids and forays behind enemy lines and in the hinterland. For this
he was made governor-general (beglerbegi) of the key province of Ozi,42 which included a
sprawl of territories from the immediate vicinity of Ozi and Kilburun at the mouth of the
Dnieper to Akkerman at the mouth of the Dniester to as far south as Babadag in the mouth
of the Danube and further southwest up the Danube to Silistre and beyond). For an
outsider, that is, someone who was not a kul or direct servant of the sulian, to be named
governor-general was a great honor and unprecedented for this region. Kantemir’s
elevation should be contrasted with the fate of Crimean Khan Canbeg Gerey, who after the
war was eventually dethroned by the Porte, in part for his mediocre performances at
Xotyn’ and in the last Iranian war.43 With Kahtemir’s elevation, the separation of the
Bucak horde from Crimean overlordship and, moreover, its status as a rival and
counterbalance to the Khanate was achieved. This realignment of powers worked in favor
of the Ottomans, who were ever fearful of disloyalty from the Chingisid Gerey dynasty.
However, it spelled trouble for the Commonwealth, w;ﬁch already before the raid of 1622
had suffered Kantemir’s depredations.#4 For the Crimea it brought an absolutely
intolerable situation in which open conflict between the two powers was inevitable.

As for Tatar raids on Muscovy, with the ongoing Otioman conflict with the
Commonwealth, the Tsardom enjoyed a period of relative calm on its southern
borderlands. Moreover the Ottomans made continual efforts to involve Moscow in a war
with its western neighbor, well aware that the tsar longed to avenge the Polish-led

depredations of the previous decade and would be eager to regain his lost territory.

42Novose!’skij, Bor’ ba, Moscow and Leningrad: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, 1948, pp. 100-101.
43Novosel'skij, Bor'ba, p. 100.

44For his depredations, Kantemir earned the epithet "Bloody Sword” in Polish and Ruthenian sources (P.
Kuli3, “Ukrainskie kazaki i pany v dvadcatiletie pered buntom Bogdana Xmel’nickogo,” Russkoe obozrenie
1895, no. 2: 610-32, esp. p. 612).
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Moscow for its part was content to maintain its neutrality and to rebuild internally and thus
avoided going further than promising the Ottomans that it would not ally with Poland and
encouraging the Crimean Tatars to direct their raids against the Commonwealth.45 In 1620
and 1621, in connection with the state of war between the Ottomans and Poland-Lithuania,
the Crimean Tatars as well as the Lesser Nogays and the Azovites were engaged in raids
against the Commonwealth and there were almost no raids against Muscovy.46 In 1622 the
Muscovite voevodas in the southern precincts were caught off guard and raiding parties of
Azovites, Lesser and Great Noguys, and Nogays of Divay’s ulus succeeded in capturing a
considerable number of captives. Later on, in the fall of that year, Muscovite envoys
Kondyrev and Bormosov learned in Azak that these raids were privately mounted without
the direct complicity of the Ottoman authorities or the chieftains of the various Nogay
groups. The unauthorized raids were stimulated by the apparently great demand for slaves
on the Azak market in that year, which was prompted by the arrival of an unusually high
number of Turkish merchant ships.47

In the same year a feud erupted between the Don Cossacks and the Azovites. In
May 1422, at a meeting to exchange and ransom captives, the Azovites made a surprise
attack on the Cossacks, according to reports of the Cossacks to Moscow. This led to
reprisals and counter-reprisals which threatened the safety of the Muscovite diplomatic
mission trying to make its way tc the Porte past the Don Cossacks and Azak. To the
repeated behest of the envoys that they make peace with the Azovites, the Cossacks replied

that they could not until their retaliatory raiding parties (among which they included the

45See Novosel'skii, Bor’ba, pp. 98-104.

46Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, pp. 150, 152. Novosel’skij claims no raids were recorded for those years though
according to the Tureckie dela from 1620, in the early part of the Azovites (Azovskie [judy, Tatars and
Turks itving in the vicinity of Azak) destroyed a Don Cossack town for which the Don Cossacks retaliated
by sending a joint expedition with the Zaporozhians to Rize and a land expedition against the Lesser
Nogays. Both expeditions were unsuccessful (Istoriceskoe opisanie, pp. 156-57 [Tureckie dela)).

4TNovosel’skij, Bor’ba, pp. 150-152.
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aforementioned Cossacks who were out at sea) had returned. When in August the last
flotilla returned, the Cossacks did make peace with the Azovites and in late August escorted
the envoys to Azak.48 However, at Azak and during calls to port at Kefe and the Anaiolian
coast near the Bosphorus, Kondyrev and Bormosov underwent constant rebukes and -
threats by local Otioman authorities for the raids of the Don Cossack that summer. The
envoys time and again reiterated the standard reply that the people on the Don were
criminals and fugitives from justice and that the tsar had little control over them. Moreover,

they insisted that most of the raids that year were the work of the Zaporozhians.4?

The Embassy of Kondyrev and Bormosov at the Porte. Concurrent with the embassy at
the Porte olf Zbaraski was the diplomatic mission of Kondyrev and Bormosov. Their
arrival at the Porte in October 1622, almost at the same time as Zbaraski, was viewed with
great suspicion by the French and-English ambassadors. De Cesy reported that its arrival
was the result of intrigues by the Patriarch of Constantinople, Cyril Lukaris, the Dutch
ambassador, Cornelius Hague, and some Ottoman notables who planned to form a league
with the Muscovites against the Commonwealth. Roe saw the timing of the Muscovite
mission as sure proof that it was designed to interfere with the upcoming peace
negotiations. Both de Cesy and Roe viewed their arrival as a shift in the foreign policy of
Muscovy, which contrary to the urgings of the Porte, had refused to attack the
Commonwealth in 1621. In fact both believed that the Muscovites were offering the
Ottomans a seven-year league against ihe Commonwealth.5¢ Krzysztof Zbaraski himself,

writing from Istanbul to his brother, Jerzy, stated that the Muscovite envoys were

4 storiceskoe opisanie, pp. 160-61, 165-9 (Tureckie dela).
Jstoriceskoe opisanie, pp. 170-72, [Tureckie delal).

50pe Cezy, dispatch of 13 November 1622 (Historica Russiae, p. 421); Roe, dispatch of 30
November/10 December 1622 (Negotiations, p. 109).
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attempting to convince the Porte to order the Crimean khan or Kantemir of the Bucak horde
to launch raids against the Commonwealth.5!

On the basis of the Muscovite sources, Novosel’skij demonstrates that Kondyrev
and Bormosov were sent primarily to reciprocate Kantakuzin’s mission to Moscow in the
previous year and to maintain cordial relations with the Porte while avoiding being drawn
into a conflict with the Commonwealth. In their instructions (nakaz) the Muscovite envoys
were strictly ordered to maintain the line that the Muscovite authorities had followed during
Kantakuzin’s embassy to Moscow in the prior year, namely, that the tsar had concluded a
fourteen-year peace with the Commonwealth at Deulino which, barring provocation from
the other side, he would not break. And under no circumstances would he come to the aid
of the Poles against the Ottomans. Novosel’skij claims that the neutral aims of the
Muscovite mission is supported by the fact that the gifts they brought to the Porte were
relatively modest. As things turned out, when the sultan granted the Muscoviic envoys
leave in early March 1623, he informed them that the Porte had reached a peace agreement
with the Commonwealth and he even urged them to maintain good relations with their

western neighbors.52

The Bucak Horde and the Conclusion of Zbaraski’s Embassy. Despite the innocuous
nature of the concurrent Muscovite mission to the Porte and the support he received from
the French and English ambassadors, Zbaraski’s embassy dragged on until early 1623.
The main reason for the slow progress was the inability of the two sides to reconcile their
differences over the status quo on the Black Sea frontier and expend the resources
necessary for the desired changes. Moreover, at the conclusion of Zbaraski’s embassy the

state of neither war nor peace did not pass. For the Commonwealth, Kantemir of the

51A7 3037, fol. 132a (14 [?] February 1623).

52Novose1’skij, Bor’ba, pp. 104-105.
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Bucak horde was the primary impediment to more stable relations. The Crown required his
removal not only because of his raids after Xotyn’, but because it understood well the great
threat that he represented to the security of the borderlands. The Bucak Tatars had an
advantage over the Crimean Tatars with respect to raiding Poland-Lithuania. Besides being
closer to the Commonwealth, they could easily pass through Moldavia and from there cross
the Dniester River border, and strike deep into the Ukrainian and Polish lands of the
Commonwealth with little warning. The Crimeans had first to cross the Dnieper at one of
the few fords, where they were vulnerable to Zaporozhian ambush, and from there had a
much longer and more perilous journey before they could reach more populated and
prosperous territory. Zbaraski demonstrated this awareness in his treatise “Relation of the
Rule of the Turkish Monarchy,” written upon his return from the Porte:

.. . the bialogrodcy (“Akkermanians”) are very close . . . The Akkerman

[horde] is led by Kantemir and for sure the Turks would not want to remove

him for through him they have good insurance for [upholding] the present

peace against the Cossacks. But they would not even be able to remove him

in such turbulent [times] as long as he is powerful. That Kantemir has

caused a great expanse of empty land to be inhabited by Nogay Tatars and

has greatly strengthened that region. At first there were {only] 5 or 6

thousand of them, [now] there are surely twenty thousand. Now he has

even begun to craw! into the the Moldavian land and if the provocations

from the Cossacks continue then surely [the Turks] will let him settle right
up to the Dniester.53

Thus, the removal of Kantemir was Zbaraski’s highest priority and almost always
the first condition that he brought up in his audiences with the grand vizier. An adjunct to

this was the removal of the Moldavian voyvoda Stefan Tomsa who had allowed

53 Relacyja rzadéw monarchii tureckiej od ksiecia Krzysztofa Zbaraskiego, koniuszego koronnego, gdy byt
posfem wielkim do cesarza tureckiego sultana Osmana, anno d-ni 1622 in Janusz Wojtasik, “Uwagi ksigcia
Krzysztofa Zbaraskiego, posta wielkiego do Turcyjt z 1622 r.—O paristwie ottomariskim 1 jego sitach
zbrojnych,” Studia i materialy do historii wojskowosci 8:1 (1961): 321-46, esp. p. 345.
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Kantemir’s raiding forces to pass through his territory and who was perceived as being an
enemy of the Commonwealth.54 Grand Vizier Giircii Mehmed Pasha, who seems to have
developed a personal dislike for Zbaraski, refused to budge on this matter. The
aforementioned Cossack raids of the summer of 1622 poisoned the atmosphere of
Zbaraski’s embassy from the beginning. Since he promised that the Cossacks would be
controlled, he was fortunate to be at the Porte during the winter season when there was no
activity on the Black Sea and therefore no risk of embarrassment and discredit by ongoing
raids. In any event, little progress was made on achieving peace until Giircii Mehmed
Pasha was deposed in early February 1623.55

Under the new vizier, Mere Hiiseyn Pasha, who was apparently better disposed
towards the Commonwealth,56 the negotiations were completed within a month.
However, on both sides there was a reluctance to deal in substance. Zbaraski notes that in
his first audience with the new grand vizier, the latter asked that all the previous agreements
with the Commonwealth be brought before him and stated that he was least of all interested
in the Xotyn’ Pact. At the miigavere or special council convened to approve the peace,
Zbaraski pulled the old agreements between the Porte and Crown out of a sack and declared
that he also wanted nothing new, only the sacred peace of olden times. In his presentation,
the grand vizier asked that old affirmations of peace (‘ahdname) issued by Siileyman the
Magnificent and others be read out loud.57 The peace agreements of Siileyman the
Magnificent and Zygmunt August seem to have held a legendary significance for statesmen

on both sides since the time they were entered into, in the late sixteenth century. Thus in

54See Zbaraski, Diariusz, pp- 110, 112-13, 119-22, 129; Roe, dispatches of 14/24 December 1622 and
25 January/4 February 1623, (Negotiations, pp. 115, 120--22).

55{smail Hami Danigmend, fzahli osmanlu tarihi kronolojisi, 3: M. 1574-1703, H. 987-1115,
Istanbul; Tiirkiye Yaymevi, 1972, p. 321.

58E.g., Zbaraski recounts how Hiiseyn inquired about certain Polish leaders and how he lamented the
death of hetman Zotkiewski (Zbaraski, Diariusz, pp. 14041).

57Zvaraski, Diariusz, pp. 143-44.
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later treaties between the two states, it was standard to make a reference to the “ideal”
agreements between the Porte and ihe Crown drawn up in the age of these two rulers and
even to repeat the same terms.5® When it came time to draw up a document in the name of
the sultan, the grand vizier insisted that more reference be made to the ‘ahdnames of
Siileyman than the more recent one of Ahmed 159 And so, although at points the wording
differs, there are almost no departures in the ‘ahdname issued to King Zygmunt III by
Sultan Mustafa I from the recent treaty of Ahmed I or from the treaties of the “golden age”
of Siileyman.®0 Comparing, for example, the text of the ‘ahdname issued by Mustafa in
February 162361 with two of those issued by Siileyman, in 153362 and 155363, there are
the following common points:

1. Insubordinate or rebellious subjects on either side are not to make any

cross-border incursions. The 1623 document specifically mentions that

there are to be no [Ukrainian] Cossacks on the sea, they are not to join up

with Muscovite Cossacks, the Crown is not tc blame the Cossack raids on

the Muscovites, and any disobedient [Ukrainian] Cossacks are to be

severely punished. In mentioning the subjects of the sultan that are barred

from raiding this document singles out those Tatar groups under or with

connections to Kantemir by naming themn: Tatars of Dobruca, Akkerman,
and Bender.

583ee the letters of peace by Ottoman sultans summarized in Katalog dokumentéw tureckich: Dokumenty
do dziejéw Polski i krajéw osciennych w latach 1455-1672, ed. Zygmunt Abrahamowicz, Warsaw:
Pafistwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1959.

59Zbaraski, Diariusz, pp. 146.

60Roe, perceiving the reluctance of both sides to deal in substance even before Zbaraski’s mission,
predicted that the peace would be made with reference to the old treaties rather than the current state of
affairs; in exasperation he proclaimed, “all this is nothing, and so great a noise was never alleged with so
little matter of substance” (dispatch of 25 July/4 August 1625, Negotiations, p. 68).

61 AGAD, Dz. turecki, k 72, t 304, nr 557; Katalog, no. 256, pp. 245-49 (the second decade of Rabi II
1032/12-21 February 1623).

62AGAD, Dz. turecki, k 68, t 34, nr 77; Katalog, no. , pp. 44-45.

63AGAD, Dz. turecki, k 70, t 157, nr 302; Katalog, no. 138, pp. 138-39.
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2. The Crimean khan is to receive annual “presents” (upominki) from the
Commonwealth in retura for keeping the peace. The 1623 document
specifies that the gift is to be delivered to Iagi from whence it is to be picked
up by agents of the khan.

3. Any captives taken by either side are to be returned if they do not object.
4. Fugitives from either state are to be returned upon demand.

5. The traditional formula that each side is to be the friend of the other’s
friend and enemy of the other’s enemy. The 1623 document specifies that if
the Ottomans go to war against another country, including their vassal states
of Moldavia, Wallachia, or Transylvania, the Crown should not support the
enemy with troops or money.

6. Merchants are to be allowed to freely pass between both states once they
have paid the traditional custom dues. The possessions of any merchants
that die while abroad are not to be confiscated by the state, but preserved
until the inheritors come forward. Debts between subjects of the two states
are to be respected in both states. The 1623 document specifically mentions
that merchants of the Commonwealth are allowed to go down the Dniester
with their goods to the markets of Akkerman and that Armenians and other

Christian subjects of the Commonweaith are not to ravel on poorly-known

roads so as to avoid regulation.

7. Envoys are to pass between the countries freely and unmolested.

8. Shepherds crossing into the territory of the Commonwealth with their
herds are to announce themselves and pay pasture tax.

9. Horses of merchants visiting the Ottoman Empire are not to be levied for
courier service (ulak) nor confiscated in time of war.

It so turned out that a new point in Mustafa’s ‘ahdname which had not been
approved by Zbaraski complicated the peace negotiations, and in fact, for a time invalidated
his diplomatic efforts. In diplomacy in general, great weight is assigned to the wording of
treaty documents, along with diplomatic ceremonies and titles. In more traditional states
this concern with implications of titles and passages in diplomatic documents was even
more exireme. It seems to have been a fairly standard practice to attempt to take advantage

of lapses on the other side in order to introduce innovations or alterations in accepted
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forms. If such a change passed unnoticed by the other side, then in the next diplomatic
encounter there would already by a precedent for the given change.54 Related above were
the unpleasantries experienced by Zbaraski because of an ambiguity that the Otiomans tried
to take advantage of in the Xotyn’ Pact with regard to payments to be made to the sultan.
That is, for what the Poles understood as meaning “gift,” the Turks used the word harac.
Thanks to the carelessness of the Polish diplomats at Xotyn’, when Zbaraski arrived in
Istanbul, he had to spend much time repudiating the alleged obligation of the
Commonwealth to pay iribute to the Porte.

Yet Zbaraski appears to have aliowed himself to be outwitted by the other side. In
his relation Zbaraski claimed that toward the end of his embassy he learned of rumors to the
effect that the return of Giircii Mehmed Pasha to the grand vizierat;: was imminent. Given
the latter’s past indisposition to him and Poles in general, Zbaraski felt that should he return
to power, the treaty would probably have to be renegotiated from scratch. And so Zbaraski
decided to leave the capital as soon as possible.55 When he received ihe final version of the
‘ahdname, he trusted that everything in the document was exactly as it had been
negotiated. He could not check the contents because he had already sent ahead of him all of
his aides, including his interpreters. When he reached the other side of the Danube and
found a translator he learned that the grand vizier had deceived him and inserted a section
into the document to which he had not agreed, namely, that the Crown was not to aid in

any way the Empire against Bethlen Gabor of Transylvania.%6 This section was completely

64Cf. Halil Inalcik, “Power Relationships between Russia, the Crimea, and the Ottoman Empire as
Reflected in Titulature,” Passé turco-tatar présent soviétique. FEtudes offertes @ Alexandre Bennigsen.
Turco-Tatar Past Soviet Present. Studies Presented to Alexander Bennigsen, Collection Turcica 6,
Louvain and Paris: Editions Peeters, Editions de I’Ecole des Hautes Etudes en Sciences Sociales, 1986: 175-
211.

6-"Osmanskaja imperija, p. 147. Roe describes his departure as more of a “flight than a retreat” (dispatch
" of 5/15 April 1623, Negotiations, p. 142).

660smanskaja imperija, pp. 147-48. Roe was rather irritated by the snafu and implied that by trusting
the vizier and failing to make sure that the treaty was checked, Zbaraski had acted incompetently. (dispatch
of 2/12 May 1623, Negotiations, p. 151). Besides the article about Bethlen Gabor, de Cezy reported that an
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unacceptable to the Crown as it was considered as amounting to an infringement upon the
Commonwealth’s sovereignty.57 Eventually, after an exchange of ietters between, on one
side, Zbaraski and the Crown, and on the other, the Porte, as well as through the
intervention of Roe, the Ottomans backed down and agreed to remove the objectionable
section from the treaty.68 However, this of course required that another mission be
dispatched to the Porte to receive the corrected version of the ‘ahdname, bringing with it,
of course, the necessary gifts.5 Such a nﬁssion would be undertaken later in that year by
Krzysztof Serebkowicz, an experienced Armenian diplomat who had been a part of

Zbaraski’s embassy (see below).

The Raids of the Tatars and the Cossacks, 1623. In February 1623, while Zbaraski was
still negotiating at the Porte, about 7,000 Tatars of Kantemir supported by 2,000
Moldavians mounted another raid on Pokuttja.’® In May and June there were more serious
incursions reaching the Peremysl’ (Przemysi) region, including beyond the San River.
Because of the unpreparedness of the Polish authorities, the Tatars succeeded in bringing

back considerable number of captives.”! In August Stanistaw Koniecpolski, the Crown

article requiring the Crown to make peace with Muscovy was also added (disspatch of 15 April 1623,
Historica Russiae, p. 424). However this was only a rumor, perhaps triggered by the French ambassador’s
misgivings about the activity of the Muscovite ambassadors. In the original of the document as well as in
Polish translations, there is no such reference to Muscovy (AGAD, Dz. turecki, k 72, t 304, nr 557;
official Polish translation, BK 333, fol. 195a-200a).

67Zygmunt I1I to Murad IV, 8 December 1623 (BK 333, fol. 193a-94a); Roe refers to the alteration as
having offended the “honor and estate of Poland” (dispatch of 30 May/9 June 1623, Negotiations, p. 158).

68The vizier blamed the alteration of the document on his chancellor (dispatch of 3/13 May 1623,
Negotiations, p. 150).

69De Cezy, dispatch of 14 May 1623 (Historica Russiae, p. 425)
76 Anonymous report (“Wiadomosé o Tatarach™), 1 March 1623 (BCz 2246, pp. 27-28).

71Stanistaw Zurkowski, Zywot Tomasza Zamojskiego kanclerza w. kor., ed. Alexander Batowski,
Lwéw: W Drukarni Zaktadu Narodowego im. Ossolinskich, 1860, pp. 87-91; Maurycy Horn, “Chronologia
i zasieg najazdéw tatarskich na ziemie Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej w latach 1600-1647,” Studia i materialy do
historii wojskowosci 8: 2 (1962): 3-71, esp. pp. 42-44; Skutki ekonomiczne najazdéw tatarskich z
lat 1605-1633 na Rus’ Czerwona, Wroctaw: Zaktad Narodowy im. Ossolifiskich—Wydawnictwo, 1964,
pp. 3941, 65.
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hetman, who had just returned from Turkish captivity, expected another raid by Kantemir’s
forces, which did not materialize.”?

An indicator of the size and strength of the Bucak horde is the fact that from April to
July 1623 its forces were also engaged in raiding Muscovy. The Bucak forces, led by
Kantemir’s relative, Urak Mirza, joined Crimean forces who took advantage of a power
struggle in the Crimea to raid in the Kursk region along the Muravskij trail. At the same
time small bands of Great Nogays raided along the old Nogay trail between the Don and
Volga Rivers north of Kozlev. Although, the 1623 Tatars raids on Muscovy were the most
serious since 16i8, they were mild in comparison with those of the previous period.”

In spring 1623, despite Zbaraski’s coming to terms with the Porte, the French
resident reported that the Ottomans expected the Cossacks to return to the Black Sea that
summer and by the middle of March were preparing a defensive flotilla of “frigates”
(probably firkata or sayka—see glossary) on the Danube and along the Black Sea coast.”
It is difficult to judge the magnitude of Cossack activity on the Black Sea that year. The
sources from the Commonwealth are mostly silent on this matter. A letter dated 20 May
1623 sent from Kaniv by Myxajlo DoroSenko, recently elected as hetman of the
Zaporozhian Cossacks, to Tomasz Zamoyski, the wojewoda of Kiev, states that
insubordinate Cossack bands had already gone out to sea.’> According to an undated letter
from that year to the king, Jerzy Zbaraski states that at first in June (“[about when the king]

left for Prussia”) he had word that 22 Zaporozhian boats went out but that eventually only

72K oniecpolski to Tomasz Zamoyski, Kievan wojewoda, 6 August 1623 (AZ 341, p. 1).
T3Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, pp. 150, 152-54.
74De Cesy, 19 March 1623 (Historica Russiae, p. 424).

75AZ 306.
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13 were active although they caused as much damage as a larger Cossack flotilla.76
According to a dispatch by Roe from Istanbul dzied 30 May/9 June, the Cossacks were in
the Black Sea and had given “many alarms to the city” which caused the Ottomans to write
three letters to Poland.”” In the letter just cited, Zbaraski informed that, when these
Cossacks returned with their booty, they again, now in 30 boats, set out for more.
Meanwhile hetman DoroSenko led a raid by land against the Crimean Tatars, robbing their
herds and flocks. Zbaraski suggested that, being unable to calm the Zaporozhians, the
Cossack hetman mounted the expedition to relieve their disaffection due to lack of earned
pay and the ill treatment suffered by the Orthodox.”® This was perhaps the same raid that
was mentioned by Serebkowicz, the current envoy of the Commonwealth to the Porte, as
having struck at Perekop and brought great losses to the Tatars.” Possibly in connection
with the same operation is the mention in the Muscovite sources that the Zaporozhians
attacked the Tatars of Mehmed Gerey while they crossed the Dnieper on their way to the
Bucak (see I.Je,low).80 The Muscovite sources indicate a raid carried out in the absence of
the Crimean khan led by the Polish noble, Tyszkiewicz, which went beyond Perekop
nearly as far as Baggesaray. It was simultaneously reported that 40 Zaporoihian boats
carried out a raid on the Crimean coast near Balaklava .8! In the account of his travels in
the middle of the century, Evliya Celebi mentioned in passing thatat the time of Murad IV’s

accession to the throne (early September 1623), the Dnieper Cossacks mounted a large raid

76Sbornik letopisej otnosja3Cixsja k istorii JuZnoj i Zapadnoj Rusi, ed. V. Antonovyg, Kiev:
Kommissija dia razroba drevnix aktov, 1888, pp. 252-53.

77Negotialions, p. 158.

78Sbornik letopisej, pp. 252-53.

T9LNB, Oss 201, p. 67.

80Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 110 (Krymskie dela).

81Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 110 (Krymskie dela).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reprod'L_Jcﬁti_or; 5rohibit'ed without permission.



47

with 300 ajkas which prompted the sultan to fortify the entrance to the Bosphorus and to
rebuild other key fortresses. There is no independent corroboration of this information. It
is likely that Evliya’s dating was approximate and that it should be understood as referring
to one of the first year’s of Murad’s reign, most likely 1625 (see below).82

In early summer when the Muscovite envoys Kondyrev and Bormosov arrived at
Kefe on their return trip from the Porte, there was an alarm that the Don Cossacks were at
sea and that an attack on the Crimea was imminent. Even before this, on 26 April, it was
reported to Moscow that already in early spring about a hundred Zaporozhians that were
staying on the Don had surreptitiously gone to sea.83 Kondyrev and Bormosov, who were
making a stopover in the Crimea on their return trip, were detained by the Tatars until the
alarm passed without any Cossack attack. They then left for Ker€, where they learned that
a flotilla of 30 Don Cossack boats was offshore in sight of the town, having already
captured a Turkish boat (komjaéa in the Muscovite source), killing half its crew, and
capturing the other half. The envoys were again arrested and forced to negotiate with the
Cossacks so that they would not harm the town. The Cossacks consented and sailed off
beyond Kefe. There is no further information on the fate of this flotilla. However, when
the envoys arrived in nearby Temriik, not far from the mouth of the Kuban River, they
were again beset, this time by the local Cerkes population, who demanded that the envoys
compensate them for the two thousand gold pieces that they had had to pay as ransom for a
chieftain recently captured by the Cossacks. When the envoys arrived at Azak on 3 August

they found a Cossack flotilla waiting at the mouth of the Don for some ships that were due

82Evliya Celebi, Seyahatname, 5, Istanbul: «Ikdam» Matba‘asi, 1315/1897-1898, p. 183; Kniga
putesestvija (IzvieZenija iz soinenija tureckogo puteSestvennika XVII veka), tr. and ed. A. D. Zeltjakov, A.
S. Tveritinova et al., Moscow: Akademija nauk SSSR, Izdatel’stvo vostotnoj literatury, 1961, p. 114.

83 Istoriceskoe opisanie, p. 184 (Tureckie dela); also in Vossoedinenie, 1, no. 20, p. 44.

\
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to arrive from Kefe. There again, the envoys were threatened by the local population and

subjected to all sorts of indignities on account of the Cossacks.34

From the events recounted in this chapter it is evident that by the middle of 1623,
less than two year after the War of Xotyn’ (which the Ottomans mounted in response to
incessant Cossack raids on the Black Sea and to repeated Polish and Cossack interventions
in Moldavia) the situation for Istanbul and Warsaw on the frontier had not only failed to
improve, but had actually deteriorated. During Zbaraski’s negotiations at the Porte it
became clear that the main problem that pitted the two states against each other was not a
clash of geopolitical goals, but the inability of both to control their frontier populations. In
1622, it became evident that the Bucak horde, led by Kantemir, was a new major threat to
the Commonwealth’s security, as serious as, if not more serious than, that of the Crimean
Khanate. As for the Zaporozhian Cossacks, although they were somewhat restricted in
their raiding activity in the year following Xotyn’, even then, many of them managed to
find opportunities to raid the Black Sea by moving east and launching raids from the Don
River together with the Don Cossacks. By 1623, the raids by the Cossacks from both the
Don and Dnieper river basins had reached, if not surpassed, the level of before Xoiyn’.
During the war, the ranks of the Ukrainian Cossacks swelled as a result of the Crown’s call
to arms of all possible forces. After the conflict, when the Cossacks were no longer
needed, the Crown tried to force the unregistered Cossacks to leave the Cossack way of life
and return to their previous status. Instead, these unregistered Cossacks (who made up the
vast majority of Ukrainian Cossackdom) joined in the raiding of the Black: Sca. Thus it can
be said that the Xotyn’ conflict not only did not help solve, but in fact, exacerbated the
Cossack problem for the Ottomans as well as the Poles by enlarging the body of armed

men with few opportunities besides brigandage on the Black Sea.

84 storiceskoe opisanie, pp. 173-76 (Tureckie dela).
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CHAPTER II
The Cossacks and Rise of Mehmed and Sahin Gerey, 1623-1624

During 1623, in the midst of the normal pattern of incessant and often unpredictable
Cossack and Tatar incursions, a change occurred in the Crimea that altered and complicated
the international situation for both the surrounding powers as well for the inhabitants of the
Black Sea frontier. In late Apsil or early May, Canbeg Gerey was finally removed from the
Crimean throne and replaced by Mehmed Gerey. A year later, in early May 16Z4, his
brother Sahin Gerey joined him and became the kalga of the Khanate. These two
princes—sons of Se‘adet Gerey, grandsons of Khan Mehmed Gerey II (1577-1584), and
great grandsons of the famous khan, Devlet Gerey (1551-1577)—already had reputations
for ambition for power as well as for talent in politics and intrigue. As -early as the first
years of the century, they participated in an unsuccessful revolt against Khan Gazi Gerey
II, “Bora ,” (1588-1596, 1597-1607) led by kalga Selamet Gerey.! Upon the death of
Gazi Gerey, the two brothers were named kalga and nureddin, respectively, under the new
Khan Selamet Gerey (1608-1610). Before long, Mehmed and $ahin Gerey unsuccessfully

attempted to wrest the khanship from Selamet Gerey and were forced to flee to Circassia.2

11 Khanat de Crimée dans les Archives du Musée du Palais de Topkapi, eds. Alexandre Bennigsen,
Pertev Naili Boratav, Dilek Desaive, Chantal Lemercier-Quelquejay, Paris and The Hague: Mouton, 1978,
p. 336.

2Abdullah Ridvan Pagazade, Tevarih-i Degt-i Kipgak in La chronique des steppes kiptchak Tevarih-i
dest-i Qip&aq du XVIIC siécle, ed. Ananiasz Zajaczkowski, Warsaw: Panstwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe,
1966, pp. 39-40. The Circassians as a source of troops were often an important factor in Crimean power
struggles.
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When Selamet Gerey suddenly died, Mehmed and $ahin Gerey, with the support of the
Circassians, crossed the Straits of Ker¢, marched into the Crimean capital, Baggesaray, and
without Ottoman permission, named themselves khan and kalga. After an armed conflict,
Canbeg Gerey, with support of the governor-generai (beglerbegiy of Kefe and troops
brought by Ottoman galleys, prevaiied and was installed as khan.3 From 1610 until 1614,
the struggle for the throne among these rivals continued. The two brothers based
themselves in the Akkerman steppes and from there carried out raids for captives into the
neighboring Ukrainian lands. Like typical Turkic kazaks, they used their military

successes to gain charisma and thereby attract more and more followers, until they became

a serious threat to the khan. A passage in the Ottoman chronicle of Na‘ima conveys this:

Mehmed Gerey and his brother Sahin Gerey had their yurd in the steppe of
Akkerman and lived close to the Rus’ (Ris, i.e., Ukrainians). With a
group of Tatars under them, they continually made raids on the Rus’
infidels and brought out captives (esir) and sold them, making in this way a
living. Eventually because of the richness,of their booty they gained
[increasing] power and to their side came many Tatars desirous of raiding
and plundering. And thus they gathered a great army. They attained such a
level that even the Tatar khan’s army was inclined to join them. Khan
Canbeg Gerey became anxious. As for them, they paid no attention to him
and kept bringing out captives from the Rus’ and Slavs (Saklab) and
selling them at Akkerman. Khan Canbeg Gerey declared them as being in
rebellion . . .4

By 1614, Khan Canbeg Gerey (1610-1623, 1628-1635) had finally defeated the two
brothers. Mehmed Gerey fled to Istanbul where he asked for mercy and was eventually

imprisoned first at Yedi Kule and later on the island of Rhodes. Sahin Gerey fled to

3Ridvan Pagazade, Tevarah-i Dest, pp. 42-54.

_4Mus;afi Na‘ima, Ravzatil'l-hiiseyn fi pulasati apbari’l-hafikayn, 2 [=Tarih], Istanbul: Matba‘a-i
‘Amire, 1281-1283/1864-1866, pp. 326-27.
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Safavid Iran where he was granted refuge at the court of Shah ‘Abbas. In Iran $ahin
Gerey remained a constant threat to Canbeg Gerey’s thirone, forcing the latter to remain in
the Crimea rather than fulfill Ottoman orders to participate on various campaigns. In
addition Sahin Gerey became an inveterate enemy of the Ottomans and even participated in
wars against them on the side of the Safavids.’ |
Why did the Porte unseat Canbeg Gerey in favor of Mehmed Gerey? It was
pointed out above that ever since Xotyn’, and even earlier, the Ottomans were unhappy
with Canbeg Gerey’s performance and were planning to depose him. The English-
ambassador Roe related that the official reason was to strengthen the peace with the
Commonwealth, and grand admiral (kapudan paga) Halil even asked Roe to write to the
Poles to explain that the change was made “only for the performance [i.e., compliance] of
the treaty.” Although Roe admitted that this may have been one of the motivations, he was
of the opinion that the grand vizier, Mere Hiiseyn Pasha, had some more secret reason.5
During the unstable rule of Sultan Mustafa, the way was open to many intrigues including
those of Mehmed and Sahin Gerey, who had never given up their campaign to regain the
Khanate’s throne. That the reason for the change was more one of personal intrigue than
policy is confirmed by the Ottoman and Tatar chronicles. They divulge that Mehmed Gerey
and Mere Hiiseyn spent time together in exile at Rhodes and became close friends. And so,
almost immediately upon Hiiseyn’s appointment to the grand vizierate, Mehmed Gerey was
released from Rhodes and pronounced khan of the Crimea.” On 9/19 May 1623 Mehmed

5A. A. Novosel'skij, Bor'ba Moskovskogo gosudarstva s tatarami v pervoj polovine XVII veka,
Moscow and Leningrad: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, 1948, p. 86.

8The Negotiations of Sir Thomas Roe in His Embassy to the Ottoman Porte, from the Year 1621-
1628 Inclusive, London, 1740, pp. 149-50.

TKatib Celebi, Fezleke, 2, Istanbul: Ceride-1 Havadis Matba‘asi, 1287/1870-1871, p. 56; Seyyid
Muhammed Riza, Es-seb‘u’s-siyyar fi ahbari muliki tatar, in Asseb’ o-ssejjar ili Sem’ planet soderZa-Cij
istoriju krymskix xanov . . ., ed. Kazembek, Kazan: Imperatorskij kazanskij universitet, 1832; see also V.
D. Smirnov, Krymskoe Xanstvo pod verxovenstvom Otomanskoj porty do nafala XVIII veka, St.
Petersburg, 1887, pp. 479-80; that Hiiseyn Pasha was responsible for bringing Mehmed Gerey out of exile
is also attested to by Ridvan Pagazade, Tevarih-i Degt, p. 57.
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Gerey arrived at Kefe with an escort of twelve galleys carrying many of his followers as
well as Ottoman troops, and by 15/25 May he entered Baggesaray.? Although some
expected that Canbeg Gerey would not give up the Khanate without a fight, he cbediently
surrendered his throne and was exiled to Rhodes.

Mehmed and the Northern Countries, 1623. The accession of a new khan to the Crimean
throne always brought uncertainties to the relations between the Khanate and the northern
powers since the terms of peace were based on the personal agrecment between the khan
and the Polish or Muscovite ruler. Thus with the change of khan it was necessary to send a
diplomatic mission to Baggesaray in order to reconfirm the peace and the level of gifts
(upominki in the Polish sources, pominki in the Muscovite).1® For Moscow, the
accession of Mehmed Gerey in 1623 was an uncertain development not only because of the
usual questions of what the diplomatic line of the new khan would be, but also because of
the projected improvement in Ottoman-Polish relations following Zbaraski’s mission.
Once they made peace with the Commonwealth, the Ottomans would try to deter the
Crimean Tatars from mounting raids against the Commonwealth, and so, the Tatars would
most likely seek to mount raids against Muscovy.!! Despite these uncertainties,!2 in the
first year of his reign Mehmed Gerey did not alter Crimean policy toward Muscovy and no

raids were mounted against it. In July, envoys Ja. Daskov and V. Volkov arrived in the

8Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 108 (Krymskie dela). Thirteen galleys according to Negotiations, p. 150.
9Negotiations, p. 150.

19Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, p. 106.

1Novosel'skij, Bor'ba, pp. 106-107.

12A¢cmally when Mehmed Gerey was appointed, an incident occurred that did not bode well for Moscow.

~ In April 1623, as Kondyerv and Rormosov were preparing to sail from Istanbul, newly appointed Mehmed

Gerey threatened them and demanded that they give him sables. Eventually he boarded their ship and

demanded that the diplomats come before him. When the diplomats complained to the grand vizier, he

dismissed the incident, commenting that Mehmed Gerey did this out of *“simplicity” and that he must have
been “drunk.” (Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, p. 107 [Tureckie dela}).
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Crimea to bring the annual pominki, which were only slightly greater than those delivered
in the previous year to Canbeg Gerey. Although initially the khan expressed some
dissatisfaction with the gifts, he accepted them and proceeded to swear the §ert’ to the
tsar.!3

When Mehmed Gerey arrived in the Crimea in May 1623, an envoy of the
Commonwealth, Krzysztof Krauzowski, was in Baggesaray on a mission to the previous
khan. The envoy’s diary relates the dialdgue of the new khan’s presumably first audience
with him.14 In this meeting, Mehmed Gerey displayed outright hostility, which suggested
that he would continue Canbeg Gerey’s anti-Polish line, even though he was aware that
Zbaraski had just concluded a peace with the Porte. The dialogue began with an argument
between Mehmed Gerey and Krauzowski regarding the upominki. The khan, calling them
“tribute,” expressed his unhappiness with the failure of the Commonwealth to deliver them
in the past years and cited Muscovy as an example of a good neighbor that paid the annual
tribute. The envoy objected to the upominki being referred to as tribute, stating that they
were voluntary payments made out of a desire for good relations, and that Muscovy paid
them only to ransom its many captives.

Here an important point needs to be made about the annual payments which the
Khanate expected from both of its northern neighbors in exchange for refraining from
raiding them. During these years, the Crown, with its treasury perennially in a state of near
bankruptcy, resisted paying the upominki, and used every excuse to avoid paying them
(much to the consternation of noble landlords in the Ukraine whose possessions were

affected by the raids). And Zygmunt III, with his ambitions in the north, which included

13 Aithough they arrived in July, the khan did not receive them as he was just about to go on campaign
(see below); they were finally received by the khan when he was back in the Crimea in November
(Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, pp. 110-11).

14y 166, fol. 78a-79b (Zerela do istoriji Ukrajiny-Rusi, 8: Materijaly do istoriji ukrajins’koji kosaZ&yny,
1: Dokumenty po rik 1631 ed. Ivan Krypjakevy&, Lviv: Naukove Tovarystvc imeni SevEenka, 1908, no.
174, pp. 276-81).
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the Swedish throne, was against diverting much needed funds toward the humiliating
payments to the Khanate. Thus, the Crimea was constantly making demands that
upominki unpaid in previous years be brought up to date. Because of the Crown’s
reluctance, even in times of relatively good relations, the Tatars had an excuse to mount
raids against the Commonwealth.!5 During the same years, Moscow went to great
measures the assure relative calm on its southern borderlands as it prepared for war with
the Commonwealth. Therefore it made the annual payments to the Khanate (pominki)
regularly. For this reason, Mehmed and $ahin Gerey themselves went to great efforts to
make sure that no major raids were mounted on the territories of Muscovy (even though, as
will be seen below, the kalga was hostile to Moscow and planned eventually to go to war
against it in alliance with the Commonwealth).16

Krauzowski continued that, as far as the Tatars were concerned, there could be no
comparison between Muscovy and the Commonwealth, considering how badly the former
had treated its Tatar and Muslim subjects and how well the latter treated its Lithuanian
Tatars.l? Krauzowski maintained that all in all, the Khanate had no justified grievance
against the Crown. In addition, in accordance with the peace between the Crown and
Porte, there was to supposed be peace between former and the Khanate. To this, Mehmed
Gerey replied truthfully that the recent raid against the Commonwealth was launched before
he arrived and was the work of Kantemir. He then promised to punish Kantemir without

delay and to deport all the Tatars from the Akkerman steppes.18 Although by the end of the

15gee Myxajlo Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 7, Kiev, 1909; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-
spilka, 1956, pp. 540-41.

16Novosel’skij, Bor’ ba, pp. 122-24.

17 As an example of the respect with which the Commonwealth treated its Tatar subjects, Krauzowski
pointed to the fact that two Lithuanian Tatars were standing beside him, presumably as his aides (BJ fol. ;
BJ [Zerela, 8, p. 276] omits the the word “tw2”).

1831n the course of this audience, the khan also complained abeut the unceasing Cossack attacks on his
lands and on Ottoman domains (Zerela, 8, p. 279).
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audience both Mehmed Gerey and Krauzowski promised that their respective sides would
do nothing to upset the newly established peace, Krauzowski’s mission did not bring about

a significant improvement in Crimean-Crown relations.®

The Crimean Khanate and the Bucak Horde

Mehmed Gerey’s Expedition to the Bucak, 1623. Indeed Khan Mehmed Gerey III's
first significant act was to mour: an expedition against Kantemir and the Bucak horde.
This was a logical action for a khan intent on reestablishing the primacy of the Crimean
Khanate in the Black Sea steppes. However it was upon orders from the Porte that the new
khan proceeded against Kantemir. As related above, the removal of Kantemir was a sine
qua non for peace, which the diplomats of the Commonwealth pressed for relentlessly.
Even before the end of Zbaraski’s embassy to the Porte, the grand vizier sent a letter in
which he threatened Kantemir that he would lose his head if he did not stay within his
boundaries.?o More recently, Serebkowicz’s continued insistence that without Kantemir’s
dismissal there could be no peace, coupled with the fact that in 1623 Kantemir’s forces
were raiding the Commonwealth without provocation, had compelled the Porte to take
measures against him. Probably what finally prompted the Ottomans into action was
Serebkowicz’s offer to send Cossacks against Kantemir. To paraphrase his words,
although the sultan had a great army, Kantemir with his 30,000 Tatars should not be
underestimated and, after all, the treaty stipulated that the king should be an enemy to the

sultan’s enemy.2! Roe confirmed that the Ottomans viewed the envoy’s offer of fraternal

19Bohdan Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna w latach 1624-1629, L.6dz: Lédzkie Towarzystwo
Naukowe, 1948, pp. 24-25.

20Zbaraski, Diariusz albo relatia X Jeo Mci Zbarawskiego koniuszego koronnego posla wielkiego do
cesarza ottomanskiego w roku panskim 1622, in Osmanskaja imperija v pervoj Cetverti X VII veka. Sbornik
dokumentov i materialov, eds. X. M. Ibragimbejli, N. C. RaSba, Moscow: Izdatel’stvo «Nauka», Glavnaja
redakcija vosto€noj literatury, 1984, pp. 102-48, esp. p. 129.

21LNB, Oss 201, p. 66.
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aid via Cossack intervention as a serious threat and that it forced them to move quickly
against Kantemir,22

Orders to act against Kantemir were issued in June, and in addition to Khan
Mehmed Gerey, they were also addressed to the Moldavian and Wallachian voyvodas, and
various Ottoman frontier governors.23 However it was the khan who was given the
primary responsibility for removing Kantemir. In all the sources it is clear that the reason
given for Kantemir’s deposition was his illegal raids on the Commonwealth.24

Despite the initial success of the Commonwealth’s resolute diplomacy, Ottoman
policy on Kantemir continued to waver. At the end of August, on the eve of the accession
of Murad IV, Mere Hiiseyn Pasha was deposed from the grand vizierate and replaced by
Kemankes ‘Ali Pasha.?’ In a dispatch from the beginning of October, Roe informed that it
was decided to forgive Kantemir and to restore him to the post of governor-general of
Ozi.26 Serebkowicz saw the danger of a reversal on Kantemir and persistently lobbied
before the new grand vizier against him. At first, ‘Ali Pasha promised to follow the policy
of the previous vizier and sent Mehmed Gerey an order to continue the campaign against

Kantemir.2? There are no details of this campaign, although it was a protracted one, as the

22Negotiau'ons, p. 170. Atanother audience, Serebkowicz’s offer was taken as an offense to the prestige
of the sultan (LNB, Oss 201, p. 67).

23LNB, Oss 201, Pp. 66 (Serebkowicz’s relation). No texts of these orders are available, and all that is
known about them stems from references in foreign sources. According to Krauzowski's diary, the ¢avus
from Istanbul bearing the orders to move against Kantemir arrived in Baggesaray on 24 June 1623 (Zerela,
8, p. 279). When Dadkov and Volkov arrived in July 1623, the khan was still in his capital but was about
to leave. According to the reports of the Muscovite envoys, he finally did set out at the end of June
(Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 110) although, according to Krauzowski, the Khan did not send advance troops
against Kantemir until July 4. Roe mentions the sultan’s order in his dispaich from 9/19 August 1623
(Negotiations, p. 169-70).

2ANovosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 110; Negotiations, p. 170; Zerela, 8, p. 277.

251stnail Hami Danigmend, Jzahl: osmanls tarihi kronolojisi, 3: M. 1574-1703, H, 987-1115, Istanbui:
Tiirkiye Yaymevi, 1972, p. 322.

26pjsptach of 3/13 October 1623 (Negotiations, p. 181).

271.NB, Oss 201, p. 68 (Serebkowicz’s relation).
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khan did not return to the Crimea until the middle or late fall.22  When Mehmed Gerey
wrote to the Porte that he had succeeded in taking Kantemir prisoner, the reply was that
Kantemir was now reappointed to his old position and that he should be escorted back to
Silistre. Serebkowicz explained this turnabout as the result of Kantemir’s secretly sending
bribes to the new grand vizier and other officials at the Porte. Upon learning of this secret
order, Serebkowicz lodged a severe protest with ‘Ali Pasha. At first the grand vizier
refused to budge, saying that this was the will of the sultan, but when the envoy went to
the mufti, kadr ‘askers, and other pashas, a meeting (miisavere) was called in which it
was decided to let Kantemir’s deposition stand.??

According to Muscovite sources, Mehmed Gerey forced Kantemir to migrate, along
with his 30,000 Tétars, to the region of the river Molo¢ni Vody (today Molo€na) in the so-
called Kipcak steppe (Degt-i Kipcak) north of the Sea of Azov.30 In a letter to Tomasz
Zamoyski, the Kiev wojewoda, Crown hetman Stanistaw Koniecpolski wrote that he had
learned from his spy that the khan had driven away from the Bucak all the Tatars that had
been living near Akkerman for the past forty years, along with their belongings.31 As
Serebkowicz was about to leave Istanbul, he noted that a letter arrived from the khan stating
that Kantemir was his prisoner and that he had driven all the Bucak Tatars to the Crimea
and burned their houses and huts (domy i szalasze).3? It is impossible to say for certain
what portion of the Bucak horde was forced to migrate east—whether this included Tatars

of Dobrudja, Kili, and Bender, besides those of the Bucak, and whether these Tatars were

28 According to Novosel’skij’s sources, until September or the end of October Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, p.
110 {Krymskie dela]). However there is a Polish copy of a letter of Mehmed Gerey sent to Zygmunt III
from near Akkerman dated 27 or 28 November 1623 (BJ 102, pp. 577-78; BJ 109, fol. 16a-17b; BK 333,
fol. 191a-93a).

29LNB, Oss 201, pp. 69-70.

30Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 110 (Krymskie dela).

3114 October 1623, AGAD, AZ 341, p. 3.

321 NB, Oss 201, p. 71.
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driven to the Crimea or the Kipchak steppes or to both regions. The satisfaction and
optimism on this occasion expressed by Koniecpoiski, one of the great colonizers of the
Ukrainian borderlands of the Commonwealth,33 suggests that a substantial portion of the
Bucak horde must have been deported in the fall of 1623. However, future events would
show that the notion of forced migration en masse was prompted by hyperbolic assurances
by the Ottomans and wishful thinking by the Poles. What was really at issue was the
displacement of enough important Bucak Tatar clan chiefs and their forces, along with their
supreme chief Kantemir, to reduce significantly cross-border incursions. In the coming
years, the effectiveness of forced migration of the Bucak Tatars in assuring peace on the
frontier would be a function of the number and the importance of the deported chiefs and
their clans.

The pacification of the Bucak horde and the resulting Polish optimism for better
relations with the Crimea netwithstanding, there was no immediate improvement in
Crimean-Polish relations. According to the Muscovite sources, during Mehmed Gerey’s
campaign in the Bucak he was visited by Polish envoys who tried to convince him to ally
himself with the Crown and go to war against Muscovy, so that the Tatars could regain
Kazan, Astrakhan, and Siberia, while the Poles would put Wladystaw on the Muscovite
throne. The khan was unreceptive to these overtures, and instead demanded that the
Crown deliver the outstanding upominki for the last seven years.34 The story of this
Polish mission, which one of Mehmed Gerey’s men told to Daskov and Volkov, is not
corroborated in the Polish sources, and there may have been some exaggeration in the
portrayal of Mehmed Gerey as a friend of Muscovy. Nevertheless, whether or not there

was any such diplomatic approach and rebuff during Mehmed Gerey’s Bucak campaign,

33a7 341, p. 3.

34Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 110 (Krymskie dela). In a letter of Mehmed Gerey to Zygmunt dated 27 or
28 November 1623, there is a demand for upominki for the last two, rather than seven, years (BJ 102, pp.
577-78; BJ 109, fol. 16a-17b; BK 333, fol. 191a-93a).
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events occurred which did nothing to improve, and could have easily completely derailed,
Crimean-Crown relations. These were Zaporozhian raids on the Crimea during Mehmed
Gerey’s absence, as weil as attacks by other subjects of the Commonwealth, which have
already been mentioned above—a land raid led by hetman DoroSenko, an attack on
Mehmed Gerey’s forces at a crossing of tlie Dnieper as they were on their way to the
Bucak, a raid led by Tyszkiewicz, going nearly to Baggesaray, and a naval raid near
Balaklava. Novosel’skij is of the opinion that these raids not only deterred Mehmed Gerey
from a rapprochement with the Commonwealth, bht also triggered large raids by both
Bucak and Crimean forces.35 Indeed in a letter to king Zygmunt sent from the Bucak on
27 or 28 November 1623, Mehmed Gerey warned that if the Cossacks did not cease their
depredations, and if their boats were not burned, he would have sufficient cause for
breaking the peace. However, despite the fact that the matter of the Cossacks appears again
at the end of the letter along with other protests and admonitions, the general tone of the
letter is constructive—Krauzowski’s embassy is refc.:rred to as a step toward peace and
friendship, the campaign against Kantemir is stressed as an undertaking for bringing peace
in the region, and the letter ends with the usual “friend of friend and enemy of enemy”
formula.3¢ Thus the evidence on whether the Tatar raids after Mehmed Gerey’s campaign
were in direct retaliation to those of the Cossacks is not clear-cut.

As for the raid from the Bucak, it was mounted by a reported 15,000 Tatars into
Galicia in January and February 1624. It was carried out by two main parties: One, led
by a son of Kantemir, struck in the neighborhood of Cortkiv (Czortkéw), and the other,
led by a certain ‘Ali Pasha, struck near Jazlovec’ (Jaztowiec). Even though the group led
by Kantemir’s son was thwarted by Stefan Chmielecki and Jan Dzik, overali, the Tatars

brought back a decent haul of captives and managed to destroy and plunder seventy villages

35Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, pp. 110-11.

36BJ 102, pp. 577-78; BJ 109, fol. 16a-17b; BK 333, fol. 191a-93a.
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and six small towns.37 Although it may have been exaggerated, the naming of a figure of
15,000 Tatars implics that even though Mehmed Gerey may have deported Kantemir and a
significant portion of his horde, the Bucak and surrounding lands were by no means
emptied of Tatars. Ii may have been the case that in the few monibs afier the deportation,
many of the Bucak Tatars managed to slip out from under Crimean control and return to
their old places. On 20 March 1624, Zygmunt III wrote a letter to Murad IV in which he
made just such a contention: “a number of Tatars have returned to the Akkerman and
Bender [regions] so as to infest our kingdom in the spring when the ice melts.”>® The only
infoxmatioﬁ about the other raid is found in the Muscovite sources. It was supposedly led
by the nureddin Devlet Gerey. Cossack boats were burned at a crossing of the Dnieper,
and captives were brought back without any opposition.3® If indeed this raid involved a
high member of the Crimean ruling dynasty and Crimean forces, it would have been a
serious breach in the relations between the Khanate and Commonwealth.

Yet despite the continuing instability on the frontier, the diplomats of the
Commonwealth and of the Porte continued their efforts toward normalizing relations. By
the end of 1623, Serebkowicz had obtained a corrected version of the sultan’s ‘ahdname
and was on his way back to Warsaw with an Ottoman envoy by the name of ‘Abdi Cavus.
In early April 1624, Zygmunt III sent the Ottoman ¢avug back to the Porte. With him went
his new envoy, Krzysztof Kielczewski, who carried the Crown’s confirmation (rewersal)

of the ‘ahdname as well as the letter to Murad IV from 20 March just cited. The

37Maurycy Hom, “Chronologia i zasigg najazd6w tatarskich na ziemie Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej w
latach 1600-1647," Studia i materialy do historii wojskowos’ci 8: 2 (1962): 3-71. esp. pp. 44-45 (Ksicgi
Grodzkie Halickie, Buskie, Lwowskie, Trembowelskie); Aleksander, Czolowski, “Dwa dyaryusze najazdéw
tatarskich na Ru$ w r. 1618 1 1624,” Kwartalnik historyczny 6 (1892): 93-99; Vossoedinenie Ukrainy s
Rossiej. Dokumenty v tréx tomax, 1: 1620-1647, Moscow: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk, 1953, no. 21, pp.
45-46 (Ksiggi Grodzkie Halickie). HruSevs'kyj and Baranowski are apparentlv mistaken in ascribing this
raid to Kantemir, who was at this time in the custody of Mehmed Gerey (Hru3evs'kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 517;
Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, p. 22).

38AGAD, LL 30, fol. 10b-11a; BK 333, fol. 173a-75b; B 109, fol 29a-32a.

39Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 110-11 (Xrymskie dela).
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rewersal), 40 letter, and Kielczewski’s instructions?! reflect Warsaw’s dismay with the
recent raid by the Bucak Tatars. At this juncture, there emerged a more intransigent line in
the Commonwealth’s diplomacy wsward ihic Porte. In the past, the tendency was to
promise to prevent the Cossacks from raiding in return for the Ctioizans piedging the same
with respect to the Tatars. In effect, a basic equivalency in the threats posed by the two
frontier dwellers had been recognized. Now the Crown alleged that it could do nothing
abbut the Cossack naval raids until the Ottomans first curbed the Tatar incursions. Two
none too original reasons were given. First, because of the Tatar incursions, the:
population of the Cossacks had grown, “for when peasants who engaged in farming lost
their children, wives, homes, and all their wealth, they had to head for Cossacks—the
Tatars themselves forced them into vengeance.” Second, the raiding Tatar armies did not
allow the Crown’s army to go after the Cossacks “to the nests from which [they] went out
tosea...”; “ .. as was the case in the past, so too now . . . the army was sent against the
Cossacks only to learn that the Tatars were raiding.”42 In the event thai Cossack raids
occurred while Kielczewski was at the Porte, the envoy was instructed to insist that the
Tatars caused many times more damage than the Cossacks since they came to the sea in
forces of several hundred men whereas the Tatars raided in forces of several tens of
thousands.43 Of course as stated, the comparison was dubious, with the Cossack threat
understated (100 men amounted to only two ¢ajkas or so) and the Tatar threat overstated

(the total number of Tatars on the frontier may have numbered in the tens of thousands;

40AGAD, LL 30. fol. 30a-35b (1 April 1624). An excerpted version of the rewersatrelating to
Moldavian uffairs is in Documente privitoare la istoria Romaniei culese din arhivele polone. Secolul al
XVIl-lea, ed. B¢ Corfus, Bucharest: Editura Academiei Republicii Socialiste Romania, 1983, no. 57, pp.
115-17.

41AGAD, LL 30, fol. 13a-15a; BK 333, fol. 168a-71a; BJ 109, 53b-56b. An excerpted version of the
instruction relating to Moldavian affairs is in Documente . . . XVII (Corfus), no. 54, p. 113.

42AGAD, LL 30, fol. 13b. See also BJ 109, fol 31b.

43AGAD, LL 30, fol. 14b-15a.
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rarely if ever were their raiding expeditions of such size).44 As will become evident below,

this shift in the Commonwealth’s posture did not go unnoticed at the Porte.

The Ottoman Campaign to the Crimea of 1624

Mehmed Gerey appears to have been in the good graces of the Ottomans untii they
learned that the arrival of his brother Sahin Gerey from Iran and his appointment as kalga
were imminent. More than a month before §ahin Gerey’s arrival at the Crimea, it was
already well-known in Istanbul that he was on his way—as early as 3/13 April 1624, Roe
reported this in one of his dispatches.4> Thus when Sahin Gerey arrived on 9/19 May,*6
the Porte had already decided to reinstall Canbég Gerey on the Crimean thrbne, and was in
the process of preparing a naval force to this end. Aside from Sahm’s reputation, the fact
that he was coming with the permission of Shah ‘Abbag, and with an escort of kizilbas
troops (2,000, according to some Muscovite sources),47 meant that Sahin Gerey, and
because of him, also Mehmed Gerey, would not be tolerated as kaiga and khan of the
Crimea. There was a concerted effort on the part of Canbeg Gerey to intrigue against the
two broilicrs—it was probabiy from him that rumors originated to the effect that Mehmed
Gerey and Sahin Gerey were planning to take advantage of the disarray in the capital,

capture Edirne, and ultimately topple and replace the Ottoman dynasty.4®

44In 1623 Serebkowicz used the same argument at the Porte when confronted with the occurrence of a
Cossack raid (LNB, Oss 201, p. 71).

45Negotiations, p- 231,
46Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 111 (Krymskie dela)
4TRidvan Pagazade, Tevarah-i Degt, p. 59; Katib Celebi, Fezleke, 56; Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 111
" (Krymskie dela); cf. a report of the Putiv]l’ voevoda to Moscow which states that $ahin Gerey arrived after
Easter in 1624 with only 70 retainers (Materjaly, p. 159).

48Na‘ima, Tarih, 2, p. 331.
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On 21/31 May 1624,49 a mere thirteen days after Sahin’s arrival in the Crimea,3?
Canbeg Gerey and his brothers Devlet Gerey and ‘Azamet Gerey landed at Kefe to be
installed as khan, kalga, and nureddin, respectively. They were accompanied by a force of
janissaries on twelveS! or thirteenS2 galleys headed by Ibrahim Pasha, the brother of the
powerful Mustafa Aga, chief of the white eunuchs of the palace (kapu agasi). According
to Katib Celebi, who gives a slightly different version, Canbeg Gerey was sent ahead with
four galleys with vizier Hasan Pasha as commander (serdar) and with kapuct bag:
Mustafa.53 The rest of the fleet was left in Varna. When they arrived in Kefe, they found
Mehmed and Sahin Gerey waiting outside Kefe with the Tatar army. Faced with this
situation, they immediately sent a galley back to Istanbul asking for reinforcements.54 On
15/25 May, Ree repoiied that ten more galleys were sent (either from Varna or the capital)
to reinforce the original thirteen galleys sent to install Canbeg Gerey.5

By the time the first Ottoman ships left for the Crimea, the Cossacks had aiready
opened that year’s raiding season. In April, 1,500 Don and Zaporozhian Cossacks went
out from the Don River on 55 boats under the command of a certain Zaporozhian named

Dem”jan. According to the Muscovite sources, this raid was in response to a raid, albeit an

49Novosel'skij, Bor' ba, p. 111 (Krymskie dela).

50L etter of Sahin Gerey to Zygmunt III, 19 August 1624 (Seweryn Golgbiowskl, “Szahin Giraj i
Kozacy,” Biblioteka warszawska 1852, no. 2: 1-27, esp. p. 17; Alexander Baran, “Shahin Girai of the
Crimea and the Zaporozhian Cossacks,” Jubilee Collection of the Ukrainian Free Academy of Sciences,
Winnipeg: UVAN, 1976: 15-33, esp. p. 26).

51Novosel’skij, Bor’ ba, p. 111 (Krymskie dela).

52pjspatch of 1/11 May 1624 (Negotiations, p. 236).

53De Cesy confirms the presence of a kapuct bagi, but also mentions a kad: and mufti, dispatch of 1
September 1624 (Historica Russiae monumenta/Akty istoriCeskie otnosjasCiesja k Rossii, 2, ed. A. L
Turgenev, St. Petersburg: Tipografija Eduarda Praca, 1842, p. 427).

54Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 56-57; Negotiations, p. 247. The aforementioned 31 May date of the
Muscovite sources may have been the date not of the arrival of Canbeg but of the fleet commanded by
Ibrahim Pagha.

55Negotiarions, p. 241.
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unsuccessful one, in December 1623 by the Azovites and headed by a certain Turk called
Hasan Beg (Asanbej) on a Don Cossack town by the name of Many€. In the “reprisal”
raid, however, the Cossacks entered the Crimea from the Sea of Azov and sacked the town
of Eski Krim (today Staryj Krym). Thereupon the Cossacks raided a number of uluses in
the vicinity of Ker€. Then, when the Don Cossacks returned to the Don, the Zaporozhians
returned to their original home on the Dnieper.5 From the other side, 80 Zaporozhian
boats entered the Black Sea from the Dnieper and seized a village near Kefe, killing many
Tatars.57 The presence of Cossacks proved also to be an impediment to the ships
designated to sail to the aid of Ottoman Crimea. According to Roe, as soon as the first
galleys entered the Black Sea, they met a small kara miirsel from which it was learned that
there were 40 Cossack boats ahead of them. Upon hearing this, the janissaries on the
galleys mutinied and forced the commander to retreat back into the Bosphorus until more
men were supplied.5® Word of the Cossack presence in the Black Sea also reached the
capital from Kefe. On 1/11 May, Roe reported the t:ollowing alarming and undoubtedly
somewhat exaggerated news:

The city of Caffa having sent their mufti and other commissioners to inform

the grand vizier that 400 boats of Cossacks are abroad, that they have done

great spoils on the coast of Tartaria, and of this empire, and taken many

ships laden with provisions for the port [i.e., Istanbul]; and 40,000 more
armed and horsed, ready for some land attempt, which hath put all those

56 storiceskoe opisanie zemli Vojska donskogo, 1, NovoZerkassk: Izdanie Vojskovogo Statistiteskogo
Komiteta, 1869, pp. 185-87 (Krymskie dela). On the return sail, the Don flotilla lost twelve boats in a
storm.

57De Cesy, dispaich of 12 May 1624 (Historica Russiae, p. 426). The French ambassador also reported
that the Poles and Cossacks had an army large enough to enter the Crimea by land and enough well-armed
boats to prevent anyone from escaping the Crimea, which allegedly caused a great sensation in Istanbul.

58Negotiations, p. 242,
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parts in great fear; [because of this the inhabitants of Kefe] have desired that
present care and provision might be taken and ordered for their defense.>®

Indeed from the available accounts it is clear that the Ottomans, anxious to unseat
Mehmed and $ahin Gerey as soon as possible, were hard-pressed to gather sufficient
forces for the task. Earlier in the year, Bagdad had fallen to the Safavids, and a few
months before, Abaza Pasha, the governor of Erzurum, had again revolted against the
central government. Meanwhile,the grand vizier, Cerkes Mehmed Pasha, was preparing an
expedition to eastern Anatolia.5® At the same time, the main imperial fleet under the
command of the newly appointed grand admiral Receb Pasha was preparing to set out for
the Mediterranean. Upon receipt of the request for aid from the force sent to the Crimea,
Receb Pasha and the imperial fleet were ordered to sail to Kefe.5! However, because of
the troubles in the empire, the fleet was very weak that year: The grand admiral had few
galleys to start with for his originally planned expedition in the Mediterranean, and at that
point, hardly any of the oarsmen (kiirekgi) or levends usually sent each year from Anatolia
had arrived. These circumstances delayed Receb’s departure for over a month.52

On 1/11 May, about the same time that the grand admiral was ordered into the Black
Sea, Roe reported that Bayram Pasha was ordered to prepare with haste to depart for the
north by land within six days in crder to defend against possible incursions by the Tatars,
Cossacks, or even the Poles. It is possible his post, described as “general of the frontier

begs of Wallachia upon the Danube [with] residence at Razgrad (Hezargrad) or Ozi,” was

59Negotiations, p. 236.

6030seph Hammer, Geschichte des Osmanischen Reiches, 5, Pest: C. A. Hartleben’s Verlage, 1829,
pp. 26-32.

61Negotiations, p. 236; Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 57; a report by the papal nuncio in Venice also
recounts that because of the large numbers of Cossacks on the Black Sea, the fleet was forced to abandon its
mission to the Mediterranean and head for the Black Sea (dispatch of 29 June 1624, Litterae Nuntiorum
Apostolicorum historiae Ucrainae illustrantes (1550-1850), 4: 1609-1620, ed. Athanasius G. Welykyj,
Rome: Basiliani, 1959, no. 1703, p. 127).

62Roe, dispatch of 15/25 May 1624 (Negotiations, p. 242).
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that of governor-general of 0zi.53 On 15/25 May, Roe reported that Bayram Pasha finally
departed with 4,000 troops. He was to raise new forces on the way to prevent any action
from the Cossacks, who were reportedly massed along the border in the exaggerated figure
of 40,000.%4 In the following passage, Sir Thomas Roe gives an apt description of the
Ottomans’ predicament:

It appears then, that this empire is environed with many enemies, and more

fears: they seldom or never willingly have had two actions in hand at once;

yet in this extremity they have set out three armies; one under Biram bassa,

for caution, upon the frontier of Poland and Tartaria; another to the Black

Sea to make guard against the invasion of the Cossacks; a third, and the

greatest for the opposition to the Persian; and they prepare two more, one
for the Mediterranean; the other for [Betlen] Gabor . . .65

According to the English ambassador, the desperate attempts of the Ottomans to buttress
their military strength demonstrated “how the troubles of Tartary do affect this state.”
Resolute to impose his will upon the Crimes, the sultan sent orders to all the governors
(sancakbegi) on the Danube and to the voyvodas of Moldavia and Wallachia to mobilize all
of their troops to the aid of the outnumbered and in effect besieged Ottoman forces in the
Crimea.56

In the meantime, at Kefe, both sides avoided decisive action. Mehmed Gerey and
his begs and mirzas moved back to Karasu, while $ahin Gerey with his followers and with

the nrreddin besieged Canbeg Gerey in Kefe. Apparently, Mehmed Gerey hoped for a

63Negotiations, pp. 236, 242; 23 May and with 3,000 troops according to de Cesy (dispatch of 26 May
1624, Historica Russiae, p. 426). Roe makes an interesting note on the military situation: Doubtless in
connection with the mutinous state of the janissaries at this time, Bayram Pasha refused to have any of
them “or others of these orders [i.e., kapukuli),” but rather wanted “segmen (sekban) or hired soldiers.”

64Roe, dispatch of 15/25 1624 (Negotiations, p. 241).
65Roe, dispatch of 15/25 1624 (Negotiations, p. 243).

66Roe, dispatch of 12/22 1624 (Negotiations, p. 247).
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peaceful resolution. For example, the Muscovite sources inform us that during this time
the khan sent the sultan a son and 300 “Lithuanian” captives as a gesture of good will with
the hope that he would change his mind.57 During this period of waiting, the two sides
skirmished (Roe reported about 2,000 slain on both sides). Initially, when Canbeg Gerey
landed, he was met by a large force of the incumbent khan, and thus the commander of the
Ottoman galleys had to land both the janissaries, whose number did not exceed 4,000 men,
and the artillery.5® Katib Celebi relates that Canbeg installed himself i A suburb (varos) of
Kefe at the house of a certain ‘Ali Kadi, having brought fro.n the City some of its
artillery.6? Roe related that when it was realized at the Porte that a war could break out
with the recalcitrant khan, an order was sent to Kefe to withdraw, but before it arrived, the
first military encounters had occurred and it then became a point of the sultan’s honor to
install Canbeg Gerey.”0

Sahin Gerey was not only the main reason the Ottomans put themselves into a
difficult situation in the Crimea, but was in fact, with his great ambition and political and
military ability, the primary mover on the Tatar side. Although he was the kalga in name,
de facto, he was the khan. His relationship with his brother Mehmed Gerey must have
been close, and there is not the slightest indication that he considered doing away with his
less talented brother in order to become khan himself. In Crimean politics, where dynastic
strife was endemic, such behavior would not have been surprising. It is no wonder that in

both Muscovite and Polish documents, $ahin Gerey is at times referred to as khan.”!

67Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 112.
68Negotiations, p. 247.
69Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 57.

70Roe, dispatch of 12/22 June 1624 (Negotiations, p. 247-48). Rae relates that on 11/21 June the
" sultan issued an order that Canbeg Gerey would be upheld and to this end the imperial divan met and
resolved to send supplies and either the grand admiral or the voyvodas of Moldavia and Wallachia.

TINovosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 107.
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The Muscovite sources, valuable for their information on Crimean internal affairs,
portray Sahin Gerey as an extremely popular figure amongst the lower orders of the
Khanate, whom he favored over the upper orders of the tribal aristocracy. $ahin was
particularly harsh with his old enemies, those members of the Crimean elite who supported
Canbeg Gerey. For his brutal reprisal against them he earned the tiile Yavuz, “the
Grim.”72 Kirill Bajbirin, a Muscovite messenger who was in the Crimea in 1624,
described how the khan and kalga dealt with notables suspected of disloyalty and whom
the Ottomans could use against the two brothers: “The kalga thought of dividing [the upper
classes] in two. The elders he sent to the regiment of the khan, while their children he took
into his regiment. And he told all of them that they had better serve faithfully for if the
father leaves, he will hang the son and if the son leaves, he will hang the father.”73

By far the most original and brilliant move of Sahin Gerey was to obtain military
support from an age-old enemy of the Crimean Khanate—namely, the Zaporozhian
Cossacks. The decisive role of this combination in the confrontation with the Porte has
been appreciated by previous historians, most notably by HruSevs’kyj and later by
Novosel’skij.”# The significance of the Zaporozhians will be elaborated upon as the events
that unfolded are recounted. As for the origin of Sahin Gerey’s relations with the
Cossacks, on this there are no explicit sources. HruSevs’kyj offers his hunch that the
participation of the Zaporozhians on the side of Mehmed and Sahin Gerey must have been
prepared in the spring of 1624, if not earlier.”> If such was the case, it must have been

done in great secrecy, since there is no hint of negotiations in the sources of Poland-

72‘Abdil'l-gafﬁr, ‘Umdetii't-tevirih, ed. Necib ‘Asim, Istanbul: 1343/1924-1925 /=Tiirk Tarih Enciimeni
Mecmii‘ast no. 85, suppl. 2/, p. 118.

73Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 111 (Krymskie and Tureckie dela ).
T4Hrusevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 512 ff; Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, pp. 112-15.

T5Hrugevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 512 ff.
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Lithuania, which would have been greatly alarmed at the potential harm Crimean-Cossack
relations could have brought to the peace with the Ottoman Empire. Novosel’skij implicitly
rejects early contacts with the Cossacks by virtue of the fact that the Muscovite sources and
some Cossack testimonies maintain that such contacts were solely the doing of $ahin
Gerey, who arrived in the Crimea only in May 1624.76 Other sources tend to support the
supposition that Cossack aid was Sahin’s idea. An Ottoman, Ridvan Pagazade, and an
Italian, d’Ascoli—both contemporary inhabitants of tiie Crimea and perhaps even
eyewitnesses to these events—give the impression that §ahin Gerey turned to the Cossacks
when he realized he would be facing a substantial Ottoman force.””

Aside from any iraditional Cossack-Tatar contacts or any dealings that Sahin Gerey
may have had during the first decade and a half bf the seventeenth century when he was at
various periods in the Crimea or on the steppes of Akkerman,’8 it is likely that during his
exile in Iran he was exposed to the idea of cooperation and even alliance with the
Zaporozhian Cossacks. It has been established on ihie basis of the letters of Pietro della
Valle, the Italian traveller and agent of the Shah ‘At;bas, as well as on the testimony of

papal envoys, that during the Ottoman-Safavid war of 1617-1618, the shah was interested

in enrolling on his side the Zaporezhians and even received a Cossack envoy to this end.”

76Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 114.

TTRidvan Pagazade, Tevarih-i Dest, p. 61; [Emiddio Dortelli d'Ascoli], “Opisanie Cernogo morja i
Tatarii sostavil dominikanec Emiddio Dortelli d’ Ascoli, prefekt Kaffy, Tataril i pro€. 1634,” ed. A. Berthier-
Delagard, Zapiski Odesskogo ob-Cestva istorii i drevnostej 24 (1902): 89-170, esp. 108.

8Certainly as a Tatar warrior and raider he was aware of the military capabilities of the Cossacks, albeit
as his adversaries.

T9Peace was concluded between the Safavids and Ottomans before the plan could be put into effect. On
the plans to enroli the Zaporozhian Host in an anti-Ottoman league, see Jaroslav DaskevyZ, “Ukrajins’ko-
irans’ki perchovory naperedodni Xotyns’keji vijny,” Ukrajins’xyj isiory&nyj Zumal 1972, no. 9: 124-31;
[Pietro della Vallel, Kozac’ko-pers’ki vzajemyny v tvorax Pijetra della Valle, ed. Oleksander Baran,
Winnipeg: Nakladom Ukrajins’koji vil’'noji akademiji nauk, 1985; Litterae Nuntiorum, 4, pp. 156-61;
Oleksander Baran, “Sax Abbas Velykyj i zaporoZci,” Ukrajins'kyj istoryk 1977, no. 1-2: 50-54.
Oleksander Baran’s contention that it was $ahin Gerey who tried to convince the shah to hire 10,000 to
12,000 Cossacks is based on information gained by the papal nuncio in Warsaw from the Polish vice-
chancetlor, H. Firlej, to the effect that the shah’s military advisor urged him to take on these Cossacks
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However, the evidence that $ahin Gerey was privy to these plans is entirely circumstantial:
although on the one hand, these plans were kept secret, on the other hand, Sahin was a
court favorite of Shah ‘Abbas.

Other circumstantial evidence has been used to suggest when the Zaporozhian
Cossacks actually began cooperating with Mehmed and Sahin Gerey. HruSevs’kyj
suggests the possibility that the raid near Kefe, recorded by the French ambassador to the
Porie on 12 May 1624 (see avove), was ihic first Zapororzhian expedition carried out on
behalf of the two brothers.80 In 1625 when the Zaporozhians were answering for their
actions to é'state commission (see below), they claimed that there was absolutely no
previous agreement between them and two Gereids; that during a joint expedition on the
Black Sea with the Don Cossacks, they were carried ashore by rough seas and, finding
themselves in a tough predicament, could not refuse the request to enter into the service of
Mehmed and Sahin Gerey. In other words, the relationship came about entirely by
accident. Only later after the struggle with the Turks, when Sahin Gerey dismissed them
with honor and gave them some Christian captives to take back with them, did friendship
with the kalga develop. Hrusevs’kyj discounts this version of events as being hardly
plausible.81 Obviously this story may have been concocted to deflect the accusation made
by the authorities in late 1625 that the Zaporozhians had engaged in contacts with foreign
powers.

The available evidence suggests that prior to and during the events of the summer of

1624 in the Crimea, there was no formal treaty or agreement between $ahin Gerey and the

(dispatch of 23 March 1618, Warsaw, Litterae Nuntiorum, 3, no. 1224, p. 158). However, on the basis of
vague references from chronicles Baran assumes that this unnamed military advisor was none other than
Sahin Gerey (Baran, “Sax Abbas,” pp. 51, 53; also Baran, “Shahin Girai,” p. 17).

80Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 5i3. However, it is not clear that this raid was mounted specifically
against Ottoman interests in the Crimea as in this relation, de Cesy states that the Cossacks killed many
Tatars (Historica Russiae, p. 426),

81Hru3evs’kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 513. Baran’s contention that $ahin Gerey enticed the Cossacks by freeing
several hundred Cossack prisoners and offering them part of the booty in exchange for fighting on his side
is not borne out in the document that he cites (Baran, “Shahin Girai,” p. 17).
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Cossacks. If there was some formal act, it is hard to imagine that such a momentous event
would not have had some resonance in the sources, whether Ottoman, Polish, or
Muscovite (an agreement that was reached later left traces in the sources, see below). From
what is known of the Zaporozhians as a mercenary force, it seems most plausible that the
initial force that participated on the side of Mehmed and $ahin Gerey was hired either for.
pay or by promise of booty. As far as specific references to compensatioh received by the
Cossacks, the contemporary Crimean Ottoman chronicler Ridvan Pagazade stated that “ihe
sheep and cattle of the Tatars we:s requisitioned for provisions of the Cossacks. The
Tatars were completely disgusted by this—the burdens by the unruly Cossacks exhausted
their strength,”’82

Sometime in the first half of 1624, a crucial event occurred which escaped notice in
all the sources, namely, Kantemir returned back to the Bucak. The earliest hint that
Kantemir escaped is found in a letter from Koniecpolski to T. Zamoyski, dated 11 May
1624, in which Kantemir is said to have a significant army in the Bucak and to be making
plans to avenge the death of one of his sons, that is, making plans for a raid on the
Commonwealth.83 Thus it would seem that Kantemir had slipped out of the Crimea even
before the break of the Ottomans with Mehmed and $ahin Gerey. It would have been
surprising if, while still in full control of the Crimea, Mehmed Gerey had allowed him to
leave the Crimea with his forces. Perhaps Kantemir escaped first, and later when the first
encounters with the Ottomans occurred, his Tatars were able to migrate back. In any event,
it did not take long for Kantemir to lead the Bucak Tatars on a raid against the
Commonwealth: on 5 June, Kantemir himself crossed into Galicia near Stepanec’

(Stepanc6w) and for the next few days his detachments proceeded to plunder the Stryj,

82R1dvan Pagazade, Tevarah-i Degt, p. 61.

83AZ 341, p. 7-8 (original).
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Peremys] (Przemysl), Lviv and Sanok lands.8* On 10 June, Kantemir wrote an abusive
and threatening letter to Zygmunt I from near Peremy3]’, which has been preserved in the
original as well as in translation copy. Kantemir recalled how after Xotyn’, the king made
promises he had not kept to render gifts to the Porte (hazine ve bac, but not harac) and to
restrain the Cossacks. If the king were to keep his promises, Kantemir claimed that he had
the power to prevent the Tatars from raiding Poland, but if the Cossacks continued to sail
out into the Black Sea, he promised to send out hundreds of thousands of the sultan’s kuls
all over Poland, as far as the Baltic Sea, even without the consent of the Porte.85
However, on the return from Galicia, Koniecpolski routed Kantemir’s forces near
Martynow by the Dniester.86

On 26 June/6 July 1624 grand admiral Receb finally set sail for the Crimea with
sixteen galleys.87 By this time Mehmed and Sahin Gerey’s forces had grown into an
overwhelming force® that had driven Canbeg Gerey onto the Ottoman galleys at Kefe.89
When Receb Pasha arrived at Kefe (the date is not known), he chose at first to continue
negotiations. The Ottoman chronicles report the contents of several letters between the two

sides. Prior to Receb Pasha’s arrival, an attempt was made to appeal to the Tatar Muslim

84Hom, “Chronologia,” pp. 43-47.

85AGAD, Dz. turecki, k 73, t 309, nr 594; summary in Katalog dokumentéw tureckich: Dokumenty
do dziejéw Polski i krajéw osciennych w latach 1455-1672, ed. Zygmunt Abrahamowicz, Warsaw:
Pafistwowe Wydawnictwo Naukowe, 1959, no. 263, pp. 255-56; Pamiemiki o Koniecpolskich. [Ed.
Stanistaw Przylecki. Lwéw: np, nd], pp. 252-53.

86For references to published sources on this battle see Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, p. 22, n.
24, Roe relates that Kanteinir lost two thirds of his forces here (dispatch of 24 July 1624, Negotiations, p.
265).

87Negotiations, p. 255. The total size of the fleet at Kefe was about 30 galleys (de Cesy, dispatch of 21
July 1624, Historica Russiae, p. 426; Roe, dispatch of 21/31 August 1624, Negotiations, p. 268).

88Roe speaks of 70,000 Tatar cavalry while Katib Celebi merely mentions thousands of Nogays. The

- exaggerated figures aside, the Tatar force must have been large. (Negotiations, p. 255; Katib Celebi,

Fezleke, p. 57).

8Negotiations, p. 255.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



73

clergy. An order (hiikm-i hiimayun) from the Porte came to Abu Bekr, mufti of the Tatars,
and to other Cﬁmem Tatar ‘ulema, urging them to convince the Tatars to oppose Sahin
Gerey and obey grand admiral Receb.90 Then Receb Pasha sent a series of politely-
phrased letters to Mehmed and $ahin Gerey promising to give them, in exchange for
surrendering and dissolving their army, a choice of governorship of the districts (sancak)
of Hersek (Hercegovina) or Buda (Morea in Na‘ima).9!

In reply, Sahin Gerey sent an impassioned letter in which he complained that he had
been in power only five to ten days when, because of gossip and rumors spread by some
corrupt individuals, the order against him was promulgated.52 Next he listed some of the
Tatar and Nogay chiefs and troops willing to join them: four or five Tatar mirzas with
2,000 to 3,000 troops, brothers of Kantemir with 5,000 troops froin Akkerman, the
mirzas of Yusuf Oghi that had already arrived, and ‘Ali Mirza and all the Nogay mirzas and
other princes (sultan-zades) numbering up to 15,000 men (10,000 in Na‘ima) who had
already crossed the Straiis of Kerch (Taman Gegidi) and were to arrive presently. In
addition, Sahin Gerey announced that his side had ready plentiful cannon, and muskets.
Finally Sahin Gerey made his own justification for rule in the Crimean. Khanate, which
included an appeal to Islamic principles: Because his forefathers took this land from the
infidel and ruled it by their strength, the Ottomans had no right to come and take away what
was his and his brother’s hereditary right. If they did, the Crimea would be left to the

infidels who would come and also destroy its mosques and medreses, as well as Kefe and

90Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 57; translated in Smirnov, Krymskoe Xanstvo, pp. 483-84.
91K atib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 57; Na‘ima, Tarih, 2, p. 332.

92 a similar vein, the Muscovite sources report the words of the two brothers that they were fighting
“because of the disgrace” rendered by the sultan who wanted to remove them from the Crimea “before they
even had a chance to change their shirts.” (Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 112 [Krymskie dela]); cf a similar
statement in §ahin Gerey's letter to Zygmunt III (Golgbiowski, “Szahin Giraj,” p. 17; Baran, “Shahin
Giral,” p. 26).
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the other Ottoman fortresses in the Crimea.?3 To this Receb Pasha replied that prior
petitions of Sahin Gerey had already been passed along to the padishah, that they were
discussed at a miigavere of the seyhii’l-islam and other ‘ulema and viziers, and that he
was being sent here to carry out their decision which was the final word in the matter.94

These negotiations went on for several weeks along with minor encounters in the
field.95 Finally Receb Pasha and Canbeg Gerey sallied forth from Kefe with all of their
forces for a showdown. There are two different versions of the encounter, although the
outcome is the same. The simpler one, recorded under 2/12 August 1624 in the statejnyj
spisok of Muscovite envoys Daskov and Volkov, is related by Novosel’skij. According to
it, Canbeg Gerey with his princes, and the Ottoman commanders with 6,000 troops, went
forth from Kefe and formed a wagon camp. Mehmed and Sahin Gerey, with all of their
forces, including the Cossacks, stormed and broke the camp apart, destroying the Ottoman
army and “pushing it into the sea.” In this total defeat many Tatar notables on the side of
Canbeg Gerey and some Ottoman commanders surrsndered. All the artillery, consisting of
33 cannons, was also captured. Canbeg Gerey arld Receb Pasha, together with the
surviving Ottoman troops, fled on the galleys to Varna. Meanwhile, Kefe fell and was
occupied by Sahin Gerey, while Mehmed Gerey returned to Baggesaray. In Kefe, Sahin
Gerey put a Tatar pasha in charge. %

The second and more elaborate version is recorded in Katib Celebi’s Fezleke.
According to it, when Receb Pasha finally decided to make a move, he first procured

wagons because it was necessary to carry all the army’s water in barrels. The main

93Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 57-58; Na‘ima, Tarih, 2, pp. 332-33; Na‘ima translated in Smirnov,
Krymskoe Xanstvo, pp. 484-85.

94Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 58.

95 Although not for two months as the Ottoman chronicle claims (Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 58). In one
of these encounters, the grand admiral is said to have sent Canbeg Gerey ashore only to have him beaten
back and injured (Negotiations, pp. 256-57).

96Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, pp. 112-13 (Krymskie dela).
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cannons were removed from the ships and ten falconets (darbzen) were taken from the
fortress of Kefe and dragged along the way by the galley oarsmen (kiirek¢i). Canbeg
Gerey wged the army on, promising that any day the Tatars would come over to his side
and that it would be necessary to march only one or two days into the hinterland. After
camping at the end of their third day’s march, the army of Canbeg Gerey and Receb Pasha
was beset by Mehmed and $ahin Gerey’s forces, described by the chronicler as having “up
to 100,000 Nogay Tatars, 800 musket-bearing (riigeng-endaz) Cossacks, and an additional
1,000 footsoldiers (piyade).” A firefight continued until nightfall. As the Ottoman forces
dug into tr;:nches, the opposing Tatars surrounded them, cutting off all exits. In the
besieged camp a council of war was held, and it was decided that the only chance for
survival was to have the commander in chief, grand admiral Receb, send robes of honor
(hil‘at) to Mehmed Gerey along with a letter admitting that they were wrong in opposing
him and recognizing that indeed it was the will of the Tatars that he be khan. But before
this could be done, Canbeg Gerey, fearing that he would be overturned, fled for Kefe with
his retinue and brother Deviet Gerey. When the besieging forces noticed ihis, they
followed in pursuit, whereupon~ the more than thousand galley slaves, in leg irons and
harnessed to the cannons, also attempted to flee. These latter were easily picked off by the
Tatars and thus the cannons and wagons remained where they had been parked, useless to
the defending forces. Then a general flight ensued which led to a great slaughter of many
infantry troops, including janissaries, cebecis, and ‘azebs, as well as a great looting of
goods and armaments. The Tatars even seized the grand admiral’s wagon with the
expedition’s treasury.

Hasan Pasha, the commander of the original fleet that had brought Canbeg Gerey to
the Crimea, was killed. Ibrahim Pasha, brother of Mustafa Aga, chief of the white
eunuchs, was wounded in four places and died upon reaching Kefe. Those who made it to
Kefe alive did not tarry there, but boarded the galleys. When on the next day the Tatars

entered Kefe, Sahin Gerey went to the house of ‘Ali Kadi and informed a merchant whom
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he had brought there that there would be a three-day grace period during which the
inhabitants of Kefe could board the ships of the fleet. This led to a great massing of
refugees on the docks during the three days, while the town was filled with Tatars and
Cossacks.

At this point, hoping to save Kefe, Receb Pasha sent a janissary ¢orbac: to parley.
with Sahin Gerey. During the negotiations, the ¢corbaci also visited Mehmed Gerey and at
this point the chronicler gives a speech by the khan in which he relates his story,
enumerating the wrongs inflicted upon him by the Ottomans. The points worthy of notice
include Mehmed’s purported view on proper dynastic succession in the Gerey dynasty and
why Canbeg Gerey had no right to be khan: only the son of a khan could become khan and
since Canbeg Gerey was merely the son of a sultan, that is, a prince (Miibarek Gerey), he
could not become a khan as long as a khan’s son was alive. After giving birth to Canbeg
Gerey, his mother married an unnamed khan, and in his illness, this late khan illegally
appointed Canbeg Gerey as heir-apparent (veli ‘ahd). In addition, a bribe in favor of
Canbeg Gerey of more than one hundred slaves had been sent to ka’im makam Giircii
Mehmed Pasha, through Dilaver Aga, the chief palace cook (¢asnigir bagt). Furthermore,
Mustafa Aga, the chief of ihe black eunuchs (kizlar agas), acted in favor of Canbeg
Gerey’s candidacy to the Crimean throne. Thus Canbeg Gerey was appointed khan instead
of Mehmed Gerey. Mehmed Gerey confirms that it was, however, primarily Mere Hiiseyn
Pasha who delivered Canbeg Geray to the khanship in 1623: Upon Sultan Murad IV’s
accession, when Mustafa Aga was reinstated to ihe palace one of his first acts was to accept
a bribe of 200,000 gurus from Canbeg Gerey and arrange through the padishah to have him
named as the new khan.

As far as the actual negotiations went, the Ottoman side was willing to reconfirm
Mehmed Gerey as khan and Sahin Gerey as kalga so long as they remained loyal to the
house of ‘Osman, returned all prisoners and guns, and withdrew their Tatars fror: Kefe.

Otherwise, Receb Pasha threatened that the Ottomans would mount a full-fledged imperial
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expedition against the brothers. Sahin Gerey, after consulting with the Tatar notables,
accepied the Ottoman terms, kissed the imperial diploma of appointment (berat) and placed
it on his head (as a sign of submission). He then freed 67 janissaries, 70 cebecis, and 30
‘azebs, and within a week, evacuated his forces from the city. Thereupon the grand
admiral returned to the mouth of the Bosphorus but was refused permission to come to
port. instead he was ordered to return to patrol duty on the Black Sea. After ancther
month and a half at sea, he brought the fleet back into the naval arsenal in Istanbul. But he
was met with no praise, and the chief ministers were displeased with his handling of the
campaign.y?

The primary difference between the Muscovite version and the more elaborate
Ottoman version is that in the first the decisive battle occurred cutside Kefe near the sea
whereas in the latter, it was several days’ march away. Normally, the version of nearby
diplomats would be favored over a possibly corrupted chronicle passage, even if the
diplomais were not necessarily direct eyewitnesses. To be sure, Katib Celebi’s text must
have some embellishments and inventions. However, the Muscovite version should be
treated with some reservation. It is possible that, rather than a complete account, it was a
paraphrase with several events telescoped into one. Unfortunately, a critical inquiry into
the Muscovite source cannot be made, as it is unpublished and only summarized by
Novosel’skij. As for the Ottoman version, some of its details are corroborated in other
sources. The placing of Sahin Gerey in Kefe and Mehmed Gerey elsewhere at the end of
the campaign is also in the Muscovite version (although the chronicle places Mehmed
Gerey four or five hours away while the Muscovite version later places him in
Baggesaray). De Cesy’s brief report on the decisive battle contains elements of both

versions—on one hand, as in the Muscovite version, a battle in the field outside Kefe,

97Katib Celebi, Fezleke, pp. 59-61; Nearly the same story is in Na‘ima of which Smimov gives a
translation (Smirnov, Krymskoe Xanstvo, pp. 485-90).
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while on the other hand, as in the Ottoman version, the approach of night forcing a respite

in the battle and the disastrous attempt of Receb Pasha’s forces to flee. Here is the relevant
passage by de Cesy:
. .. as soon as [Receb] Pasha entered the field he found himself charged
upen from three sides so suddenly that if the night had not severed the
combat, few of the Turks would have escaped the hands of the Tatars . . .
the grand admiral and the two viziers resolved to withdraw in the night [but]
the Tatars found out about this and were waiting for them on the road pretty

close to the town where they killed more than 3,000 Turks and the two
viziers Hibraim (ibrahim) and Asan (Hasan) . . .98

If it could be assumed that the three-day march of the Ottomans and their loyal Crimean
allies mentioned in the chronicle was an exaggeration and that the battle occurred in the
vicinity of Kefe, the two versions would be basically compatible. As far as further details
are concerned, both de Cesy and Roe confirmed the death of two viziers Ibrahim Pasha and
Hasan Pasha mentioned in the Ottoman version and add that their bodies were brought back
on two galleys to Istanbul to a shocked populace. As to further losses, de Cesy mentioned
26 artillery pieces and 500 wagons captured by the Tatars, while Roe spoice of 28 captured
pieces and 5,000 dead. In addition, de Cesy séid that the standard of the padishah was
captured but returned two hours later. Both reported that after the defeat the fleet with its
admiral limped back to Varna, with de Cesy adding that the ships returned were very much
undermanned.??

In the Black Sea, throughout the summer and into the fall the Cossacks continued
the pace of raiding that they had set earlier in the spring. Moreover, just as in 1623 when
the Ottoman fleet was in Kefe installing Mehmed Gerey as khan, in 1624 the Cossacks

took advantage of the fleet’s return to the Crimea to pay the Bosphorus a visit. On 9/19

98Dispatch of 1 September 1624 (Historica Russiae, p. 427).

9Historica Russiae, pp. 427-28; Negotiations, p. 273.
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July a fleet of 70 or 80 boats entered the Bosphorus, and in the absence of any adequate
naval defense, plundered both of its shores at will. Roe’s dispatch of the next day gave a
vivid account of this raid worth quoting in full:

The ninth of this month, between 70 and 80 boats of the Cossacks with 50
men apiece, rowers and soldiers, watching the opportunity of the captan
bassa’s being engaged in Tartary, entered the Bosphorus about the break of
day; where dividing themselves they sacked and burnt almost all the villages
and houses of pleasure, on both sides of the river, as far as the castles
(Rumeli Hisar1 and Anadoh Hisar) and within four miles of this city. The
principal places were Baiukdery (Biiyiikdere) and Jenichoie (Yenikdy), and
Stenia (Istiniye? [actually on the European side between the previous two])
on the Asia shore: where having made great and rich booty, they stayed
until nine of the clock in the forenoon; and then ail this city and suburbs
having taken the alarm, the grand seignior (the sultan) came down to the
water’s side, the chaimacham (ka’im makam) to the water port. Halil bassa
(the previous grand admiral) made himself general in this tumult and having
not one galley ready for defence, they manned and armed all the ship-boats,
barges, and other small wherries, to the nur'nber of 4 or 500, with such
people as they could either get to row, or hope to fight; and dispatched all
the horse and foot in the city, to the number of 10,000, to defend the coast
from further spoil: never was seen a greater fear and confusion. Now we
expected that these poor thieves would presently have retired; but they,
seeing the Turk’s boats making towards them, drew themselves together
into the midst of the channel, nor far above the castles, and stayed firm
upon their oars in battalion, in the form of a crescent, expecting the assault,
the wind and the current being against them. Halil bassa causea some shot
to be made afar off; but they answered not with one musket, but hovered
from one shore to another, without any show of retreat. Hereupon the
general, seeing their form and resolution, thought it not fit to assail them
with such boats as he had, but esteemed it wisdom enough to keep them
from further attempts, fearing if they had broken his fleet of boars, which
was easily done, they would venture down to Constantinople, which was
now empty of all defence. And thus these few boats, having first made
great spoil, lay the whole day until the sunset, facing and braving the great
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and fearful city of the world and all the force it could make, and departed
with their booty, with all their colors spread, unfought with or almost
unresisted.100

Both the English and French ambassadors understood this raid to be the work of the
Zaporozhians (although as often was the case in these years, it was possible, even
probable, that Don Cossacks also partook in it}—Roe concluded that surely the peace treaty
with Poland was broken by this raid, while de Cesy related the great irritation of the Turks
at all foreign Christians in the capital, especially the Poles whom, as a result, the Ottomans
wanted to intern.101

Two weeks later Roe reported that the Cossacks returned to the mouth of the
Bosphorus, now with at least 150 boats, and with reserves lurking behind. They stayed on
the coast for three days and burned Fener (Pharus) at the entrance to the Straits and two or
three villages. Panic arose in Istanbul when it was learned that the Cossacks threatened to
attaék the a;senal, and all of the shore was placed under constant guard. Finally, somehow
two galleys were manned by porters and laborers picked up in the streets and with about
twenty boats were sent out to guard against the Cossacks who still remained at the entrance
to the Bosphorus. But the Cossacks pulled back, having taken great booty and two or
three kara miirsels which they had captured earlier.102 Katib Celebi gives an entry entitled
“The Attack of the Cossacks on Yenikdy” in which these last two Bosphorus raids are

apparently telescoped into one event:

100Djspatch of 10/20 July 1624 (Negotiations, pp. 257-58). The report of de Cesy has basically the
same features: the sack of Yenkdy (Neocris), the destruction of houses of pleasure, the Cossacks
remaining for six hours ravaging and pillaging without losing a single man, the lack of gatleys in the port,
the long time needed to arm boats against the Cossacks, the ride of the sultan along the shore, the firing
upon the Cossacks. One discrepancy with Roe is that de Cesy states that the raid occurred “yesterday,”
which would have made it on 20 July rather than 19 July (dispatch of 21 July 1624, Historica Russiae, p.
427). Hrusevs'kyj, failing to note that the English were still on the old calendar, attributes Roe’s and de
Cesy’s accounts to different raids—thus he mistakenly fixes the first raid on the Bosphorus to 9 rather than
19 July and ascribes de Cesy’s dispatch as relaﬂng to the second raid (see below) (Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 7,
p. 515, n. 1),

101N,001iations, p. 258; De Cesy, dispatch of 4 August 1624 (Historica Russiae, p. 428).

102pjspatch of 24 July/2 August 1624 (Negotiations, p. 265).
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While the fleet was busy in Kefe, the Don Cossacks (sic [Ten kazagi]),
finding the Black Sea empty on 4 Shawwal (20 July 1624), came as far as
the Bosphorus fortress (Bogaz hisari) and sacked Yenikoy, burning several
shops and causing considerable damage. When news of this reached
Istanbul, troops of the bostanct and segban bagst boarded some ships and
as they were about to attack, the Cossack bandits without waiting a moment
reentered the Black Sea and fled. Such a bold and daring raid on the
Bosphorus by these infidels had never been heard of before this date.103

In a letter to the Lithuanian field hetman, Krysztof Radziwilt, Metropolitan Jov
Borec’kyj related that in the current year, “despite the will of the [Cossack] command
(starzych) and the king,” the Zaporozhians went out to sea three times—in other words, he
refers to the three major Zaporozhian expeditions of that year—the raid near Kefe by 80
boats in May, and the two in the Bosphorus in July. With regard to the third, he provided
some detail: 150 boats set out, which, in his words, had never occurred before; at the
mouth of the Dnieper they battled for several days with 25 “large galleys” and 300 boats
(uszkal) each with between 30 and 50 men; having dealt with this Ottoman force, they went
out to the sea with 102 boats and came to the Bosphorus, capturing substantial booty.104
HruSevs’kyj suggests that the 25 galleys encountered at the mouth of the Dnieper were
those of the grand admiral, which wereon their way to Kefe.105 The figure of 25 may have
included some ships assigned to patrol those waters, or it may have been an exaggeration,
since as was seen above, other sources indicate that Receb Pasha brought sixteen galleys

with him.

103K atib Celebi, Fezleke, p. 61.

104 Arxeopraficeskij shomik dokumentov otnosjasTixsja k istorii severozapadnoj Rusi., 7. Vilna, 1870,
no. 55, pp. 81-83 (24 August 1624).

105Hrusevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 514.
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What especially disturbed the Porte was the confession extracted after the last raid
from some captured Cossacks who had ventured too far inland. They admitted that they
had been acting in agreement with the Crimean khan. On this news Roe commented, “.. .
any intelligence between these two roving nations [i.e., the Cossacks and Tatars] . . . will
prove very troublesome to this city and state.”106 In fact, these raids served to further
Mehm-ed and Sahin Gerey’s cause, for with the threat to the capital, there was no question
of continuing the struggle in the Crimea. Instead, already after the raid of 9 July, word
was sent to recall Receb Pasha, who was blamed for leaving the city undefended.107

Upon arriving at the Bosphorus, Receb Pasha and the fleet were not granted
permission to enter the Straits. News had arrived from Varna that again 150 Cossack boats
were heading for the Bosphorus. However upon this order, the fleet’s decimated troops,
having lost many of their arms, ammunition, and artillery, mutinied against the grand
admiral, forcing him to disembark from his ship. But when reinforcements by troops
under segban basi Mehmed Aga arrived, the fleet was indeed sent back out into the Black
Sea with Receb Pasha. However, nearly two weeks later, Roe reported that the fleet was
again at the mouth of the Bosphorus and again in full mutiny against its commanders,
refusing to go out on the Black Sea any more. The authorities appeased the troops on
condition that they would stay at the mouth of the Bosphorus “until the winter weather shall
drive the Cossacks in.”198 On 18/28 September, the fleet returned to port only to learn that
they had not waited long enough. On 1/11 QOctcber, Roe reported that again, about 150
Cossack “frigates” had appeared near the Bosphorus and “done much spoil upon the

Grecian coast [i.e., European shore of the Bosphorus], in so much that all shores of the

106pjspatch of 24 July/2 August 1624 (Negotiations, p. 265).
107Djspatch of 24 July/2 August 1624 (Negotiations, p. 265).

108pjspatches of 4/14 September and 18/28 September 1624 (Negotiations, p. 278). See also Katib
Celebi, Fezleke, p. 61.
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Black Sea are left desolate.” Within twenty-four hours, 23 galleys were readied. But only
after the janissaries were cajoled into participating by their officers and the deputy
(kethuda?) of the yenigeri agas: did the fleet sail off into the Black Sea, even though “that
sea be innavigable for galleys in this season.”199 There is no information on the fate of
these Cossack fleets reported after September 1624 nor even independent confirmation of
their existence.

The Zaporozhian Cossack aid to. Mehmed and Sahin Gerey in the form of naval
diversions near the Bosphorus, whether intentional or unintentional, was of secondary
importance compared to that rendered by the Zaporozhians brought into the Crimea. For
example, Muscovite observers of the events in the Crimea ascribed a decisive role to the
Zaporozhians in the victory at Kefe.}10 According to de Cesy, the Cossack musketeers
(arquebusiers) were very effective in the battle with Receb Pasha.!ll Ridvan Pagazade, a
contemporary Ottoman inhabitant of Kefe, explained that $ahin Gerey turned to the
Cossacks when he learned that Receb Pasha was on the way to the Crimea and felt that his
Tatars would be unreliable in such a confrontation.!12 Perhaps the best testimony of the
significance of the Cossacks are the words of Sahin Gerey himself. - In his letter to
Zygmunt ITI, from 5 Dhu’l-Qa‘dah 1033/19 August 1624, which was after the defeat of the
Ottoman force, Sahin explained, “we need Dnieper Cossacks . . . not because we do not
have enough of our own army . . . thank God we have enough, but the Ottomans, they
have not a few janissaries with harquebuses (rusznica), and against the harquebuses also a

‘harquebuse army’ is needed.”!13 There is some disagreement in the sources as to the

109Negotiati¢ms, p. 294,

110Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 111 (Tureckie dela).
111pjspatch of 1 September 1624 (Historica Russiae, p. 427).
112R,dvan Pagazade, Tevarah-i Degt, p. 61.

113Gotebiowski, “Szahin Giraj,” p. 20.
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number of Zaporozhians in the service of Sahin Gerey in 1624. In his own letter he
mentioned just 300,114 a figure that would seem to have been too low for the Cossacks to
have had any significant effect. Certainly, Sahin Gerey had a motive to minimize the
participation of the Cossacks in his report to the Poles since their intervention into affairs of
a foreign power was a blatant instance of Cossack insubordination that threatened the peace
between the Commonwealth and the Porte. The figures in the Ottoman chronicle are
certainly more plausible—upwards of a thousand musket-bearing Cossacks (tiifeng-endaz
kazak) in one passage and 800 in another.115 Roe gave the same figure as well.116
However, dther sources have higher figures—about 2,000 arquebusiers Kozaques in de
Cesy!17 and 4,000 in d’Ascoli, which is either an exaggeration or confusion with the
events of 1628 (see below).113 It should be noted that although Zaporozhian Cossacks
predominated, some Don Cossacks, as well as Zaporozhians that were staying on the Don,
were also present: in the report (statejnyj spisok) of okolnici Ismailov and djak
Stepanov, it is written that 50 Don Cossacks and 60 Zaporozhians joined the kalga near
Kefe.11?

On the basis of the Muscovite sources, Novosel’skij observed a difference between
Mehmed and Sahin Gerey in foreign policy, and in particular, in their attitude toward the
Porte. The khan was against the Ottomans because they were resolved to dethrone him; if
they would have allowed him to keep his throne (and he was willing to persist in the face of

their opposition, hoping that they would give way in their resolve against them) he would

114Golebiowski, “Szahin Giraj,” p. i8.

115 atib Celebi, Fezleke, pp. 57, 58.

116pjsptach of 20 and 21/30 and 31 October 1624 (Negotiations, p. 292).
17Djspatch of 1 September 1627 (Historica Russiae, p. 427).

11844 Ascoli, “Opisanie,” p. 108.

19 storiceskoe opisanie, p. 186 (Krymskie dela).
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have been willing to make peace with the Ottomans. He was even willing to make
overtures and some of his actions were clearly aimed at demonstrating his lgyalty to the
Porte. On the other hand Sahin Gerey was an avowed enemy of the Ottomans and a
devoted follower of Shah ‘Abbas!20 who was his brother-in-law.121 The Ottoman sources
even maintain that he became a Shi’ite during his exile in Iran.122 The Muscovite sources'
provide evidence of Sahin Gerey’s continual ties with Iran and record statements to the
effect that he would fight the sultan to the end.!2> The following actions of the two
brothers demonstrate their differing attitudes to the Porte: As mentioned above, when'
Canbeg Gerey was brought back to the Crimea, Mehmed Gerey tried to appease the
Ottomans by sending gifts and his son to Istanbul as a hostage. At this time it was Sahin
Gerey who besieged Kefe while Mehmed Gerey held back at Karasu. Upon the Ottoman
defeat, it was Sahin Gerey who entered Kefe while Mehmed Gerey withdrew to
Raggesaray. As Novosel’skij pointed out and-as is clear in other evidence to be discussed
below, this pattern continued throughout their careers. Yet, as Novosel’skij noted, even
though the political agendas of the two were contrary and sometimes each worked to
undermine the plans of the other, surprisingly, there was never an open break between
them.124

After grand admiral Receb reached the Bosphorus from Kefe, measures were taken
to placate Mehmed and $ahin Gerey. Mehmed Gerey was sent confirmation of his

khanship in the form of a sword and robe (for the hil‘at ceremony) with the explanation

12()Novosel‘skij, Bor'ba, p. 115.

12Materijaly dlja istorii vozsoedinenija Rusi, 1: 1578-1630, ed. P. A. Kuli§, Moscow: Izdanie
Tovari¥estva «Obtestvennaja pol’za», 1877, p. 159.

122Ridvan Pagazade, Tevarah-i Degt, p. 60, Na‘ima, Tarih, 2, p. 329.
123Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 112.

124Novosel’skij, Bor' ba, p. 115.
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that Receb Pasha had acted beyond his orders in attacking the brothers. As a token of trust,
Mehmed Gerey’s hostage son was returned.!25 The Ottomans set no conditions on the
brothers excepi that they return the rest of the captured Turks, the captured artillery, and the
city of Kefe.126 This seemingly conciliatory attitude on the part of the Ottomans did not
fool Sahin Gerey. Although by the spring of 1625 the city and presumably also the
prisonérs (although the sources do not specify their fate) were turned over, about a month
later Roe commented that instead of returning the artillery captured from the Ottomans, the
Tatars carried it off to Baggesaray along with all the cannons and munitions of the Kefe
citadel.127

It was in fact no secret that the Porte was only waiting for the opportune moment to
move against Mehmed and Sahin Gerey. Through Tatar intermediaries the words of Murad
IV himself reached Moscow to the effect that he could not agree to their presence in the
Crimea because of the kalga’s ties to Shah ‘Abbas.!28 To strengthen his position in the
Crimea and prepare for inevitable renewal of the the Ottoman attempt to unseat him and his
brother, Sahin Gerey acted on the diplomatic front. On 5 Dhu’l-qa‘dah 1033/19 August
1624, the kalga sent a letter to Zygmunt III proposing no less than an alliance against the

Ottoman Empire, as well as the Muscovite State.129 In this letter Sahin presented an

125pe Cesy, dispatch of 1 September 1624 (Historica Russiae, p. 428); Roe, dispatches of 21/31
August and 10/20 September 1624 (Negotiations, p. 273, 283).

126Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 115.
127Roe, dispatch of 20/30 September 1624 (Negotiations, p. 289).
128Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 112 (Krymskie dela).

129This important document has already been cited above, in connection with the chronology of the
Ottoman expedition to the Crimea in 1624 and with regard to the importance of Cossack firearm-bearing
infantry. The original has not survived and the document is available only in Polish and Latin translation.

_ In the nineteenth century, Seweryn Golebiowski published a Polish copy from an unknown manuscript
(Golebiowski, “Szahin Giraj i Kozacy™). A Latin version (Haus- Hof - und Saats Archiv [Vienna], Polonica
1624, fol. 13a-17b) has been published in Baran, “Shahin Giraj,” pp. 19-30. Although a few of the
readings are better in the Latin version and some passages in the Latin shed light on the meaning of the
Polish translations, overall, the Polish version is better. In using the Golebiowski editions here, several
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idealized version of past relations of the Crimean Khanate and the Polish-Lithuanian
Commonwealth in which the two states were allies whose armies acted as one, and people
freely moved from one realm to the other without being harmed. Then the Ottomans put
themselves between the Khanate and Commonwealth and turned the them into enemies,
hoping by their intrigues to destroy them both. To avoid certain destruction ahin
suggested that they unite in brotherhood and trust. To effect this alliance, the kalga
requested the king, as a token of trust a;nd brotherhood, send Lim Dnieper Cossacks so
that, with this musket-armed force, he could handily deal with the Turks and their
janissaries. He specified that he needed a thousand Zaporozhians in the coming winter and
additional forces within fifteen days after Easter. In addition Sahin asked that in place of
the traditional “gifts” (upominki), powder and lead be sent, explaining that there could be
no better gift because powder and lead had been purchased from the Turks previously who
now refused to ship it. As part of the proposed relationship between the Khanate and
Commonwealth, $ahin proposed that in accordance with the old custom, all the land on the
Crimean side of the Dnieper River (Left-Bank) up as far up as the source of the river OveCi
Vody (Owczy Wody, “Sheep Waters”)130 belong to the Khanate, while everything on the
other side, up to the source of the river Boczuk (Bozuk?) and the Don, including their
Muscovite sides, belong to the Commonwealth. Sahin promised to move all the Tatar
forces near Akkerman to the Crimean side of the Dnieper, while he offered to the king that
he send his army tc occupy Akkerman, Bender (Tehinia), and Kili, should he so wish.
The flocks and herds belonging to his own people he promised to pull back beyond the
Dnieper while encouraging the king to let his people bring theirs up to the Dnieper. For he
would restrain the Crimean and Nogay Tatars to such a degree that “not even a chicken will

be taken from [the king’s] land.” Having dealt with the Turks, Sahin proposed to act

other copies of the Polish version have been consulted (AGAD, LL 30, fol. 15a-17b, BCz 361, pp. 307-10;
LNB, Oss 201, pp. 79-85).

130A left tributary of the Dnieper below Kins’ky Vody (Slovnyk hidronimiv Ukrajiny, ed. A. P.
Nepokupnyj, O. S. StryZak, K. K. Cilujko, Kiev: «Naukova Dumka», 1979, p. 393).
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jointly against the Muscovite tsar who, the kalga claims, veccatly sent an envoy to the Porte
offering to conquer jointly first the Commonweaith and then the Crimea, and to turn over to
the Turks both Astrakhan and Kazan. When they together defeated the tsar, the hereditary
lands of the forefathers of the Crimean khans on the Volga, including Astrakhan and
Kazan, would go to the khan, while provinces of Moscow would go to the king.13! Ina
separate note (cedufa), Sahin notified that along with this letter were some gifts from Shah
‘Abbas including a sword “with which to beat the Turks.” With these gifts was included a
brief letter from the shah. Aside from highly recommending $ahin Gerey, whom it refers
to as khan, the shah’s letter is basically one of greeting. However it serves as another piece
of evidence that Sahin Gerey was agent and ally of the Safavids against the Ottomans.132
Bohdan Baranowski discusses the prosbects and pitfalls for the Commonwealth
brought by Sahin Gerey’s proposals.!33 On one hand, there was a great temptation to take
advantage of the strife between the Crimea and at best gain control of the northern seaboard
of the Black Sea from the Crimea to Moldavia or at least to have a respite from Tatar raids
for a few years. On the other hand things could go ;/ery wrong if the Ottomans went to
war against the Commonwealth, especially since the latter was a¢ the time threatened by
Sweden. The trouble would be compounded if in the meantime the Khanate reconciled
with the Porte and joined in an onslaught against the Commonwealth. While there were
supporters of Sahin Gerey’s proposals, most notably Krzysztof Zbaraski, instead a careful
noncommittal policy was followed. Thus the response of Zygmunt III, dated 21 October
1624, only promised to continue the friendly relations that existed between the two states

since the time of Khans Gazi Gerey and Canbeg Gerey—no reference of any kind was

1311n the Golgbiowski edition of this document, only the Volga going to the khan is mentioned here.
The fuller version of this passage is in AGAD, LL 30, fol. 17a, BCz 361, p. and in Baran, “Shahin Giraj,”
p. 24).

132AGAD, Dziat perski, k 80, nr 4 (Persian original); AGAD, LL 30, fol 18b-19a; LNB, Oss 201, pp.
87-88.

133Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, pp. 30-33.
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made to the offers made by the kalga.134 The king wrote a similarly bland response to
Shah ‘Abbas, confirming the Crown’s friendship with Mehmed and $ahin Gerey.!?>

Upon the king’s indecisive response, $ahin Gerey made a bold diplomatic move by
turning directly to the Zaporozhian Cossacks. Not daring to underestimate the danger from
the Porte, Sahin acted in earnest by going in person to the Zaporozhians. In a report to
Moscow, the Putivl’ voevoda relates what he learned from Cossack envoys: “A week
before Christmas [coming] from the Crimea, $ahin Gerey rode into the Zaporizhia region
to the Cossacks. Accompanying him were a thousand Crimean warriors. There he
concluded, according to a report of the Putivl’ voevoda to Moscow, a truce (peremir” ja)
with the Cossacks, “that neither side would go to war against the other, but rather that {the
Cossacks] will go together with Sahin Gerey to wage war upon the Turkish land.”136
What follows is the text of the agreement according to the only known copy, which is in
Polish:

I, Sahin Gerey, Crimean khan (car [sic]), give this our letter of oath to the

Zaporozhian Cossacks: to the lord (pan) heiman, the osauls, the atamans,

and all the host . . . we testify with this our letter and oath that neither from

me nor from our people of the Crimean state any harm or damage shall be

brought, and if someone were to cause some damage insubordinately, I will

try them with their wives and children and relatives and turn over ten for

every one [harmed]. And from them [the Cossacks], I also require the

same, so that it may thus be done. So long as from them there is no

damage, as long as I live, there will be none from us. To this I swear to

Allah and to the prophet Muhammad—may I be removed from his regiment

should I do otherwise. So long as there is none from them, there will be no

wrath from us—to this we give the broad letter of oath to the lord hetman,
the osaul, and the entire host. May you believe all of this, and for this we

134AGAD, LL 30, fol. 17b-19a; LNB, Oss 201, pp. 85-87.
13527 October 1624 (AGAD, LL 30, fol. 19a-19b; LNB, Oss 201, pp. 88-89).

135Materijaly (Kulig), p. 159 (Malorossijskie dela); also in Vossoedinenie, no. 24, p. 51.
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give our broad letter of oath to God and the Prophet. If some enemy were
i0 appear against the hetman, the osauls, the atamans, and all the host, I,
Sahin Gerey, as soon as they notify me, with all my beys, and mirzas am to
help them. And if an enemy were to appear against me, they, upon
notification from me, are to help me in accordance with the letters of oath.
Written on Karayteben by me, Sahin Gerey Sultan khan (car). The year
1624, day 24 December.137

This is the earliest known written agreement betwe::: Ukrainian Cossacks and Crimean
Tatars. For the first time, the Cossacks and Tatars made an abstract political agreement—a-
compact that was to apply to unforeseen future circumstances, rather than a pragmatic ad
hoc agreement between, for example, patron and mercenary client. What is particularly
significant is that it was made with the Zaporozhian Host and its leadership as a political
entity and it was probably writien down because the contraciing parties were not mere
warrior bands (unfortunately the identity of the Zaporozhian hetman in not known and
Cossack documentation of this act is not extant). After all, aside from warring with one
another, the Cossacks, both Ukrainian and Russian, had on and off cooperated with the

Tatars in trade and minor military operations since their origin.!38

Did the agreement between Sahin Gerey and the Zaporozhian Cossacks mean that
the two had entered into an alliance? From the wording of the agreement, the obvious
answer is yes. In fact historians have considered the rapprochement between $ahin Gerey
and the Zaporozhians to be a milestone as the first of several seventeenth-century Cossack-

Tatar alliances that affected the balance of power in the region. Of course, the greatest of

137From a manuscript book of the Kievan Caves Monastery, published in Materijaly dlja istorii
Zapadno-Russkoj cerkvi, 1, Kiev: Tipografija T. T. KorZak-Novickogo, 1883 /=supplement to G.
Golubev, Kievskoj mitropolit Petr Mogila (Opyt istoriCeskogo izcledovanija), 1, Kiev, 1883/, p. 276 (the
two deletions in the text were made by Golubev). This Polish copy appears in the manuscript book after a
letter from Metropolitan Borec’kyj dated 12/22 January 1625. Hru$evs'kyj gives Sahin Gerey’s oath in
Ukrainian translation and the exact reference to the manuscript (Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 517).

1385ee Giinter Stokl, Diz Entstehung des Kosakentums, Munich: Isar Verlag, 1953, pp. 143-77.
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these was that of Hetman Bohdan Xmel’nyc’kyj with Khan Islam Gerey between 1648 and
1653, which altered the course of history in Eastern Europe. But were the Crimean
Khanate and the Zaporozhian Host in a state of alliance after 1624? Certainly there is
evidence that there was much cooperation between the Tatars and Cossacks even before the
agreement. As was seen in this chapter, the Crimeans supported Cossack raiding parties
and the Cossacks seem to have been timing their raids so as to aid the Crimeans in their
struggle with the Ottomans. But could the conciuded alliance withstand the region’s
complexities and vicissitudes? Was there a true alliance in operation in the following years
or was the relationship more a pragmatic one, such as that between a patron and mercenary
client? What were the attitudes of the participating parties toward their relationship? And in
the case of the Cossacks, who were the participants in the said aliiance? All these questions

need to be asked in order to understand the events of the following years.
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CHAPTER III
Crisis in the Black Sea, 1625-1626

At the time when Mehmed Gerey was negotiating a formal agreement with the Zaporozhian
Cossacks in the winter of 1624-1625, another figure was traveling in the Zaporizhia with
plans for no less than an international crusade against the Ottoman Empire. This man,
Yahya, believed that he was the son of Sultan Mehmed III and the legitimate heir to the
Ottoman throne.! According to his story, his mother, a crypto-Christian Greek named
Helena, fled with him from the Anatolian town of Manisa (Magnesia) to the Morea in 1595
when Mehmed ascended to the throne. There, baptized as Alexander, he spent the rest of
his childhood, raised in the Orihodox faith by Greek churchmen.2 From 1608 until the end
of his relatively long life, Sultan Yahya or as he was also known, Ale;cander Yahya or

Alexander Ottomanicus, peregrinated over much of Europe in search of patrons and allies

1The main source on Yahya's career in Western Europe is a large compilation based on two contemporary
biographies, as well as on documents from various Italian archives: Vittorio Catualdi, Sultan Jahya della
casa imperiale ottoma a ed i suoi discendenti in Italia, Trieste, 1889. The commentc here oa Yahya’s
career before arriving in Poland and the Ukraine in 1624 and after his stint in Eastern Europe are based on
those given by Dorothy M. Vaughan, which are mainly based on Catualdi’s sources (Dorothy M. Vaughan,
Europe and the Turk: A Pattern of Alliances, 1350-1700, Liverpool: At the University Press, 1954, pp.
219-236). Pantelejmon Kuli§ published extensive materials on his stay in the Ukraine and Russia from the
archives of the Muscovite foreign office (posol’ skij prikaz) (Materijaly dlja istorii vozsoedinenija Rusi,
1: 1578-1630, ed. P. A. Kuli§, Moscow: Izdanie Tovariftestva «Ob¥estvennaja pol’za», 1877, pp. 142~
286). The latter materials include two autobiographies of Yahya: one a Muscovite prikaz translation of a
Ruthenian translation from a Greek original, allegedly done by Metropolitan Borec’kyj and sent by him to
Muscovy (pp. 163-68); the other as told by Yahya himself to dvorjanin Lodygin and djak NeCaev in
Mcensk (pp. 193-218). Many other details about Yahya are revealed in the transcripts of his interrogation
by Muscovite officials,

2See also Materijaly (Kulig), pp. 219-220.
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who would support him in his quest for the throne of Constantinople. Although it is
unlikely that he was actually the son of Mehmed III (see below), the sources suggest that
Yahya was a pious Christian genuinely concerned with the fate of the subject Christian
population of the Ottoman Empire3; moreover, it seems that he sincerely believed in his
purported lineage. During his travels he achieved various degrees of success in gaining the
support of the Emperor, the grand duke of Tuscany in Florence, the grand duke of Naples,
the king of Spain, de Nevers in Paris, Venice, the Vatican, and Holland.} Between his
visits to the courts of Europe, he supposedly made trips to his supporters in the Balkans
and participate(i in uprisings against the Ottomans there, as well as in Syria with Fahre'd-
Din and purportedly even in Erzurum with Abaza Pasha.

In 1624 Sultan Yahya arrived at the court of Emperor Ferdinand in Vienna where he
was well-received. However, he was frustrated at Ferdinand’s inability to enter into a new
Turkish war, and just at that time he was approached by members of a mercenary company
known as the Lisowczyki. The Lisowczyki, who were from the Commonwealth but
banished from its territories in 1622, were at the time operating in Moravia in the service of
the Emperor. A plan was conceived in which a select group of 8,000 Lisowczyki would
join Yahya and attack the Ottoman Empire. However, it turned out to be unworkable. As
there were ties between the Lisowczyki and the Ukrainian Cossacks, and in fact many
Cossacks were in the Lisowczyk company, several Lisowczyk officers suggested to Yahya
that he join the Zaporozhians, who were always interested in fighting the Ottomans.4 First
he traveled with Wasowicz, a Lisowczyk leader, and 50 of his comrades to his home near
Lublin. After a stay of two months, Yahya set out with twelve Lisowczyki for Kiev,
where he arrived 21/31 October 1624. In Kiev another Lisowczyk, prince Ivan Masal’skoj
(originally from Muscovy), introduced Yahya to Metropolitan Jov Borec’kyj. From the

3Vaughan, Europe and the Turk, p. 221,

4Vaughan, Europe and the Turk, p. 227, Materijaly (Kuli§), pp. 167-68, 211-13.
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two audiences that Borec’kyj gave to Yahya, the metropolitan was so impressed by his
character and learning (including his knowledge of Greek, both ancient and modern, and
Latin), that he referred to him as a godsend who would finally bring deliverance from the
“Babylonian Turkish kingdom.”S On 29 October® Borec’kyj escorted Yahya several miles
out of Kiev where he entrusted him to his loyal servant, father Filip. In the town of Kiyliv
near the Dnieper (near the right bank, just north of Kremen&uk), Yahya was introduced to
the Zaporozhian Cossacks. His reception was warm—several Cossacks even knew him
from their service in the Lisowczyk company in Central Europe and vouched for him.
Thereupon Yahya toured many of their towns, preaching his crusade, and the Zaporozhians
supposedly honored him everywhere, promising to join him as soon as their troubles with
the government and with Sahin Gerey settled down.”

It is not known whether Sahin Gerey came to the Zaporizhia knowing that Yahya
was there and with the intent of coming into contact with him. Although the date of
Yahya’s arrival in the Zaporizhia is not known, it is clear that he was already there when
Sahin appeared.® It was from the Zaporizhia that Yahya wrote a letter to the kaiga.
Introducing himself as the son of an Ottoman sultan, he related the countries he had visited
and the rulers he had met in his quest for the Ottoman throne. Yahya offered Sahin
participation in his anti-Ottoman endeavor and invited him for talks. But Sahin declined,
and instead sent an invitation that Yahya visit him. Yahya then was brought to the banks of
the Dnieper by Cossack officers with an escort of 1,500 Zaporozhians while Sahin arrived

at the opposite shore with his retinue. While the two stood on opposite sides of the

SMaterijaly (Kulig), pp. 162, 213.
6Materijaly (Kulig), p. 168.
7Ma¢erijaly (Kuli), p. 214.

8As stated above, Yahya reached Kryliv in early November 1624 while $ahin arrived in the Zaporizhia a
week before {old style) Christmas, or 18/28 December 1624.
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Dnieper, “only two gun shots away,” Sahin again sent a mirza inviting Yahya to come over
for talks in his tent. Yahya'’s reply was that he was willing to come but that the Cossacks
were not letting him go. The Cossacks, in turn, with muskets in their hands and
surrounding Yahya in four concentric circles, told the Tatars that they had orders to guard
Yahya and could not let him go, but that Sahin Gerey was welcome to come over. And.
thus with each refusing or unable to go over to the other, a meeting never occurred. Later,
Sahin Gerey secretly sent a messenger to Yahya reaffirming his willingness to join him
against the Ottomans. According to Yahya’s later account of their near encounter, $ahin’
Gerey’s true motive in having a meeting was to capture Yahya and turn him over to the
Ottomans for a high payoff.?

Despite the failure of Yahya and Sahin Gerey to meet, apparently an understanding
was reached that the two would join forces in the upcoming war. Yahya’s supporters
claimed that Sahin Gerey pledged “up to a hundred thousand troops.”1® Meanwhile the
Zaporozhians agreed to provide 18,000 men in the coming spring. Yahya promised to pay
six thalers a month to each horseman and four thalers a month to each foot soldier plus a
bonus to the entire host of 30,000 Polish zloty. In addition, another 8,000 so-called “town
Cossacks™ (horodovi kozaky or Cerkasy in the Muscovite documents) “living in
Perejaslav, Kaniv, and other cities” were willing to participate, and to these Yahya

promised 60,000 gold ducats that the grand duke of Tuscany was to send him.!1 Yahya

9The main source on the near encounter between Yahya and $ahin is the account of the former to the
Muscovite authorities in 1625 (Materijaly [Kulis], p. 214-15). In a letter of Borec’kyj cited above, it is
stated that Yahya was not able to see $ahin even though the latter wanted to see him badly (Materijaly
dlja istorii Zapadno-Russkoj cerkvi, 1, Kiev: Tipografija T. T. Kortak-Novickogo, 1883 /=supplement to
G. Golubev, Kievskoj mitropolit Petr Mogila (Opyt istoriteskogo izsledovanija), 1, Kiev, 1883/, p. 275).

10Yahya’s envoys in Moscow, 21/31 III 1625 (Materijaly [Kuli3], p. 171).

Hyahya wrote twice to the grand duke in Florence from the Zaporizhia and supposedly this money was
sent belatedly and deposited with Wolski in Cracow (Materijaly [Kulis], pp. 215-16).
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also claimed that 300 Don Cossacks currently in the Zaporizhia promised to join the
Zaporozhians in a war against the Turks.12

In Yahya’s eyes the moment was indeed an opportune one for an attack on the
Ottoman Empire. Instability in the capital and problems on the eastern Anatolian frontier
continued. At the same time, not only were the Ukrainian Cossacks and Crimean Tatars
ready to serve him, but according to Yahya’s envoys in Moscow, the king of Spain was
willing to send 60 galleys full of troops, the grand duke of Florence promised to send
20,000 muskets and artillery, and “the Serbs, Wallachians, Vlachs, Albanians, and other
nations with their people and funds” were willing to rise behind him.!3 And in addition,
there was a further opportunity to broaden this “anti-Ottoman coalition,” thanks to the
efforts of Metropolitan Jov Borec’kyj to increase contacts between the persecuted
Ukrainian Orthodox clergy and Muscovy.

At the behest of Metropolitan Borec’kyj, Yahya’s envoys, accompanied by thirteen
Zaporozhians, amongst whom were envoys of hetman Kalenyk Andrijevy¢, set out for
Muscovy and on 7/17 February 1625 arrived in the Muscovite border town of Putivl’.
Yahya’s envoys were Marko Fedorovy€, a Macedonian follower of his, and a Zaporozhian
Cossack whom the Muscovite sources call Ivaska Martynov. The leader of the
Zaporozhian party was a Cossack named Ivan Hyra.l4 In Putivl’ Yahya’s envoys
presenied the local voevoda with a short letter of introduction from Borec’kyj for
“Alexander Otioman” in which the metropolitan predicted an Orthodox crusade against the

“Babylonian Turkish kingdom” and urged the Muscovites to participate in this endeavor.13

12yahya’s account in Muscovy in late 1625 (see below; Materijaly (Kuli$), p. 225).

13Yahya’s envoys in Moscow, 21/31 III 1625 and Father Filip in Moscow, late 1625 (Materijaly
~ [Kulis], pp. 171, 228).

¥Materijaly (Kulis), pp. 157-61.

l5Materijaly (Kuli$), pp. 161-62 (24 January/3 February 1625, written in Terextymyriv).
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With this Borec’kyj sent an autobiography by Yahya which the metropolitan himself
translated int6 Ruthenian from the Greek original written in Yahya’s own hand.16 As for
the Cossack envoys, the Muscovite sources record their relation to the Putivl’ voevoda
regarding recent events in the Ukraine. Worth noting are the following points: on the
fourth day after leaving the Zaporizhia the Cossacks encountered on their path Crown
envoys on the way to the Zaporozhian Host. The Crown envoys allegedly told the
Cossack envoys that they were on their way to the Host to order it to prepare for a
campaign against the Turks by sea and by land in the coming spring. This statement was
obviously a case of disinformation by the Cossacks,!? perhaps made to encourage the
Muscovites to join the war against the Ottomans. Also the Cossacks mentioned the arrival
of Sahin Gerey from Iran in the previous year, his taking charge in the Crimea, his
understanding with the Crown to stand together against the Turks (another exaggeration),
his alliance with the Zaporozhians, and his setting out to take control of the Bucak horde
(see below). After relating the persecutions of the Orthodox in Kiev and the disturbances
that occurred after a Zaporozhian unit invited by Borec’kyj reopened sealed churches and
killed the wdjt of Kiev (see below), the envoys told of Yahya’s arrival in.the Ukraine and
his attempt to enlist the Cossacks in his cause, his promise that within three months money
for them would arrive from Florence, and his current whereabouts in the monastery at

Terextymyriv where Borec’kyj had joined him,18

16Materijaly (Kulig), pp. 163-68 (dated 22 October/1 November 1625, written at the St. Michael’s
monastery in Kiev).

17Hru§evs’kyj finds such an order to be highly unlikely, unless the Cossacks were thus interpreting some
Polish hint, prompied by the urgings of Sahin Gerey, that their support of him would not be objected to
(Myxaijlo HruSevs’kyj, Istorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 7, Kiev, 1909; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-spilka, 1956,
p. 528). Rudnyc’kyj points out that such an order was impossible since at the time the state was preparing
an armed commission against the Cossacks largely on account of their recent raids (see below; Stefan
Rudnyc’kyj, “Kozac’ko-pol’s’ka vijna r. 1625,” Zapysky Naukovoho Tovarystva im. Sevienka 17 (1897):

1-42, esp. p. 5).

18Materijaly (Kulis), pp. 157-61.
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On 21 March 1625, Yahya's envoys were received in Moscow by officials of the
tsar. There Yahya’s own letter addressed to Tsar Mixail Fédorovi€ was presented. The
letter announced his intention to go in the upcoming spring by land and by sea with the
Zaporozhian Host against the Turks in the “Greek land” where multitudes of Orthodox
Bulgarians, Serbians, Albanians, and Greeks awaited him as their legitimate Emperor. As
help was coming from Emperor Rudolf and the duke of Tuscany, so too it befitted the great
Orthodox tsar to throw in his support as well.!> When questioned by officials at the
Kazénnyj dvor, the envoys stated that Yahya was about forty years old, a learned man who
had traveled to many countries, and that he had obtained the military support of the
Zaporozhians, Spain, Florence, and $ahin Gerey.20

On 7/17 April 1625, Yahya’s envoys Qere granted an audience with the tsar
together with the Zaporozhian envoys. Whether anything of substance was said at the
audience is not noted in the sources. However, the protocol of the reception reflected
caution on the part of the Muscovite authorities—th? envoys were brought to the tsar’s
hand without being announced. Three days later the envoys were summoned back to the
kazénnyj dvor for leave-taking. There the envoys were given a cordial but formalistic
reply. The tsar wished Yahya good fortune and success in his venture but could not help
him because currently Yahya was in tiae Lithuanian land (i.e., in the Commonwealth) with
the Zaporozhian Cossacks who were subjects of the Polish king, who in turn, was an
enemy of the tsar. Hence the king would not allow Muscovite troops to pass through his
lands. The tsar could not even issue for Yahya a gramota. This was ostensibly because
should the document fall into Polish hands, the king, currently at peace with the sultan,
could have harmed Yahya for carrying out talks with the tsar with the purpose of going

against the Turks. Then the envoys were presented with generous gifts for Yahya,

Materijaly (Kulig), pp. 169-70 (1/11 January 1625, from the Zaporizhia).

20Materijaly (Kulis), p. 171.
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censisting of sables, fox skins, and golden velvet (barxat) worth 1,000 rubles, as well as
some luxury textiles and money for themselves, and given leave to return to the Ukraine.2!
Meanwhile, after staying in the Zaporizhia for 50 days, on 20 January 1625, Yahya
went north to the region inhabited by the town Cossacks (Terextymyriv, Perejasiav, and
Kaniv are mentioned in the sources) where he stayed until early May (St. Egor’s—23 April
0S).22 By this time, despite all the plans and apparent opportunities, it was becoming
increasingly clear to Yahya that his crusading plans for 1625 would fali through.
According to Yahya, the main problem was that many Cossacks went out on their own
raids in the .Black Sea and did not return in time for an organized campaign (see below).23
Hrusevs’kyj was of the opinion that the Cossacks were not fully satisfied with Yahya’s
offer and that that was why he wrote to Florence requesting an additional 60,000 gold
ducats.2* In addition to these factors, as the year progressed, the Ukrainian Cossacks were
increasingly on the defensive before the Crown, as relations deteriorated over the status of
the Cossacks as a military and social entity and over the state of the Orthodox church (see
below). Tl;e sources are not very clear about Yahya’s whereabouts or activities from
February, when he was back in the Cossack towns, through the fall of 1625. It appears
that sometime in May, he returned to the Zaporizhia where he was detained by the
Cossacks until one of their apparently major fleets returned from the sea, which was
around Epiphany (15/25 August 1625). At that time Yahya returned to the region north of

the Zaporizhia and remained there until November.

21 Materijaly (Kuli¥), pp. 172-73.

22Materijaly (Kuli§), p. 215. At the end of Jannary Yahya stayed in the monastery at Terextymymriv
(on the right bank of the Dnieper, upriver from Kaniv and not far from Perejaslav) which was under the
authority of Boreckyj; the metropolitan himself paid a visii at the same time (Materijaly [Kuli§], pp.160-
62).

23Materijaly (Kulis), p. 216.

UHrugevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 527.
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Sahin Gerey’s Campaign to the Bucak, 1625
Sahin Gerey, after his unsuccessful attempts to meet Yahya, set out from the Zaporizhia for
the Bucak to mount a campaign against Kantemir. This occurred soon after the New
Year.Z For Mehmed and Sahin Gerey, the escape of Kantemir from their control and his
return to the Bucak during their struggle with the Ottomans in the previcus year
reconstituted a serious threat to their security. Thus the renewed subjection of Kantemir’s
horde was a high priority for the brothers after their military success against the Ottomans.'
Already around the New Year, Sahin Gerey wrote to Zygmunt III that he was about to go
with his army to the steppes of Akkerman to take strict control of Kantemir, his brothers,
and other mirzas, and to expel from the Bucak all Tatars, forcing them to migrate to the
Crimea.26 On 26 November/6 December 1624, several weeks before Sahin Gerey set out
for the Bucak, Roe reported that a Tatar army had entered the region of Akkerman. This
was a vanguard force sent in advance of the kalga. In the capital, fears were renewed that
the Crimeans intended to invade and take Edirne, although Roe for one was aware that the
real mission of the intruders was against Kantemir.27

Details on this campaign are very scant, and both the sources and secondary
literature contain conflicting versions of its outcome. Na‘ima recounts Sahin Gerey’s
penetration into Rumeli, his siege of the town of Baba Dagi, and his eventual defeat in a
fierce and bloody battle on the Danube by the forces of Kantemir that included a combined

force of Nogays and provincial Ottoman forces from Rumeli. Although $ahin’s forces

25Three days after Christmas (28 December 1624/7 Januray 7 1625) according to the aforementioned
Cossack envoys in Putivl’ (Materijaly [Kuli§], p. 159) and certainly before 12/22 January 1625 when
Borec’kyj wrote a letter mentioning this event (Materijaly [Golubevl], p. 275).

2680 200, fol. 359a-363a (11-20 Rabi® I 1034/22-31 December 1624).

27The Negotiations of Sir Thomas Roe in His Embassy to the Ottoman Porte, from the Year 1621-
1628 Inclusive, London, 1740, p. 315.
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were annihilated, the kalga managed to escape in a boat.28 Na‘ima’s version of events,
repeated by Hammer and Zinkeisen, is accepted by HruSevs’kyj.2? Baranowski,
suspicious that later events were confused with those of early 1625, is skeptical of
Na‘ima’s story and notes that had there been such a major defeat, there would have been

Moreover, he points to a Polish copy of a relation of the

some notice in the Polish sources.
affairs of the Crimean Khanate to Commonwealth authorities by an envoy of Sahin Gerey
in which it is implicit that it was Sahin Gerey who defeated Kantemir. However,
Baranowski considers it difficult to decide which version is closer to the truth.30
Novosel’skij, on the basis of the Muscovite sources, unequivocally states that the
successful outcome of Sahin Gerey’s expedition is the correct version of events. Adding to
his sources the testimony of Polish and other sources leaves no doubt that it was indeed
Sahin Gerey who was the victor in early 1625. There are no specifics on any possible
military encounters between the forces of ahin Gerey and Kantemir. What is known is
that Sahin Gerey campaigned in the Akkerman steppe and in the Bender (Tehinia) region.
According to the Muscovite sources, he actually occupied Akkerman but then withdrew
upon hearing that Ottoman troops were on the way.3! However, in a confession
(confessata), a Tatar captured by the Poles claimed that just as the Turks never allowed

Kantemir to enter the citadels of Akkerman or Bender (Tehinia) so Sahin Gerey too was

barred entry.32 Perhaps the lack of any mention of battles indicates that there were none

_28Mustaﬁ1 Na‘ima, Ravzatii'l-hiiseyn fi pulasati apbari’l-hafikayn, 2 [=Tarih], Istanbul: Matba‘a-i
‘Amire, 1281-1283/1864-1866, 2 pp. 34041.

2930seph Hammer, Geschichte des Osmanischen Reiches, 5, Pest: C. A. Hartleben’s Verlag, 1829, 5,
pp. 44-43; Johann Wilhelm Zinkeisen, Geschichte des Osmanischen Reiches in Europa, Gotha:
Friedrich Andreas Perthes, 1856, 4, pp. 491-92; HruSevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 532-33.

30Bohdan Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna w latach 1624-1629, L6dz: Lédzkie Towarzystwo
Naukowe, 1948, p. 38.

31A. A. Novosel’skij, Bor'ba Moskovskogo gosudarstva s tatarami v pervoj polovine XVII veka,
Moscow and Leningrad: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk SSSR, 1948, p. 114 (Krymskie dela).

328K 201, fol. 242a (after 6 February 1625).
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and that Sahiq Gerey’s forces were so overwhelming that Kantemir and his Tatars chose to
yield without a fight. A variety of sources (Cossack, Tatar, Ottoman) claim that $ahin
Gerey deported the entire Bucak horde, including all of their flocks and herds and other
possessions, beyond the Dnieper.33 However, as was probably the case in the forced
migration of the Bucak horde in late 1623, the indications in the sources as to the extent of
the migration is exaggerated at least to some degree. While most of the sources state that
the Bucak Tatars were sent to the Crimea, Sahin Gerey notified Koniecpolski that in
deporting the entire Bucak horde, he sent some to theé Crimea and others to the so-called
Dzikie Pola (“Wild Fields”), that is, the steppes beyond the Dnieper and north of
Perekop.34 The Tatar confessata speaks of a two-stage deportation, with part of the Tatar
mirzas and all of Kantemir’s belongings and wives to the Crimea first and the rest,
including Kantemir and 4,000 Nogays, remaining with Sahin Gerey until he returned to the
Crimea.35 $ahin Gerey’s envoy to the Commonwealth places Kantemir and his Nogays as
eventually nomadizing in the steppes outside of Perekop and describes a surprisingly good

state of relations between the two: “Kantemir . . . often visits Sahin Gerey and takes

33Two Zaporozhian Cossacks to Koniecpolski, February (?) 1625 (BK 201, fol. 248b); Mehmed Pasha,
ka’im makam, to Zygmunt III, 11 March-8 April 1625 (BK 0142-d); Mehmed Pasha, ka’im makam, to
Crown chancellor, 11 March-8 April 1625 (BK O 142-d); J. Zbaraski to Zygmunt III, 22 September 1625
(Listy ksigcia Jerzego Zbaraskiego kasztelana krakowskiego z lat 1621-1632, ed. August Sokotowski, in
Scriptores rerum polonicarum/Pisarze dziejéw pelskich, 5 = Archiwum Komisyi historycznej, 2, Cracow:
Naktadem Akademii umiejetnosei, 1880, no. 50, p. 97; Osmanskaja imperija v pervoj Cetverti XVII veka,
Sbomik dokumentov i materialov, eds. X. M. Ibragimbejli, N. C. Ra%ba, Moscow: Izdatel'stvo «Nauka»,
Glavnaja redakcija vostoZnoj literatury, 1984, p. 254). The Muscovite sources say that §ahin Gerey
deported Kantemir and his brother Gulim Divay (“Diveev™) and their uluses to the Crimea (Novosel’skij,
Bor'ba, p. 114 [Krymskie dela)).

34BK 201, fol. 259 (late November [?] 1625).

35According to the confessata, the first to go to the Crimea were Sultan Orak Mirza, Ketlu Shah
(“Kotlusza™) Mirza, Salman Shah Mirza, Veli Shah “Walisza” Mirza, Safa Gerey Sultan (son of a khan) and
three sons of Kantemir, Sultan Mehmed Mirza, “Swin” Mirza, and “Tochtimir” Mirsza; remaining with
Sahin until he left the Bucak were Kantemir, “Azuthort” (?) Mirza, “Animir” (?) Mirza, Ibrahim Mirza,
“Kazibai” Mirza, “Mulah” (?) Mirza Tatarowie (BK 201, fol. 242a).
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advice from him. .. Salmaza (?) Mirza nomadizes nearby Kantemir and goes to ‘Koziow’
(Gozlev? [in the western Crimea on the Black Sea coast]) and also often visits $ahin.”36
Aside from his own Crimean Tatars, a force of Lesser Nogays and Zaporozhian
Cossacks supported Sahin Gerey in his Bucak venture of early 1625. Although there is
only one reference to the participation of the Lesser Nogays,37 that of the Zaporozhians is
attested to by various sides. The Muscovite sources inform that already in late 1624, $ahin
Gerey sent substantial supplies (1,000 sheep, 300 cows, wine, bread) to the Zaporozhians
and bid them to prepare to move against Kantemir.38 This suggests that the kalga had an
immediate purpbse in going to the Zaporizhia aside from the wider plan to make a formal
alliance with the Zaporozhian Cossacks so as to strengthen his position vis 2 vis the
Ottomans and other possible foes. The already mentioned Tatar confessata said that there
were 400 Cossacks with Sahin Gerey in the Bucak.3¥ There exists an undated letter to
Koniecpolski from two Zaporozhian Cossacks, Ivan Kubutka (Kubuczka) and Lavryn
Zuk, who were with Sahin Gerey in the Bucak, inforrr.ling that the latter was in full force in
the plains of Akkerman, driving tc the Crimea ali the Nogays in the Bucak who harmed the
Commonwealth.40 Finally, two dispatches of the nuncio in Warsaw speak of 2,000
Zaporozhian Cossacks who had been in the service of Sahin Gerey earlier that year.4!
Aside from subjecting and deporting the Bucak horde, there was a subplot in this

campaign that serves as a good example of $ahin Gerey’s opportunism and never-ending

36BK 201, fol. 234.

37Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, p. 114 (Krymskie dela).

38Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 114 (Krymskie dela).

39BK 201, fol. 242a (after 6 February 1625).

40BK 201, fol. 248b (undated, probably February 1625 or thereafter).

41pjspatches of 31 May and 13 Jure 1625 (Litterae Nuntiorum Apostolicorum historiae Ucrainae
illustrantes (1550-1850), 4: 1609-1620, ed. Athanasius G. Welykyj, Rome: Basiliani, 1959, nos. 1791,
1795, pp. 180, 182).
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quest for intrigue. When he left the Zaporizhia he had with him a certain Bogdan, son of
the late Moldavian voyvoda Ieremia Movila (1595-1600, 1600-1606).42 The further story
of this Bogdan is found in the relation made to the Commonwealth authorities by Sahin
Gerey’s unnamed envoy mentioned above. This person, who it is implied was a pretender
(“he called himself the son of Ieremia”), managed to convince Sahin Gerey that there was a
treasure in a monastery in Suceava where his late father was buried. Sahin Gerey awarded
him with a silver kaftan and assigned to him a certain Ca‘fer Kad1 and Ahmed Aga along
with several dozen men. $ahin promised the claimant that if he brought him the treasure,
then he woﬁld make him voyvoda of Moldavia. However, on the way to Suceava, the
claimant fled and there is no further mention of his fate or Sahin Gerey’s Moldavian

plans.43

Sahin Gerey and the Inicrnational Relations of the Crimea, 1625

Regardless of whether Sahin Gerey had any hostile intent toward the Ottomans in his
Bucak expedition of 1625, officially the Porte approved of his venture. It should be
remembered that in the fall of 1623, the Porte had acceded to the demands of the Crown
that Kantemir be removed from the position of Ozi goveror-general (beglerbegi) and so at
this time as well, the Porte at least pretended before the Commonwealth that it was in full
accord with Sahin’s action in the Bucak. In a series of letters to the king, the Crown
chancellor and the Crown hetman, ka’im makam Mehmed Pasha stated that the sultan had
ordered the khan to resubject Kantemir and that the khan in turn ordered Sahin to go to
Akkerman and Bender and deport the Bucak horde.#4 As is evident from their

correspondence, Ottoman officials were eager to take credit in the Crown’s eyes for the

42Materijaly [Golubevl, no. 41, p. 275 (Jov Borec’kyj to Josyf Bobryc’kyj, 12/22 January 1625).
43BK 201, fol. 235a.

44BK O 142-d (all dated , Djumada II 1034/11 III-8 IV 1625); also BCz 2246, p. 76, (to Zygmunt III,
delivered to Warsaw sejm 3 March 1625).
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suppression of the Bucak horde, thus demonstrating that they were doing everything
possible to carry cut the terms of the recently established peace and, at the same time,
putting pressure on the Commonwealth to act more decisively against the Ukrainian
Cossacks. The opportunism of the Porte in claiming that the Bucak expedition was carried
out upon its order is apparent in a report by Roe: “There [at the Porte] is arrived an
ambassador from the Tartar khan [who offered] service [to] his master, and excusing the
entry of the Tartars into the frontier of the empire, as being done in the service of the grand
seignior, only to fetch Cantemir Mirza and his followers out of Silistra, and to compel them

»

to retire . . .” Roe also commented on the political capital gained vis-d-vis the
Commonwealth in acting against the Bucak horde: “.. . to avoid and take away all
occasion from the Poles to lament of the injuries done by them [i.e., by the Bucak Tatars],
and thereby they also might take the like order for their Cossacks, and so the peace might
be duly on both sides observed.”45

For his part, Mehmed Gerey also took credit in Warsaw for $ahin Gerey’s actions
in the Bucak, presenting them as acts of his own initiative.46 As for $ahin Gerey’s official
posture before the Porte, Mehmed Deak Pasha revealed in one of his letters to the Crown
that upon taking control of the Bucak horde, $ahin too sent envoys to notify the Porte of
this action.47 It is obvious that the brothers were mindful of avoiding any Ottoman reaction
to Crimean operations in Rumeli, particularly considering the jitters in the capital about
Tatar activity in Rumeli and the past rumors of a planned invasion of Edirne. There was

likely something more behind the brothers’ seemingly inore conciliatory attitude toward the

Porte.

45Roe, dispatch of 12/22 March 1625 (Negotiations, p. 362).
46Mehmed Gerey to Zygmunt IT1, presented at Warsaw sejm on 3 March 1625 (BCz 2246, pp. 73-77).

4TMehmed Pasha to Zygmunt I1I, Djumada II 1034/11 March-8 April 1625 (BK O 142-d).
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Baranowski sees a definite improvement in relations between the Khanate and the
Porte at this time. According to him, although there are no direct Ottoman or Crimean
sources explaining how such an improvement came about, it is reflected in the change in
the tenor of the letters to the Crown frem the end of 1624 or beginning of 1625. As was
typical of normal, that is, bordering on hostile, Crimean-Crown relations, the letters
contaih demands for the regular and ti.nely delivery of the annual upominki and
exhortations of the king to be on good terms with the Porte. Mehmed Gerey even
demanded that the Cossacks be suppressed and prevented from going out onto the Black
Sea.48 Baranowski is correct in sensing a change in attitude to the Crown in Mehmed’s,
and even in Sahin Gerey’s, letters. The reasons for such a shift went beyond the
inclination of Mehmed Gerey toward a reconciliation with the Porte as is evident above and
the preference on the part of both brothers to “play it safe” during Sahin’s Bucak venture.
Given the Crown’s cautious and noncommittal reaction in the previous October to the
kalga’s overtures for a full alliance, a rapprochement with the Porte was desirable, if not
imperative. However, as Baranowski himself points out, Sahin Gerey (unlike the khan)
still mentioned in his letter his relationship with the Zaporozhian Cossacks.4? Thus it is not
entirely accurate to speak in terms of Crimean-Ottoman relations, and at that, of a warming
in those relations. Rather, what occurred was another bifurcation in the Crimea’s
international relations that was the result of the two brothers’ differing political orientations.
If Mehmed Gerey had been willing to acquiesce to $ahin Gerey’s alliance with the Polish
Crown and Ukrainian Cossacks in the second half of 1624, certainly by the early 1625 he
was earnestly, although probably not sincerely, mending his relations with the Porte. As
for Sahin Gerey, his present loyal posture before the Porte was a complete sham. As

always, he was playing off two, three, or more sides at the same time. Thus, not only did

48Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, pp. 38-39.

49Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, p. 39.
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he mention in his letter his relationship with the Zaporozhians, but he also requested the
king to allow an unspecified number of them to join him after their Easter. Moreover, in a
letter to Crown hetman Koniecpolski from the same months, $ahin Gerey listed the
Ottomans among the common enemies of the Khanate and Commonwealth. Although in
this and in the aforementioned letter to the king, Sahin Gerey adopted a friendlier tone than
did Mehmed Gerey, the return to a more traditional relationship with the Crown is evident
in the kalga’s insistence on the Crown’s j)ayment of the traditional upominki in addition to
the dispatch of Zaporozhian troops. By contrast, as evident above, in his first overture to
the Crown in August 1624, he was willing to forego cash upominki entirely if only he
would be sent powder and lead.30

Despite any gestures that Sahin Gerey made to the Porte, by no means did the
Ottomans now trust him, nor did he feel his position to be more secure in the Crimea.
According to a Tatar confessata, $ahin Gerey made haste in returning to the Crimea at the
end of the Bucak campaign, lest the Ottomans make a move for the Crimea by sea in his
absence.5! Indeed, during the late spring of 1625, there were several Ottoman attempts to
reconnoiter the Crimea and strengthen their position in Kefe. Roe told of a single galley
arriving at Kefe to “discover the countenance of the Tartars,” only to have its captain
advised by the local Ottoman pasha not to come ashore. And so the galley returned to
Istanbul with uncertain news. (Certainly the Ottomans still felt their position in the Crimea
to be in jeopardy, as shortly thereafter, news, or more accurately, a rumor, arrived at the
capital that the Tatars and Cossacks were making new plans to take Kefe).52 The
Muscovite sources relate another Ottoman mission to the Crimea, also in the spring, in

which a different scenario evolved. When new Ottoman forces arrived at Kefe, Mehmed

S0BK 201, fol. 240b-41a.
S1BK 201, fol. 242a.

52Roe, dispatch of 12/22 June 1625 (Negotiations, p. 410).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



108

Gerey came out to them and honoring them, declared that he stood with and not against the
sultan. Meanwhile, §ahin Gerey fled the Crimea with his kizilbag retinne toward the
vicinity of Ozi where he summoned to his side forces of the Lesser Nogays. However, the
Ottoman force acted with caution and, strengthening their authority and garrison in Kefe,

departed without engaging either of the brothers.>3

The Raids of the Cossacks and the Battle of Kara Harman, 1625
In 1625 the Cossacks, especially the Zaporozhians, operated in virtual armadas on the
Black Sea. Considering the magritude of the Cossack presence, however, the available
information on their raids is rather scarce. In February, the papal nuncio in Warsaw
reported that not only had the Cossacks increased the number of their boats, but that their
new ones were larger than usual.54 After the disaster in the Crimea and the trouble on the
Black Sea in the previous year, the Ottomans were under no illusions as to what would
follow in the current year. Throughout the winter, the naval arsenal in Istanbul prepared
for the fleet to sail into the Black Sea, resigned to leaving the Mediterranean undefended for
a second year in a row.55

The Crimean-Zaporozhian alliance heightened Ottoman vulnerability in the Black
Sea. Already in the spring of 1625, according to Sahin Gerey’s envoy to the
Commonwealth, the kalga sent his envoy Begtimir to the Cossacks bidding them to go out
to sea, promising to send men (as guides?) and money. This envoy stated that 120 boats
did set out under DoroSenko, while 3,000 Zaporozhians remained in their kuren’s with a

certain Zaxara as hetman.6 According to the Muscovite sources, as early as March, the

33Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, pp. 116-17 (Krymskie dela).
34Dispatch of 9 February 1625 (Litterae Nuntiorum, 4, no. 1753, p. 159-60).
55Roe, dispatch of 21 February 1625 (Negotiations, p. 357).

56BK 201, fol. 234b.
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Zaporozhians had sent out two large flotillas of 150 and 120 boats.57 On 12/22 March,
Roe wrote that the Cossacks had been spotted and were rumored to exceed 300 boats,
news that resulted in a large movement of the residents of the Bosphorus into Istanbul.58
By the first days of June, word reached Istanbul that a major raid had occurred at
Trabzon. A large fleet (160 boats and 6,500 men, according to a nuncio in Boscencino;
250, according to the nuncio in Poland; 250 boats, according to de Cesy, and 300,
according to Roe), destroyed the suburbs and attacked the neighboring coast, but the inner
fortress of Trabzon survived.?? In the Muscovite sources, a story is related which claims
to explain Why the entire city wa- ! destroyed: Sometime in the spring, the Zaporozhians
and Don Cossacks®0 set out to sea, but before crossing, decided to divide into separate
| parties and rendezvous on the Anatolian shore. When the Don Cossacks arrived first and
found Trabzon within view, they decided to attack without waiting for their allies.5! After
a battle which lasted for four days, they were able to take the outer city. However, even
after the Zaporozhians arrived, the inner walls held up and the Cossacks were forced to

retire after suffering serious casualties.62 According to the papal nuncio in Boscencino, the

5TNovosel'skij, Bor' ba, p. 114 (Krymskie dela). Novosel’skij says that these two raids were undertaken
to defend the Crimea from the Ottomans, but it is not clear whether this information is in his source or this
is merely his own supposition,

58Negotiations, pp. 362-63.

59De Cezy, dispatch of 5 June 1625 (Historica Russiae monumenta/Akty istoriCeskie otnosjastiesja k
Rossii, 2, ed. A. 1. Turgenev, St. Petersburg: Tipografija Eduarda Praca, 1842, p. 430); Roe, dispatch of
12/22 June 1625 (Negotiations, p. 410).

600nly the number of Don Cossacks, 2,030, is given, which would have meant about 40 &ajkas
(Donskie dela, 1, ed. B. G. DruZinin, St. Petersburg: Arxeografi¢eskaja kommisija, 1898 =Russkaja
istoriCeskaja biblioteka, 18, col. 219; also in Vossoedinenie Ukrainy s Rossiej. Dokumenty v tréx tomax,
1: 1620-1647, Moscow: Izdatel’stvo Akademii nauk, 1953, no. 18, col. 235).

611n the opinion of one author, out of greed (IstoriCeskoe opisanie zemli Vojska donskogo, 1,
Novoterkassk: Izdanie Vojskovogo statistiteskogo komiteta, 1869, p. 187), and in that of another, so as not
to lose the element of surprise (Ju. P. Tudin, Russkoe moreplavanie na Kaspijskom, Azovskom i Cemom
morjax (XVII vek). Moscow: Izdatel’stvo «Nauka», Glavnaja redakcija vostoZnoj literatury, 1978, p. 114).

62D onskie dela, 1, col. 235; IstoriCeskoe opisanie, pp. 187-88 (Krymskie and Donskie dela). After the
withdrawal the Zaporozhians accused the Don Cossacks of violating their agreement to besiege the city
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Cossacks raided three other fortified places besides Trabzon, killing many people and
suffering heavy losses themselves (3,000 men including two commanders [generale] and
eight boats with their crews sunk in a storm).53 They captured three Turkish notables
including a naval official (prefetto di que mari, perhaps a local kapudan?) who, in vain,‘
offered the Cossacks a ransom of 300 enslaved Cossacks.54

After sailing back across the sea, at least some of the Cossacks, rather than
returning to their river homes, stopped over at the port of Gozleve (Jevpatorija) in
southwestern Crimea, which was under the authority of the Crimean Khanate.65 De Cezy
and the papal nuncio in Venice confirmed that the Cossacks went to the Crimea after the
Trabzon raid, and the papal nuncio stated that they moved their booty there. These latter
two reports placed Cossacks—probably a different party returning from Trabzon—at Kefe,
although it should be noted that around this time, the Ottomans strengthened their control of
Kefe. In any event, these stopovers were seen as certain proof that the Zaporozhian
Cossacks and Tatars were in alliance.66 Later on in September, Jerzy Zbaraski, perhaps

referring to this incident, wrote, “when a storm on the sea cast them about, they landed

together and so, a battle broke out between them resulting in the death of “one of the best Don atamans.”
Thereafter the two sides separated and went their own ways. The papal nuncio also reported that the
Cossacks did not take the citadel but nevertheless captured very rich booty (dispatch from Venice, 12 July
1625, Litterae Nuntiorum, 4, no. 1804, pp. 187-88).

63In a Polish copy of a letter from Mehmed Diak Pasha to Koniecpolski, the same figure of 3,000
Cossacks slain at Trabzon is given. In this letter it is stated that the Cossacks unsuccessfully attacked
Samsun before going to Trabzon; after three days there they moved on to atiack a place called “Oliwar”
where they were also unsuccessful and suffered heavy losses (again 3,000 claimed by Mehmed Pasha);
finally they burned some empty galleys and withdrew. Another letter, by kaymakam Giircii Mehmed
Pasha, states that there were 205 Zaporozhian and Don &ajkas involved in these raids and that they lost less
than a thousand men at Sinop. (Hru3evs'kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 536, n. 1).

64Dispatch of i1 July 1625 (Litterae Nuntiorum, 4, no. 1801, p. 186-87). An envoy of $ahin Gerey 10
the Commonwealth also mentions the Cossak raid on Trabzon (“this year the Cossacks slaughtered
Trabzon,” BK 201, fol. 235a).

65BK 201, fol. 235a.

66The nuncio as well as de Cezy placed the Cossacks in Kefe, which would have been unlikely as by this
time the city was back in Ottoman control (dispatch of 12 July 1625, Litterae Nuntiorum, 4, no. 1804, p.
187-88; De Cezy, dispatch of 5 June 1625, Historica Russiae, pp. 429-30).
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near one of his [the khan’s] towns which lies on the sea, and they were given provisions
and their boats were fixed upon his order.”67 $ahin Gerey’s envoy to the Commonwealth
provided further evidence of the solidarity between the Zaporozhians and Sahin, as well as
of a rift between $ahin and his brother, Khan Miehmed Gerey, réga:ding relations with the
Ottomans: “[after the raid on Trabzon] Sahin Gerey ordered his barber-surgeon (balwierz)
to caré for some of the heavily wounded officers (starszyny) and [regular] Cossacks.
When the khan learned this, he wrote to him that he should send them to Istanbul. Having
read this, [Sahin] tore up the card in front of the [khan’s (?)] envoy.”68

The evidence of a functioning alliance between the Zaporozhian Cossacks and
Sahin Gerey increased the anxiety of both the Porte and the Poles. Roe related that a galley
was sent to Kefe to feel out the attitude of the khan, but upon its arrival, the governor of
Kefe advised its captain not to even set foot in the city. Instead of clarifying the situation in
the Khanate, a rumor began to circulate that the Tatars and Cossacks had designs on Kefe,
which Roe in this context called “the chief seat and port of the Euxine.” It was at about this
time that the grand admiral (kapudan pasa) set sail for the Black Sea, having with him
besides the ships of the naval arsenal, “all the galleys of the Archipelago,” that is, the so-
called beg ships (beg gemileri, see glossary s.v. beg gemisi), altogether, Roe suggested,
numbering 60 ships®? of all types.70 In his letter to the king, Zbaraski notes with alarm the

continued relations of the Zaporozhians with Sahin Gerey:

57Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 50, p. 97 (22 September 1625, from Pilic); also in Sbornik letopisej, p. 254.
68BK 201, fol. 235a.

69According to Katib Celebi, Receb Pasha’s fleet consisted of 43 galleys and galliots (Katib Celebi,
Fezleke, 2, Istanbul: Ceride-1 Havadis Matba‘asi, 1287/1870-1871, p. 52).

70Dispatch of 12/22 June 1622 (Negotiations, p. 410). The rumors in Istanbul had been even more
ominous according to Roe. It was said that had the winter not been so mild and the Danube not frozen
over, the Tatars would have take advantage of the season when the Ottoman forces were largely demobilized
by coming up to very the gates of the city.
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. . . [Sahin Gerey] could in no way desert [the Cossacks], not because of
agreement which he has with them, for such faith is not worth much on
either side, but because of his own needs which forces him to keep to the
agreement with them, for he has [at his side] the ever-hostile Turks who he
cannot trust and for this there is no better aid than [the Cossacks] to thus
inspire fear in the Turks . . . The Commonwealth has come to the state that
these its servants (the Cossacks) have such a chief ally who will of
necessity defend them. I take this danger more seriously than Gustav
[Adolphus] and all others . . .71

In the second half of July or in early August of 1625, the Zaporozhians encountered
Ottoman forces near Ozi. Earlier in the month when the fleet entered Varna, a bloody clash
between the janissaries of the fleet and the cebecis garrisoned in the city had occurred in
which at one point all the janissaries left the ships to join the fray, leaving the ships
defenseless before possible Cossack attack.”? When thereafter a mutiny of the janissaries
further delayed the fleet, grand admiral Receb sent a fleet of 180 boats (“frigates,” i.e.,
firkatas) ahead under the command of a certain Saksaki (“Sacksachi”) Pasha to guard the
mouth of the Dnieper. Upon arriving at Ozi and finding all quiet, Saksaky went ashore, as
it was the first day of the bayram after Ramadan (“‘the Biram day,” 7 July). During the
feast the Cossacks made a surprise attack and destroyed his fleet, killing many of his men
and nearly capturing him.” According to a letter by ZBaraski, the Cossacks not only killed

many Turks and destroyed many of their boats (czajky, i.e., sayqas), but also captured

7122 September 1625, from Pilic (Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 50, p. 97; also in Shornik letopisej, pp. 254-
55).

72Djspatch of 14 July 1625 (Negotiations, pp. 419-20). Katib Celebi gives a brief mention of this
incident, but his date, /d-i adha (10 Dhu'l-Hijja/13 September 1625) is unacceptable; perhaps he meant the
‘fd-i fur which in 1034 A. H. fell in July, which correlates with Roe’s dispatch (Katib Celebi, Fezleke, p.
72).

Dispatch of 30 July 1625 (Negotiations, p. 426).
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artillery pieces and thereafter proceeded to storm the Ozi fortress complex itself. However,
their assault was unsuccessful and cost the Cossacks one or two thousand lives.”4
Learning of the trouble at Ozi, Receb Pasha and the main fleet sailed with all speed
for the mouth of the Dnieper but upon arrival found no sign of the Cossacks. According to
Roe, Receb Pasha proceeded on to Kefe only to receive word from the governor-general of
Ozi that, on the night after he left, the Cossacks had entered the Black Sea and headed
toward the Bosphorus.”> According to Katib Celebi, Receb Pasha was persuaded by the
residents of Ozi to guard the mouth of the Dnieper by which the Cossacks would
undoubtedly paés on their return trip; after a period of defending the “QOyzi Straits,” he set
out for the Bosphorus out of fear that the Cossacks would strike there.”6 What followed
was a great naval battle with the Cossacks which made a greater impression on the sources
than any before cr after. There are two main independent accounts which are for the most
part in agreement, namely, that preserved in the Ottoman chronicle tradition, and that of
Thomas Roe.”’ In addition, some impgrtant details are given by de Cesy and d’Ascoli.”8
Near Kara Harman (today Vadu, at the southern end of the Danubian delta), the
fleet caught up with the Cossacks just as the momning rose. Because the sea was extremely
calm and because the galley oarsmen were exhausted from the pursuit, the ships of the fleet

had spread out élong the way—of 43 ships, only 21 were with the grand admiral. Of

7422 September 1625 (Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 50, p. 96).
T5Dispatch of 30 July/9 August 1625 (Negotiations, p. 426-27).

T6However the information in Roe makes it impossible for Receb Paga to have stayed at Ozi for a month
and a half as is stated by the chronicle (Katib Celebi, Fezleke, pp. 72-73).

77Katib Celebi, Fezleke, pp. 72-74 and Tuhfet, pp. 110-11; Na‘ima, Tarih, 2, pp. 356-60;
Collecteanea, pp. 178-82; Hammer, Geschichte, 5, pp. 50-52; Negotiations, p. 427 (dispatch of 30
July/9 August 1625).

78Dispatches of 13 July and 5 October 1625 (Historica Russiae, p. 430); [Emiddio Dortelli d'Ascoli],
“Opisanie Cernogo morja i Tatarii sostavil dominikanec Emiddio Dortelli d’ Ascoli, prefekt Kaffy, Tatarii i
pro€. 1634,” ed. A. Berthier-Delagard, Zapiski Odesskogo obsTestva istorii i drevnostej 24 (1902), p. 98.
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these, nine were janissary ships.”? The Cossack fleet had 350 or more Cajkas (with 50
musketeers per boat, according to the chronicle and 40 to 80 musketeers, according to
Roe). The Ottoman chronicle states that the Cossacks were emboldened by the calm waters
since “in windy weather a hundred Gajkas cannot battle a single galley, whereas in calm
weather a singie ¢ajka can do battle with a galley,” and thus they attacked Receb Pasha’s
fleet. According to both accounts, the battle was furious to the utmost. The Cossack fleet
engulfed its enemy, with several &ajkas surrounding each galley. The ¢ajkas and galleys
were so mingled that the Ottomans could not lend mutual support or use their artillery
without harining their own ships. The Cossacks boarded the ships and engaged the Turks
in hand-to-hand combat. Because the sterns of the galleys were armed with cannons
(darbzen) and had musket-armed troops, the Cossacks preferred to board the ships from
the front and sides. They especially went after the bagtarda of the grand admiral,
distinguished by the three lanterns that hung from its stern. Boarding its deck, they fought
their way toward the rear, reaching as far as the middle or main mast. From the rear they
broke off the rudder (which was refasiened “by four Christian slaves,” according to Roe)
and cut the ship’s rigging.80 To add to the problems of the grand admiral’s bagtarda, the
chronicle reports that all of its oarsmen were Cossack slaves (kazak forsa in Fezleke)
who quit rowing when the battle began, and according to Na‘ima, would have joined the
battle on the side of their compatriots had they not been bound by chains. Other
commander’s ships did not fare much better. The chronicle mentions the ship of Haci
Mehmed (“Memi,” the tersane kethuda, or the deputy of the grand admiral) as nearly lost
and that of Uzun (“Long”) Piyale as attacked by a great number of Cossacks. The

casualties on both sides were high (Roe claimed that the janissaries were almost entirely

791n the Ottoman fleet different troops werre carried on separate ships; hence the sources refer to yenigeri
gemileri, cebeci gemileri, etc.

80D’ Ascoli claims that the Cossacks actually took control of the stern part of the kapudan’s ship.
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demolished). The chronicle does mention some Ottoman successes in the first part of the
battle—the sinking of some of the Cossack &ajkas around the grand admiral's bagtarda by
using its cannons, Piyale’s ability to overcome his attackers who vastly outnumbered him
(for his bravery, after the battle he was named as the new tersane kethudasi)8!; the
effective performance of the janissaries on the ship of Katib Mahmud Efendi, and the.
unequaled swiftness of Can ‘Alim-zade Aga’s ship and the performance of its musket-
bearing troops. But according to all the sources, the Cossacks increasingly took the upper
nand, and annihilation of the entire fleet was imminent.

Suddenly a strong north wind arose, raising the sea and filling the sails of the
galleys. This brought a compleie turnabout in the battle—the Cossacks were forced to
retreat to their boats, many of which capsized under the waves. With the wind separating
the galleys from ihe Cajkas, the former were able to turn their artillery against the latter.
The Ottoman chronicle tradition, Roe, de Cesy, and d’Ascoli®2 all testify that the Ottoman
fleet was on the verge of annihilation. But instead of an incredible Cossack victory,
according to the chronicles, out of 350 5ajkas, 30 with great difficulty fled to the shore and
the rest filled with water. However, despite the flooding, the boats managed to stay above
water, which Na‘ima explains by the bunches of reeds the Cossacks had tied to their
¢ajkas, and they continued to fight through the evening. 83 The ¢ajkas that did not sink
and those Cossacks who did not drown, 170 and 781, respectively, were captured and

registered. According to Roe, the losses of the Cossacks were 30 ¢ajkas and 600 or 700

810n Piyale’s distinguished career see Victor Ostapchuk, “Five Documents from the Topkap: Palace
Archive on the Ottoman Defense of the Black Sea against the Cossacks (1639)” in Raiyyet Riisumi:
Essays Presented to Halil Inalcik on his Seventieth Birthday by his Colleagues and Students,
Cambridge, Mass., 1987 = Journal of Turkish Studies 11 (1987): 49-104,

82According to d” Ascoli, this was the opinion of eyewitnesses to the event.

83Na‘ima, Tarih, 2, pp. 359.
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men captured while de Cesy places the losses at a very low 200 or 300 men for each
side.84

The Ottoman chronicle calls the encounter at Kara Harman the greatest naval battle
ever fought with the Cossacks and tells of Receb Pasha’s return to the Porte with great
honor and his presentation of the captured ¢ajkas and Cossacks. Roe also mentioned the
great triumph of the grand admiral at Istanbul as he brought back 270 Cossacks and was
received as if he were a second Pompei. Aside from the lower figures for the number of
boats and men lost by the Cossacks in Roe and de Cesy, there are other indications that the
chronicle exaggerates the degree of the Ottoman victory.85 De Cesy simply stated that the
grand admiral did not gain as great an advantage over the Cossacks as he advertised at the
Porte and was only saved by the north wind. In fact, according to the French ambassador,
when the wind began to die down in the evening, the Cossacks were ready to give chase to
the Ottoman fleet. That the danger from the Cossacks was still present is clear in Roe
where Receb Pasha appeals to the capital for reinforcements and supplies and in response
to which all available troops including retirees (emeriii milites), seven galleys, and
supplies were sent to guard the Bosphorus at Kavak (Canachi) and to the fleet.8¢ After
relating Receb Pasha’s triumph, Roe gave the following assessment of the encounter:

Non de victoria, sed de non victo triumphavit. They esteem this sea-fight

next to that of Lepanto, and nobler for the escape: for doubtless, if the wind
had not risen too great for the frigates [i.e., ¢ajkas], which were in number

84The letter of K. Zbaraski to the king from 22 September cited above states that together the storm and
the galleys destroyed several tens of Zaporozhian boats (Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 50, p. 97).

85For another example of the difference in figures, whereas the Ottoman chronicle says that there were 20
to 30 Caykas for each galley, Roe gives a figure of three or four for each galley (dispatch of 30 July 1625,
Negotiations, p. 427).

86Dispatches of 10720 and 11/21 August 1625 (Negotiations, pp. 427, 431).
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above 400, the whole fleet had been in danger to have been towed
northwards.87

The opinion that the claims of the Ottoman chronicle were exaggerated is expressed by
other authors as well.88 Nevertheless, it is confirmed by both the chronicles and Roe89
that the Ottoman fleet lost only four galleys, and not in the battle, but afterward in a storm
at Balcik 90

Despite their disaster at Kara Harman, the Zaporozhians still managed to attack Kili
and Akkerman on the way back.%1 In fact, according to reports of the papal nuncios, the

Cossacks continued to be active on the Black Sea throughout the summer of 1625.

87Dispatch of 9/19 September 1625 (Negotiations, p. 439).

88Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 536; Zinkeisen, Geschichte, p. 497; Berthier-Delagard in his commentary
to d’Ascoli (d’Ascoli, “Opisanie,” pp. 147-48); Tusin, Moreplavanie, p. 115.

8Dispatch of 9/19 August 1625 (Negotiations, p. 431)..

90various reports of papal nuncios refer to a great battle in 1625 which they considered to have been a
Cossack victory (dispatches of 17 {Naistatt], 24 [Naistatt], 27 September [Venice] and 4 October 1625
[Rome], Litterae Nuntiorum, no 1813, pp. 191-92; no. 1814, p. 192; 1815, p. 192-93; no. 1818, p. 94).
The most detailed report, from Naistatt dated 1 October, relays reports from agents of the emperor in Sofia
and Istanhul, Firsi di ieiis of an encounter between "Sedar [i. e., serdar] Sciakracksy Bassa” (probably the
same as Saksaki [“Sacksachi”] Pashia above) wio was in charge of a fleet of 260 boats which was almost
completely wiped out by the Cossacks near Ozi (“Osia”). Three days latter 16 galleys (in the other reports
mentioned above a figure of 40 for the number of Ottoman galleys is given) were attacked by the Cossacks
and, in a battle which took place from sunrise to sunset, the Cossacks boarded the galleys and especially
went after the galley of the kapudan paga in which they destroyed the sails and rudder. They would have
done the same to the other ships had not a great storm come up. While the galleys were severely damaged
“with no more that 20 persons surviving on each one,” the Cossacks suffered light damages and after the
battle were reinforced with 120 more boats so that with a fleet of 500 boats, they were preparing to attack
Istanbul. Despite the somewhat different outcome of the second battle, the features of this report seem
unmistakenly to be those of the battle of Saksaki Pasha near Oz related above and that of the battle at Kara
Harman. However, in light of the reports by de Cesy and Roe, the first ones of which were from 12 July
and 30July/9 August, respectively, the dates given in this Italian report for the actual battles, 6 and 9
August, seem to be erroneous.

91Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 50, p. 97 (they “burned the Kili town” according to Zbaraski); HruSevs'kyj,
Istorija, 7, p. 536, n. 1 (letter of Mehmed Deak Pasha to Koniecpolski), Although both of these sources
consider the attack on Kili to have been perpetrated by Cossacks from the fleet returning from Kara Harman,
from what is now known about the widespread operations of separate parties of Cessacks it cannot be ruled
cut that this raid was carried out by another flotilla or that the Kara Harman Cossacks were reinforced on
their return trip (see Ostapchuk, ‘Five Documents ),
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Unfortunately, most of these references are without specifics and it is usually impossible to

determine the date of the reported news.%2

The Polish Campaign against the Cossacks of 1625 and its Aftermath

In the second half of 1625, Warsaw finally moved against the Ukrainian Cossacks with a
commission headed by the Crown hetman Koniecpolski and backed up by the Crown
army as well as by private armies of various magnaies and nobles. In Chapter I, it was
seen that already in late 1621, after Cossack service at Xotyn® had ended and it had become
evident that the non-registered Cossacks would not obediently demobilize and leave the
Cossack estate, a commission to deal wiih the Cossack problem was planned and in the
first half of 1622, it was already functioning. However, in that year as in the following, a
lack of funds in the state treasury, which provoked a confederadon of unpaid Crown troops
into being, meant that a reckoning with Cossacks had to be put off another year. In 1624
those troops which the Crown could afford to pay for were engaged against the large raid
from the Bucak. Meanwhile, in the years since Xotyn’, the Cossacks had not only become
immune from the government’s attempts to restrict their activitics, but they had also grown
into a force that began to act on the international scene, independently and boldly as never
before. With every year, their presence on the Black Sea burgeoned. As to the Crimea,
not only had they assisted it militarily, but they concluded é formal treaty and were
continuing to coordinate their Black Sea adventures with Sahin Gerey’s interests. At the
same time, in conjunction with the Orthodox hierarchy, they were carrying on relations

with the tsar, in hope of financial and religious support.9

92Typical references are “the Cossacks continue to depredate the Ottoman regions” (dispatches from
Venice, 9 August 1925, Litterae Nuntiorum, nos. 1807, 1808, p. 189), “the Cossacks have made new
raids on the Black Sea” (dispatches from Venice, 12 July and 30 August 1625, Litterae Nuntiorum, nos.
1803, 1809, 1810, pp. 187, 189-90). :

93The basic work on the Polish-Cossack war of 1625 and its aftermath is still Rudnyc’kyj, “Kozac’ko-
pol’s’ka vijna.” See also the important section in HruSevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 537-61 and Baranowski,
Polska a Tatarszczyzna, pp. 40-43.
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By the summer of 1625, as the Zaporozhians were operating in unprecedehted
numbers in the Black Sea, the Crown decided that a decisive move had to be made lest the
Ottomans make peace with the Safavids and again declare war on Poland-Lithuania. The
situation was in fact dangerous for the Commonwealth, since at this time a new war with.
Sweden was brewing, and it was anticipated that in the following year, it would be
necessary to move the Crown army out of ithe Ukraine to the Baltic. While the literature
points to the general danger of an Ottoman war or a renewal of major Tatar raids, it was
Sahin Gerey’s successful campaign against Kantemir in early 1625 that was crucial in
determining the timing of hetman Koniecpolski ’s move against the Cossacks. Since
1624, the Crown had demanded that before it could act to stop its Cossacks from raiding
the Black Sea, the Bucak horde first had to be reduced to obedience. Now, thanks to the
decisive action of Sahin Gerey (albeit undertaken to strengthen the Crimean Khanate’s
position in the steppe outside the Crimea rather than to help improve Ottoman-Crown
relations), the Bucak horde was bridled. Soon after $ahin’s campaign, letters began to
arrive to the king, the Crown chancellor, and the Crown hetman from the Ozi governor-
general Mehmed Deak Pasha stating that the Ottoman part of the bargain had been kept to,
and now it was up to the Crown to fulfill its part.”# And among the leaders of the
Commonwealth, there was full recognition that indeed their turn had come. Although
raiding parties from among those Tatars remaining in the Bucak, as well as the Crimean
Tatars, were present on the frontiers, the summer of 1625 brought no major incursions,
whether from the Bucak or the Crimea.95 Thus, on the eve of the campaign against the
Cossacks, Jerzy Zbaraski wrote to Zygmunt III, “the Turks have no small point on their

side in that they made good on [their side of] the pact between us, for this year they

94Jumada I [1034]/ 11 March-8 April [1625] (BK O 142-d, no pagination).

95The presence of Koniecpolski on the frontier undoubtedly played a role in discouraging Tatar raids
(also, see below; Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, pp. 39-40).
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brought down the Bucak along with Kantemir and all his Tatars who, praise be to God, did
not visit us, and so, [the Turks] will cast before us the fact that we, and not them, are guilty
of violating the peace.”6

The Polish authorities viewed the Cossack-Crimean relationship as a significant
obstacle in suppressing the Cossacks. Just as the Cossacks had come to the aid of the
rebellious khan and kalga in 1624 against their suzerain the Porte, so it was feared that the
opposite would happen if the Cossacks were threatened by their suzerains, or even worse,
the alliance would solidify and a league headed by the Cossacks and Tatars would form
against the Commonwealth. Consequently, before moving against -the Cossacks,
Koniecpolski acted to neutralize the Cossack-Tatar alliance. During that summer, $ahin
Gerey had been among Tatar raiding parties prowling the Commonwealth’s frontiers.%7
The sources do not provide an explanation for his activities; perhaps he was planning to
enter Podolia because of the Cr.own’s failure to deliver upominki in the last years. Or
worse yet for the Crown, perhaps he was preparing to intervene on the side of the
Cossacks should they be attacked by the Crown’s forces. At this point Koniecpolski, who
was standing with his army between the Cornyj and Kuémans’kyj trails (the two major
paths used by the Tatars to reach Podolia and Moldavia, respectively),?8 acted decisively
not by attacking Sahin Gerey, but by buying him off. Sometime in August, the hetman
contacted both the kalga and Khan Mehmed Gerey in the Crimea, notifying them that the
upominki for the last two years were waiting in Kamjanec’-Podil’skyj. Because of the
critical importance that his bid be accepted, the hetman had his own people deliver these

payments directly to Baggesaray, rather than bringing them halfway, as was the normal

963, Zbaraski to Zygmunt III, 22 September 1625, from Pilic (Listy Zbaraskiego, no. 50, p. 97).
9Materijaly (Kulis), pp. 266-67.

98 According to the diary of Koniecpolski’s expedition against the Cossacks, he stood there between 5

July and 13 September 1625 (Zbidr pamigtnikéw historycznych o dawnej Polszcze z rekopisméw, tudziez
dziet w réznych jezykach o Polszcze wydanych, oraz z listami oryginalnych kr6l6w i znakomitych ludzi w

kraju naszym, 6, 1st edition, ed. J. U. Niemcewicz, Lwéw: Ossolineum, 1833, p. 143).
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practice. In addition, he promised that from then on, the Commonwealth would again
deliver the payments regularly, that is, on an annual basis. And so $ahin Gerey withdrew
to the Crimea, leaving the Cossacks with no chance for Crimean support.® Unfortunately,
there is nothing in the sources about the repercussions of $ahin Gerey’s withdrawal among
the Cossacks, neither positive nor negative, nor on how he viewed his acceptance of the
upominki (of course he considered them his due). In the literature, Koniecpolski is
considered to have dissolved the Cossack-Tatar alliance.100 Certainly this was a
possibility. The Cossack officers who were involved in the agreement drawn up at the end
of 1624 may have felt betrayed, that is, if they were still in power. However, if those
Cossacks, particularly the rank and file, who fought with $ahin Gerey against the
Ottomans in 1624 or against Kantemir in early 1625 treated their relationship with the kalga
as a mercenary one, there would have been no obligations incumbent upon the kalga after
the given operation, provided he compensated the Cossacks for their services (in the case
of the first operation, they were indeed well-compensated, as shown above). Neither side
would have felt that Sahin Gerey owed them anything more. In light of the lack of
evidence on Cossack attitudes in late 1625 and thereafter to the agreement made with Sahin
Gerey in late 1624, it is safest to state that for the time being, any possible Cossack-Tatar

alliance was not in effect.101

9Materijaly (Kulig), pp. 268-69; Rudnyc’kyj, “Kozacko-pol’ska vijna,” pp. 13-14; Hrudevs’kyj,
Istorija, 7, 539-40, Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, pp. 41-42,

100Rudnyc’kyj, “Kozacko-pol’ska vijna,” p. 14; HruSevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, 539-40.

101Baranowski is more measured in his judgment, stating that the Tatars remained neutral (Baranowski,
Polska a Tatarszczyzna, p. 41). Novosel’skij claims that the Cossack-Tatar alliance must have still been
in effect, even after Sahin Gerey’s failure to help the Cossacks, since during the following negotiations
between Koniecpolski and the Cossacks, they were required to break their alliance with the Tatars
(Novosel’skij, Bor'ba, p. 117, n. 71). However, the source which Novosel’skij has in mind concerns only
the complaint of the Crown against the Cossacks for their past transgressions, and not necessarily the actual
situation after $ahin Gerey’s withdrawal. The source in question is the Cossack commission’s declaration
against the Cossacks in which among their past wrongs is included their carrying on relations with foreign
powers and elements such as Muscovy, $ahin Gerey, the Patriarch of Jerusalem, and Yahya and other
“imposters” (Zbidr pamigtnikdw, 6, p. 179).
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With Sahin Gerey and the Tatars neutralized, Koniecpolski was free to move
against the Cossacks. During his approach toward and manoeuvres against them, which
took several weeks, negotiations were carried out in hopes that a peaceful resolution could
be reached. Also the Cossacks were biding their time until more forces arrived from the
Zaporizhia. Finally at the end of October, in a battle near Kurukiv Lake (near Kremen¢uk)
in which neither side won a convincing victory, the Cossacks outnumbered and in an
inferior position were forced to give in and accept the conditions iaid upon them by the
Crown commission. Above, it was seen that the unprecedented level of Zaporozhian
Cossack raidiné activity on the Black Sea, particulariy in 1625, was one of the main
reasons the Crown was forced to move against them in ihe fall of that year. However, the
large Cossack presence in the Black Sea in the summer of 1625 (a fleet of 300 ¢ajkas meant
15,000 Cossacks), their heavy losses in the battle of Kara Harman, and the fact that not all
the surviving Cossacks (and in all likelihood, new expeditions were mounted in the fall)
were back in time to aid their brethren contribuicd to tt.le Cossack defeat at Kurukiv.102

During the negotiations before and after the battle, the Cossack response to the
demand that they give up their Black Sea raiding activity is telling. In principle, they were
ready to revoke this activity entirely if only their pay from the Crown would increase. The
Cossacks said they were even prepared to burn their boats, but the Crown had to, in
exchange, open up some avenues for their subsistence within the Commonwealth. The
contents of these negotiations provide good evidence that indeed the great mass of
Cossacks who were unregistered, that is, not on the Crown’s payroll, had few options but
to descend to the Black Sea in order to subsist.103

The main terms 2t Kurukiv were harsh for the Cossacks. These included a strict

enforcement of the 6,000-man Cossack register—all Cossacks beyond the register, that is,

1024ru3evs’kyj, Istorija, 7, p. 537.

1030n the negotiations see Hrusevs'kyj, Istorija, 7, pp. 547-52, 556-61.
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the vypysCyky, were to leave the Cossack estate and return to their previous station, which
for most meant serfdom; all expeditions to the Black Sea were to be forgone and the boats
were to be burned; and the Crown would have the final say in the choice of Cossack
hetman. The new hetman approved by the Crown, Myxajlo DoroSenko, was given i
difficult and delicate task of actually executing the Kurukiv terms. That fall, into the first
half of 1626, Dorosenko toured the Zaporizhia determining who was eligible for the
register and who was not, as well as systematically burning the Cossack boats. The fact
that he was able to accomplish his mission to the satisfaction of the Crown while
maintaininé his authority among the Cossacks is testimony to his skill as a politician.104

In 1626, perhaps under the influence of the events of the previous summer, a larger
than ever Cossack presence on the Black Sea was expected by the Ottomans.105 Instead,
to the great surprise of the Crown, in February, a large Tatar raiding army entered Galicia
led by Kantemir.!06 Sahin Gerey did not participate in the raid, but rather, maintained
diplomatic contact with the Crown, informing it that the raid was ordered by the Porte. He
reportedly even tried to blame the latter by sending to Warsaw an alleged firman of the
sultan ordering the raid. Until now, Kantemir had been under Mehmed and $ahin Gerey’s
control and, unfortunately, there are no indications as toc how the relationship between the
Nogay chief and the Crimea changed at this time. Nor is the reaction to this raid of the
Porte vis a vis the Khanate and Kantemir apparent. Before the Commonwealth, however,
the Ottomans firmly denied any complicity in this raid. Crown forces, along with the
registered Cossacks, intercepted many of the Tatars on their return so that in the end, the

raid was not very successful.

104Myxajio Hrusevs'kyj, Isiorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 8, Kiev, 1922; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-spilka,

1956, pp. 19 ff.
105The comments here are based on discussion and sources cited in Hrusevs'kyj, Istorija, 8, pp. 24-32.

106Novosel’skij, Bor’ba, p. 117, esp. n. 75 (Krymskie dela). Previously, without the benefit of the
Muscovite sources, this raid was considered the work of Mehmed Gerey, which did not make sense
considering the aims of both the Khanate and the Porte at the time (cf. Hruevs'kyj, Istorija, 8, pp. 24-25).
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As for the Cossacks, the Crown also expected them to be back on the Black Sca,
particularly the “unregistgered” vypyséyky. To this effect, DoroSenko was sent on an
additional tour of the Zaporizhia to burn boats and establish a loyal Cossack garrison in the
Sich. However, a part of the vypysCyky did manage to make it out to the sea. In the
spring, 60 Cajkas encountered the Ottoman fleet, which was guarding the vicinty outside
the Bosphorus, but were defeated. (In earlier times an incursion by 60 Cajkas would have
been considered a major Cossack raid.) Meanwhile, there were other smaller expeditions
in other regions of the Black Sea. One worth noting is a combined Zaporozhian and Don
Cossack expedition mounted from the Don by 400 Cossacks on eight boats which
successfully raided the vicinity of Trabzon.107 It is very likely that, as in 1622 when the
Zaporozhians were strictly forbidden by the Cossack commission to go to the Black Sea,
s0 too in this year, Zaporozhians, particularly vypysCyky, fled to the Don to continue their
“trade” there. In any event, the combination of the costly battle at Kara Harman in 1625,
the defeat at Kurukiv, and the Crown’s determined efforts to take control of the Zaporizhia
and destroy the boats meant that in 1626, the Zaporozhian Cossack presence on the Black
Sea was at a significantly lower level than the previous few years.

In September 1626, another large Taiar raid, supposedly led by nureddin ‘Azamet
Gerey, took place. There was sizable participation by Kantemir’s Nogays, although
Kantemir himself did not participate. It is also known that neither Mehmed nor $ahin
Gerey took part. This time the raid was directed at the Right Bank Ukraine, in the region
of Bila Cerkva. The titning of the raid was an opportune one for the Tatars, since the main
Crown forces had recently departed the Ukraine for the Baltic where a new war with
Sweden was brewing. Although the raid caused serious damages and dislocation, Crown
forces led by Stefan Chmielecki, together with the registered Cossacks led by Dorosenko,

defeated the main Tatar force near Bila Cerkva. Again it is not clear who was responsible

107Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija, 8, pp. 26-27.
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for ordering the raid. Baranowski’s argument that Sahin Gerey may have ordered it in an
attempt to demonstrate to the Porte that he was not acting in collusion with the Crown is not
convincing.108 Although the sources do not allow a definite explanation for the renewed
Tatar raiding activity on the borderlands of the Commonwealth in 1626, one possibility is
that there was too much population pressure on the Crimean Tatar economy. It should be
recallea that in 1625, Sahin Gerey forced a large portion of the Bucak horde to migrate to
the Crimea and neighboring steppe. Thus there must have been a swell in the Crimean and
neighboring population. Meanwhile, as was pointed out in Chapter II, raids on Muscovy
were severely restricted by Mehmed and Sahin Gerey because of Moscow’s assiduousness
in paying the pominki. The Commonwealth, on the other hand, still owed the Khanate
several years of unpaid upominki. This circumstance, in combination with population
pressure, perhaps caused the raids of 1626. The occurence of raids at precisely a time
when the Cossacks were subdued was again a symptom of the inability and an example of
the frustration of the central powers in attempting to control their peripheries. Just as in
1625, when the Crown was unable to keep its Cossacks from deluging the Black Sea even
though the Porte had succeeded in subduing the Bucak horde, so in 1625, when the Crown
finally did succeed in bringing the Cossacks under control, the Porte could not hold back

its Tatars.

108Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna, p. 61-65.
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CHAPTER 1V

Hasan Pasha’s Campaigns to the Northern Black Sea
and the Fall of Mehmed and Sahin Gerey, 1627-1628

The Campaign of Hasan Pasha to Ozi, 1627
In December 1626, the Venetian bailo in Istanbul reported that the Ottomans were
preparing a fleet, to be led by the grand admiral (kapudan pasa), whose mission was to be
the building of a new fortress to defend against the Cossacks. In January 1627, it was
reported that the voyvodas of Moldavia and Wallachia had received orders to assist in this
expedition and that Sahin Gerey was also ordered to participate.! At the same time, the
French ambassador, de Cezy, reported that the construction site would be in the estuary of
the Dnieper.2 Reports of preparations for a large expedition continued to come out of
Istanbul in the following months.

This campaign is noted in the main Ottoman chronicle tradition. According to it, the
initiative for the expedition came from the Crimean Khanate, as follows: sometime in
1626, Mehmed Gerey sent his master of the horse (mirahur), Zu'l-fikar Aga, to the Porte

with a letter proposing that if the Ottomans would construct a new fortress on the Dnieper

IMihnea Berindei, “La Porte ottomane face aux Cosaques zaporogues, 1600-1637,” Harvard Ukrainian
Studies 1 (1977): 273-307, esp. p. 296.

2De Cezy, dispatch of 28 January 1627 (Historica Russiac monumenta/ Akty istoriteskie otnosjastiesja k
Rossii, 2, ed. A. 1. Turgenev, St. Petersburg: Tipografija Eduarda Praca, 1842, p. 432); see also papal
nuncio dispatch from Istanbul, 12 March 1627, (Litterae Nuntiorum Apostolicorum historiae Ucrainae
illustrantes (1550-1850), 4: 1609-1620, ed. Athanasius G. Welykyj, Rome: Basiliani, 1959, no. 1940, p.
266).
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on the ruins of an old fortress (built in the time of Sultan Siileyman, according to Na‘ima,
or of Seiim II, according to Fezleke) at a river crossing called Togan Gegidi3 through
which Cossack ¢ajkas freely passed, he would build another fortress on the other side of
the river. According to the chronicle, this proposal was accepted by the Porte, which
ordered grand admiral Hasan, who was a vizier, to set out with the fleet and begin
construction by the Ruz-i Hizr on 3 May (sic—actually this was the traditional date on
which the fleet left the capital for the naval campaigning season). In addition, the
Wallachian and Moldavian voyvodas were ordered to proceed to the construction site,
while Mehmed éerey was sent a ceremonial sword and robes (hil‘at) and ordered to the
site as well.4 The authenticity of the information in the chronicle account, including its
details, is supported by a firman of the sultan issued to Mehmed Gerey, ordering him to
build the given fortress (the firman was published in Feridun Beg’s collection of Ottoman
documents).5

The story of the Crimean proposal is supported by the contemporary diplomatic
reports from Istanbul.® The English ambassador, Sir Thomas Roe, deduced that the
proposal was Mehmed Gerey’s clever response to an Ottoman plan to order him to lead his
forces to eastern Anatolia to participate in the struggle with Iran.” For Mehmed Gerey,

departure from the Crimea on a distant campaign would have left him vulnerable to

3Togan Gegidi, “Falcon Ford”; the name of this ford in the Polish sources is Sokoli Brod (e.g.,
AGAD, LL 30, fol. 387a), which has the same meaning as the Ottoman,; the site of the fortress was to be
on the right bank of the Dnieper just above the mouth of the Inhulec’ and opposite the island of Tavan.

4Katib Celebi, Fezleke, 2, Istanbul: Ceride-i Havadis Matba‘asi, 1287/1870-1871, p. 91-92; Mustafa
Na‘ima, Ravzati'l-hilseyn fi hulasati ahbari'l-pafikayn, 2 [= Tarih, Istanbul: Matba‘a-i ‘Amire, 1281-
1283/1864-1866, pp. 398-99.

5A similarity of composition suggests that the chronicle account was composed using a copy of this
firman (Feridiin Beg, Miinge’ atii's-Selatin, 2, Istanbul, 1275/1858-1859, pp. 126-29).

6A Venetian report mentioned the khan's master of the horse coming to the Porte (Joseph Hammer,
Geschichte des Osmanischen Reiches, 5, Pest: C. A. Hartleben’s Verlag, 1829, p. 70).

7Roe, dispatch of 12/22 June 1626 (The Negotiations of Sir Thomas Roe in His Embassy to the
Ottoman Porte, from the Year 1621-1628 Inclusive . . . London, 1740, p. 569).
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deposition in his absence. For Sahin Gerey, such a mission would have been out of the
question, for not only would it have left him vulnerable to elimination from power in the
Crimea, but it would also have meant going to war against his long-time patron and in-law,
Shah ‘Abbas (see Chapter II).

The notion that the expedition to Ozi in 1627 was mainly the result of Crimean, and
in fact, Sahin Gerey’s, intrigue has found acceptance.in most of the literature.8 However,
there is no doubt that the Ottomans had sufficient reasons of their own for such an
undertaking. The relative calm on the Black Sea in 1626 after the Polish-Cossack war of
the previou;c, fall and measures by the victorious Crown to restrict Cossack activity (see
Chapter HIT) did not lull the Porte into believing that the Cossack depredations experienced
in previous years were a thing of the past. Moreover, the Tatar raids of 1626 and the angry
reaction of the Crown, which included a threat to sponsor a massive reprisal raid by the
Cossacks, was an indication that sooner or later, more Cossack raids were inevitable. The
Ottomans, therefore, decided to take advantage of the respite from the Cossacks to
strengthen the defenses of the region. In 1626 a new fortress was constructed at Biiyiik
Dere on the Bosphorus which, as was seen in Chapters I-III, was ravaged between 1623
and 1625.° By fall 1626, the upcoming campaign season must have seemed a good
opportunity to seriously bolster the defense of the Black Sea. There was a pause in the war
with Iran, although the main Ottoman army was still stationed in eastern Anatolia.l0

Meanwhile, the Crown hetman, Stanistaw Koniecpolski, had gone with the Crown’s main

8Myxajlo Hrusevs’kyj, Istorija Ukrajiny-Rusy, 8, Kiev, 1922; reprint ed., New York: Knyho-Spilka,
1956; Bohdan Baranowski, Polska a Tatarszczyzna w latach 1624-1629, £.6dz: £.6dzkie Towarzystwo
Naukowe, 1948, pp. 66-67.

9Hammer, Geschichte, 5, p. 71; Stefan Rudnyc’kyj, “Ukrajins’ki kozaky v 1625-30 m.,” Zapysky
Naukovoho Tovarystva im. Sevienka 31-32 (1899): 1-76, esp. 20.

10ismail Hami Danismend, izahli osmanlu tarihi kronolojisi, 3: M. 1574-1703, H. 987-1115,
Istanbul: Tiirkiye Yayinevi, 1972, pp. 335-36.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



129

army to the Baltic to fight Sweden.!! In addition, a substantial force of Cossacks, mostly
vypyséyki or Cossacks not allowed into the register, were being enlisted for the Baltic war.
This lent hope to the Ottomans that, as long as these Cossacks were away, raiding activity
on the Black Sea would remain at a lower level.12

Initially there were signs that a truly large Ottoman force was to be massed at the
mouth of the Dnieper. According to de Cezy, the imperial divan’s original decision was to
send 50 galleys from Istanbul and 500 boats from the Danube. The Venetian bailo
indicated that Moldavian and Wallachian forces sent by land were to be 5,000 men each.!3 '
These Rumanian forces were called upon to help defend the construction site lest the
Cossacks attempt to obliterate the new impediment to their entry into the Black Sea.l4
The Crimean Tatar force was, also according to the Venetian bailo, to be a large one.!’

As the traditional time of the fleet’s annual departure approached (late April or early
May), it became clear that there were problems in assembling the intended force. There is
no information on the proceedings in the imperial naval arsenal in Istanbul, whether delays
were caused, for example, by problems with the repair, construction or the ouifitting of the
ships, by shortages of materiais, or by tardiness in the arrival of oarsmen from the
provinces. Neither is there any information on the preparations of the troops and laborers

to be carried by the ships. At one point the nuncio in Venice transmitted news which

HThys, the papal nuncio at the Porte reported that the expedition was being mounted to take advantage
of the war between the Commonwealth and Sweden (dispatch of 12 March 1627, Istanbul, Litterae
Nuntiorum, no. 1940, p. 266).

12Rudnyc’kyj, “Ukrajins’ki kozaky v 1625-30,” p. 26. Rudnyc’kyj acknowledges that even without the
Crimean offer io help build foriresses, the Ottomans had plenty of reasons on their own.

13pe Cezy, dispatch of 28 January 1627, (Historica Russiae, p. 432); Zorzi Giustinian, dispatch of 28
January 1627, Istanbul (Documente privitoare la istoria Romanilor, ed. Eudoxiu de Hurmuzaki, 4-1:
1600-1649, Bucharest: Sub auspiciile Ministeriului Cultelor §i Instructiunii publice i ale Academiei
Romine, 1882, no. 372, p. 417).

14Baranowski, Polska a 